
School Board of Clay County
Teacher Inservice Center - Fleming Island High School, 2233 Village Square Parkway

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Date: Jun 04 2020 (6:00 p.m.)

Student Showcase (None)

Invocation (Reese D. Edwards, Senior Chaplain, Orange Park Medical Center)

Pledge of Allegiance

Call to Order

Recognitions and Awards

1. Recognize Students with Perfect Attendance, K-6, K-8, and K-12

Presenters

School Showcase (None)

Presentations from the Audience (Public Comment)

Consent Agenda

Superintendent

2. C1 - Minutes of Workshop on April 28, 2020; Regular Meeting on May 7, 2020

2020 April 28 Workshop.pdf

2020 May 7 Regular Meeting.pdf

3. C2 - Payment of Annual Membership Dues for 2020-2021 to Florida Association of District School Superintendents

FADSS Invoice.pdf

School Board Member

4. C3 - Payment of Annual Membership Dues for 2020-2021 to Florida School Boards Association

FSBA Invoice.pdf

Human Resources

5. C4 - Personnel Consent Agenda

Personnel Consent Agenda 6.4.2020.pdf

Instruction-Academic Services

6. C5 - Approval for the Purchase of i-Ready Reading and Mathematics for 2020-21
Page 1 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22444
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=21442
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2020-april-28-workshop.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2020-may-7-regular-meeting.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22454
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/fadss-invoice_2.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22455
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/fsba-invoice_2.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22449
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/personnel-consent-agenda-642020.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22447


200130 Curriculum Assoc.pdf

7. C6 - Health-Tech Consultants, Inc. - Letter of Agreement

200134 Health Tech Consult.pdf

8. C7 - 2020-21 Interagency Agreement Between the School Board of Clay County, Florida and the Department of
Military Affairs; State of Florida

200133 FLYCA.pdf

Instruction-Professional Development

9. C8 - Agreement between Clay County District Schools and University of Phoenix

FL_School Baord of Clay County_ED (part 1) - signed (1).pdf

Business Affairs

10. C9 - Review & Approve the renewal of the District's third party adjusters,  Johns Eastern Company

Clay County Schools_JECO -AD12.pdf

11. C10 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2020-2021

12. C11 - Approve settlement (washout) of all Worker’s Compensation claims of employee Maria Arietta against the
School Board of Clay County, Florida.

Proposed SA (129981393_1) (1).pdf (Confidential)

Business Affairs-Accounting

13. C12 - Monthly Financial Reports for April, 2020

April 2020 Board Monthly Financial Report.pdf

April 2020 Board Monthly Property Report.pdf

14. C13 - Budget Amendment for Month Ending April 30, 2020

Budget Amendments April 2020.pdf

Business Affairs-Internal Accounts

15. C14 - NSF Write-off Permission

OVE NSF write off 5.20.pdf

CHE NSF write off 5.2020.pdf

Business Affairs-Property

16. C15 - Deletion of Certain Items Report - May, 2020

Deletion-Report-May, 2020.pdf

Operations

17. C16 - 2020-2021 School Safety Interlocal Agreement among the School Board of Clay County, Florida; the City of
Green Cove Springs Florida; and Green Cove Springs Police Department.

20-21 City of Green Cove Springs Interlocal Agreement.pdf

Page 2 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/200130-curriculum-assoc.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=23461
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/200134-health-tech-consult.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=23462
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=23462
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/200133-flyca.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22453
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/fl_school-baord-of-clay-county_ed-part-1-signed-1.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22443
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/clay-county-schools_jeco-ad12.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22446
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=23463
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=23463
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=23456
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/april-2020-board-monthly-financial-report.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/april-2020-board-monthly-property-report.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=23459
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/budget-amendments-april-2020.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22445
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/ove-nsf-write-off-520.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/che-nsf-write-off-52020.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22448
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/deletion-report-may-2020.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22451
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22451
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/20-21-city-of-green-cove-springs-interlocal-agreement.pdf


18. C17 - 2020-2021 School Safety Interlocal Agreement among the School Board of Clay County, Florida; the Town of
Orange Park, Florida; and the Town of Orange Park Police Department

20-21 Town of Orange Park Interlocal Agreement.pdf

19. C18 - Approve Amendment #2 to contract for Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) Software, via Central Square
Technologies, adding software for uniform reporting, report writing and storage.

200121 Central Square Contract.pdf

Operations-Facilities

20. C19 - Pre-Qualification of Contractors

PreQualification 6.4.20.pdf

21. C20 - Clay High School Security Lighting Repair/Replacement Contract Award

CHS Security Lighting Repair.Replacement Bid Tab.pdf

22. C21 - Option Contract for Roderigo Property

Adoption of Consent Agenda

CCEA Update

CESPA Update

Superintendent's Update and Presentations

Discussion Agenda

School Board Member

23. D1 - Approve Amended Resolution for Half-Cent sales tax to appear on November 2020 General Election Ballot
(Studdard)

The Plan, Exhibit A (2).pdf

exhibit-b-to-resolution-re-sales-tax-in-2020-amended-1.pdf

exhibit-c-to-resolution-re-sales-tax-in-2020-amended-1.pdf

resolution-re-sales-tax-in-2020-amended-3docxfinal-final.pdf

Human Resources

24. D2 - Human Resources Special Action

Instruction-Climate and Culture

25. D3 -  ADVERTISE REVISIONS TO 2020- 21 CODE OF STUDENT CONDUCT

5_15_20 Code of Conduct Rationale Clay County District Schools.pdf

5_15_21 2020-2021 Handbook & Code of Studnt Conduct.pdf

School Board Attorney Remarks

School Board Member Remarks

Adjournment

Page 3 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22452
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22452
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/20-21-town-of-orange-park-interlocal-agreement.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=23466
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=23466
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/200121-central-square-contract.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=23457
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/prequalification-6420.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=23458
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/chs-security-lighting-repairreplacement-bid-tab.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=23464
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=23460
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=23460
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/the-plan-exhibit-a-2.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/exhibit-b-to-resolution-re-sales-tax-in-2020-amended-1.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/exhibit-c-to-resolution-re-sales-tax-in-2020-amended-1.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/resolution-re-sales-tax-in-2020-amended-3docxfinal-final.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22450
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=22456
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/5_15_20-code-of-conduct-rationale-clay-county-district-schools.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/5_15_21-2020-2021-handbook-code-of-studnt-conduct.pdf


School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
Recognize Students with Perfect Attendance, K-6, K-8, and K-12

Description
The School Board will recognize students with perfect attendance K-6, K-8, and K-12.  This will be for students who have been
present in school, with no absences or tardies, for 7 years, 9 years, or 13 years.  These students are deserving of this recognition
as they transition from elementary to junior high, junior high to high school, and as they graduate.
Kindergarten - 6th Grade (7 years)

Omorodion Obasuyi (Argyle Elementary School)-
Kingergarten - 8th Grade (9 years)

Rikki Blaylock (Lakeside Junior High)-
Kindergarten - 12th Grade (13 years)

Callie Deel (Clay High School)-
Vernon Mummaw (Middleburg High School)-

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
N/A

Recommendation
Recognition Only

Contact
David S. Broskie, Superintendent of Schools; david.broskie@myoneclay.net;

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 4 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C1 - Minutes of Workshop on April 28, 2020; Regular Meeting on May 7, 2020

Description
Florida Statute 1001.42(1) requires the superintendent, as secretary, to keep such minutes and records as are necessary to set
forth clearly all actions and proceedings of the school board.  The minutes of each meeting shall be reviewed, corrected if
necessary, and approved at the next regular meeting; provided that this action may be taken at an intervening special meeting if
the board desires.

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Approve minutes as submitted.

Contact
David S. Broskie, Superintendent of Schools, david.broskie@myoneclay.net; Bonnie O'Nora, Board Assistant

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

2020 April 28 Workshop.pdf

2020 May 7 Regular Meeting.pdf

Page 5 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2020-april-28-workshop.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2020-may-7-regular-meeting.pdf


Page 6 of 372

DRAFT



Page 7 of 372

DRAFT



Page 8 of 372

DRAFT



Page 9 of 372

DRAFT



Page 10 of 372

DRAFT



Page 11 of 372

DRAFT



Page 12 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C2 - Payment of Annual Membership Dues for 2020-2021 to Florida Association of District School Superintendents

Description
Membership dues to the Florida Association of District School Superintendents (FADSS allows participation and networking
with superintendents statewide.  FADSS is the support and training organization for superintendents, as well as an effective and
persistent voice on the issues that are important to Florida school districts.  The school district reaps benefits by participating in
the Association, including state-of-the-art leadership training.

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Budgeted item - for information only

Contact
David S. Broskie, Superintendent of Schools; david.broskie@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Budgeted item - $15,897.00

Review Comments

Attachments

FADSS Invoice.pdf

Page 13 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/fadss-invoice_2.pdf


Invoice
Date

5/14/2020

Invoice #

11207

Bill To

Clay County School District
900 Walnut Street
Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

Terms

June 30, 2020

TOTAL DUE

Florida Association of District School Superintendents
208 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, FL 32301
Phone:  (850) 577-5784

TIN:  23-7017835

QUESTIONS:
Please contact Merrill Wimberley, Chief Financial Officer
at (850) 577-5784 or mwimberley@fadss.org

Description Amount

2020-2021 Membership Dues 15,897.00

$15,897.00

Page 14 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C3 - Payment of Annual Membership Dues for 2020-2021 to Florida School Boards Association

Description
The Florida School Boards Association (FSBA) provides valuable services to local school boards.  These services include
researching legislative issues important to school systems in Florida and representing their views before the Legislature, the State
Board of Education, and other organizations interested in public education.  FSBA also provides valuable leadership training for
school board members.

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Approve payment of FSBA dues.

Contact
Carol Y. Studdard, School Board Chair; carol.studdard @myoneclay.net;

Financial Impact
Budgeted item - $18,819.00

Review Comments

Attachments

FSBA Invoice.pdf

Page 15 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/fsba-invoice_2.pdf


Page 16 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C4 - Personnel Consent Agenda

Description
Florida Statutes, State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification and/or action regarding
decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  Actions regarding personnel have been
recommended by Supervisors, approved by the Superintendent and are being forwarded to the Board for action or, if appropriate,
for information.  Personnel Actions, Transfer Requests, Pre-employments, Leave Forms or Directives from the Superintendent
are available for review in the Human Resources Division.

Gap Analysis
These personnel actions are necessary for the effective operation of the school district.

Previous Outcomes
The Clay County School Board has approved each month a Personnel Consent Agenda which contains appointments, re-
appointments, transfers, redesignations, retirements, resignations, and conclude employments.

Expected Outcomes
Approval of the Personnel Consent Agenda.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5:  Develop and support great educators, support personnel, and leaders.
 
Initiative 5.1.1 - Recruit and retain highly skilled, qualified, and diverse educators, leaders, and support staff.

Recommendation
To approve the Personnel Consent Agenda.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources.  (904) 336-6701 brenda.troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Personnel changes involving already-allocated positions will result in salary impact per the current Board-approved Salary
Schedule.  This also includes supplemental positions.  See current backup for allocation changes for impact of new positions.

Review Comments

Attachments

Personnel Consent Agenda 6.4.2020.pdf

Page 17 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/personnel-consent-agenda-642020.pdf


Page 18 of 372

DRAFT



Page 19 of 372

DRAFT



Page 20 of 372

DRAFT



Page 21 of 372

DRAFT



Page 22 of 372

DRAFT



Page 23 of 372

DRAFT



Page 24 of 372

DRAFT



Page 25 of 372

DRAFT



Page 26 of 372

DRAFT



Page 27 of 372

DRAFT



Page 28 of 372

DRAFT



Page 29 of 372

DRAFT



Page 30 of 372

DRAFT



Page 31 of 372

DRAFT



Page 32 of 372

DRAFT



Page 33 of 372

DRAFT



Page 34 of 372

DRAFT



Page 35 of 372

DRAFT



Page 36 of 372

DRAFT



Page 37 of 372

DRAFT



Page 38 of 372

DRAFT



Page 39 of 372

DRAFT



Page 40 of 372

DRAFT



Page 41 of 372

DRAFT



Page 42 of 372

DRAFT



Page 43 of 372

DRAFT



Page 44 of 372

DRAFT



Page 45 of 372

DRAFT



Page 46 of 372

DRAFT



Page 47 of 372

DRAFT



Page 48 of 372

DRAFT



Page 49 of 372

DRAFT



Page 50 of 372

DRAFT



Page 51 of 372

DRAFT



Page 52 of 372

DRAFT



Page 53 of 372

DRAFT



Page 54 of 372

DRAFT



Page 55 of 372

DRAFT



Page 56 of 372

DRAFT



Page 57 of 372

DRAFT



Page 58 of 372

DRAFT



Page 59 of 372

DRAFT



Page 60 of 372

DRAFT



Page 61 of 372

DRAFT



Page 62 of 372

DRAFT



Page 63 of 372

DRAFT



Page 64 of 372

DRAFT



Page 65 of 372

DRAFT



Page 66 of 372

DRAFT



Page 67 of 372

DRAFT



Page 68 of 372

DRAFT



Page 69 of 372

DRAFT



Page 70 of 372

DRAFT



Page 71 of 372

DRAFT



Page 72 of 372

DRAFT



Page 73 of 372

DRAFT



Page 74 of 372

DRAFT



Page 75 of 372

DRAFT



Page 76 of 372

DRAFT



Page 77 of 372

DRAFT



Page 78 of 372

DRAFT



Page 79 of 372

DRAFT



Page 80 of 372

DRAFT



Page 81 of 372

DRAFT



Page 82 of 372

DRAFT



Page 83 of 372

DRAFT



Page 84 of 372

DRAFT



Page 85 of 372

DRAFT



Page 86 of 372

DRAFT



Page 87 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C5 - Approval for the Purchase of i-Ready Reading and Mathematics for 2020-21

Description
i-Ready Diagnostic and Instruction for reading and mathematics combines an adaptive diagnostic assessment with individualized
instruction, reliable progress monitoring, and comprehensive reporting for teachers and administrators in grades K-8 for reading
and mathematics. In addition to the blended learning environment, the platform provides teachers access to resources that will be
utilized for remediation of skills based on student needs. I-Ready is used to determine VAM scores in grades K-8. In addition, a
correlation study was conducted by a third party and the i-Ready diagnostic provided a strong correlation to the FSA. The
contract also provides professional development.

Gap Analysis
With the emphasis on technology, blended, adaptive learning platforms are a necessity in increasing student achievement. iReady
will provide students with the equivalent experience to that of the state assessments, a criterion-referenced assessment aligned
directly to the Florida Standards provides an accurate predictor of progress and inform data-driven instructional next steps. Based
on a student’s results on the i-Ready Diagnostic, the program automatically assigns students online instructional modules within
i-Ready Instruction. This differentiated instruction is presented in highly engaging instructional modules that can be accessed
through any internet-enabled computer. Delivery is flexible: during school, before/after school, in-class/pull-out, summer school,
at home, computer lab, and a host of other settings. Diverse, contemporary characters set in visually appealing, modern
environments capture students’ attention and immediately engage them in the learning process. Lessons use real-world
experiences and authentic situations to teach essential skills. Explicit instruction makes concepts concrete and addresses the root
cause of any specific areas of student need. i-Ready has developed its materials to support students and teachers, by providing
professional development, explicit instruction, a gradual release approach, and engaging online resources to differentiate
instruction and teach prerequisite skills that are required for mastery in foundational and fundamental skills at each grade level.
i-Ready monitors progress and tailors instruction for each student, class, grade, and school in addition to providing progress
monitoring for the district to measure student achievement. Opportunities for growth surround the need for teachers to deliver
lessons to a diverse population with varying needs and remedial practices to assist students in achieving standard mastery. i-
Ready provides a platform for teachers to provide individual students skill remediation in reading and math for grades K-8
student performance on the diagnostic assessments and monthly progress monitoring tasks. Remediation occurs through skill-
building lessons that align to standards and provide students the opportunity to eliminate any deficits. The blended learning
opportunities provided through i-Ready allow students to build their foundational skills which transfer into standards mastery.
Based on data provided by Curriculum Associates, our students are above the national percentile average for growth. i-Ready
will be utilized as the blended learning platform for K-8 reading and mathematics for the 2020-21 school year. i-Ready provides
teachers with stronger, more relevant data to inform interventions at the Tier II and Tier III levels.
The incorporation of i-Ready in the instructional day has been successful. Continual assistance for teachers with using available
data to determine instructional next steps and selecting reading materials that meet the text complexity necessary to increase
student achievement will be provided throughout the school year.

Previous Outcomes
The district demonstrated an overall increase in mathematics and ELA achievement as measured by state assessment in 2018-19.

Expected Outcomes
The district will increase proficiency in grades K-6 Reading/Math and set proficiency targets in 2020-21 based on proficiency
achievement in 2017-18 and 2018-19.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 1: Develop a High Quality & Aligned Instructional System
Strategy 1.1 Provide teachers and students with the tools and resources necessary to meet the demands of the Florida Standards
and students' individual needs. 
                1.2.5 Expand the use of i-Ready curriculum in Grades 4-8 for ELA/Reading and Math interventions.

Page 88 of 372

DRAFT



Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve the purchase of the i-Ready diagnostics, toolbox, and professional development to
provide blended learning in reading and mathematics for the   2020-21 school year.

Contact
Roger Dailey, Chief Academic Officer, roger.dailey@myoneclay.net, 904-336-6904

Financial Impact
For 2020-21, the fiscal impact of the i-Ready diagnostics, toolbox, and professional development will not exceed  $1,050,000
from the 2020-21 General, Instructional Materials, Reading, Title II, Title III, and/or SAI allocation. The cost in 2020-21 is
$1,047,701 as compared to $954,759.05  in 2019-20.

Review Comments

Attachments

200130 Curriculum Assoc.pdf

Page 89 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/200130-curriculum-assoc.pdf


Page 90 of 372

DRAFT



Page 91 of 372

DRAFT



Page 92 of 372

DRAFT



Page 93 of 372

DRAFT



Page 94 of 372

DRAFT



Page 95 of 372

DRAFT



Page 96 of 372

DRAFT



Page 97 of 372

DRAFT



Page 98 of 372

DRAFT



Page 99 of 372

DRAFT



Page 100 of 372

DRAFT



Page 101 of 372

DRAFT



Page 102 of 372

DRAFT



Page 103 of 372

DRAFT



Page 104 of 372

DRAFT



Page 105 of 372

DRAFT



Page 106 of 372

DRAFT



Page 107 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C6 - Health-Tech Consultants, Inc. - Letter of Agreement

Description
This agreement is between the Clay County School Board and Health-Tech, Inc., an independent contractor, to act as a
representative to coordinate 21st Century CCLC activities.  This organization provides services that collects data, analyses the
data, and then reports back to the 21st Century CCLC and the School Board the results of the program.  This information is then
placed in a report by the District Project Director and sent to State and Federal agencies.  The technical assistance provided by
Health-Tech Consultants is critical in managing the grant give by Federal agencies.

Gap Analysis
This grant is issued to the District to provide services to four (4) elementary schools - Clay Hill Elementary, Montclair
Elementary, Keystone Heights Elementary, and Ridgeview Elementary - in order to provide after school services to qualified
students.  Without this grant, the services would not be able to be offered to those communities.

Previous Outcomes
The grant provides the before mentioned elementary schools educational opportunitites.  Each school must meet prescribed goals
in order to continue the program.  On average, these schools have allowed approximately 90-100 students attend for a daily
three-hour period.  Tutoring services are offered along with outside vendors to help deliver opportunitites that would not be
available to these families.

Expected Outcomes
As mentioned in the "Previous Outcomes" section, this program allows for disadvantaged children to experience educational
opportunitites not otherwise available.  Between 90-100 students at each of the four school participate in the program with
deliverables having to be met. There is also evidence of increased academic performance that can be related to this program.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal and Strategy: Goal 3: Establish a respectful climate and culture that provides equity and access to all. 
Strategy 3:3 Address the needs of all students with multiple opportunities enrichment.

Recommendation
Approve the agreement between the School Board and Health-Tech Consultants, Inc.

Contact
Michael Wingate, Director K-12 Academic Services
michael.wingate@myoneclay.net 904-336-6918

Financial Impact
$5646.00

Review Comments

Attachments

200134 Health Tech Consult.pdf

Page 108 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/200134-health-tech-consult.pdf


Page 109 of 372

DRAFT



Page 110 of 372

DRAFT



Page 111 of 372

DRAFT



Page 112 of 372

DRAFT



Page 113 of 372

DRAFT



Page 114 of 372

DRAFT



Page 115 of 372

DRAFT



Page 116 of 372

DRAFT



Page 117 of 372

DRAFT



Page 118 of 372

DRAFT



Page 119 of 372

DRAFT



Page 120 of 372

DRAFT



Page 121 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C7 - 2020-21 Interagency Agreement Between the School Board of Clay County, Florida and the Department of Military Affairs;
State of Florida

Description
A collaborative agreement between the National Guard (DMA) and the School Board of Clay County for the  purpose of
providing an alternative educational environment for students from the state of Florida.  The 2020-21 agreement allows for the
continuation of a longstanding relationship between the two organizations (since 2001).  Students from all 67 districts are eligible
to attend FLYCA and either obtain a GED, participate in credit recovery courses (K-12), and/or obtain a high school diploma. 
This agreement outlines the roles and responsibilities of the two organizations.

Gap Analysis
Through the intentional work and collaboration of the two organizations, the program averages 150+ graduates a class (2 classes
per year).  The program seeks to increase the passage rate each year of the GED candidates AND allows "Track 1" students to
earn credit recovery opportunities in order to move toward their diplomas when they return to their home school.  For the vast
majority of the cadets, without this program the student would be considered as dropouts.
 

Previous Outcomes
In the 2019-20 classes (2 per year), GED eligible students (Track 2 students) recorded a 81% passing rate.  This is an increase of
2% from the previous year.  "Track 1" students have recovered/earned 88 high school credits from the Edgenuity software
program being utilized.

Expected Outcomes
Cadets entering the program will continue to earn credit recovery grades in order to return to their home schools.  The goal is for
each cadet to earn at least 3 high school credits via their participation.  The goal for passage of the GED (4 sections) is 88% of
"Track 2" students.  Of the students who enter the program, FLYCA expects 93% to complete the entire program from beginning
to end.
 

Strategic Plan Goal
FLYCA provides an alternative setting for students who are behind in credits or who have difficulties functioning in a traditional
school setting. The program is a voluntary program that lasts for 5 1/2 months in the residential phase and then an additional 12
months in the post-residency phase.  This program provides an opportunity for students to get back on track with their
educational career and future career goals.

Recommendation
Approval of the 2020-21 Agreement

Contact
Michael Wingate, Director K-12 Academic Services
michael.wingate@myoneclay.net 904-336-6918

Financial Impact
$575,000 will be paid by FLYCA to the District along with FTE generated funds

Review Comments

Attachments

200133 FLYCA.pdf

Page 122 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/200133-flyca.pdf


Page 123 of 372

DRAFT



Page 124 of 372

DRAFT



Page 125 of 372

DRAFT



Page 126 of 372

DRAFT



Page 127 of 372

DRAFT



Page 128 of 372

DRAFT



Page 129 of 372

DRAFT



Page 130 of 372

DRAFT



Page 131 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C8 - Agreement between Clay County District Schools and University of Phoenix

Description
This agreement is between Clay County District Schools and the University of Phoenix for pre-service teacher candidates and
interns (formerly known as student teachers) to be placed in and receive instruction in Clay County schools. 

Gap Analysis
Without this agreement, interns and pre-interns cannot be placed in Clay County District Schools and would thereby prevent
potential teacher candidates from choosing Clay to begin their career.

Previous Outcomes
Clay County District Schools currently has agreements with 20 Colleges/Universities.  This is an updated agreement and
partnership between Clay County District Schools and the University of Phoenix.  The last agreement was created in 2006.

Expected Outcomes
Field placement for pre-service teachers provides teacher candidates with real-world experiences that better prepares them for the
rigors of classroom teaching.  The University of Phoenix is currently requesting the placement of one student.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5: Develop and support great educators, support personnel, and leaders. 
Strategy: 5.1: Recruit, screen, hire, and retain top candidates that reflect the diversity of each school, our district, and community.

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve the agreements between Clay County District Schools and the University of
Phoenix.

Contact
Roger Dailey, Chief Academic Officer, Roger.Dailey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
$0.00

Review Comments

Attachments

FL_School Baord of Clay County_ED (part 1) - signed (1).pdf

Page 132 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/fl_school-baord-of-clay-county_ed-part-1-signed-1.pdf


Page 133 of 372

DRAFT



Page 134 of 372

DRAFT



Page 135 of 372

DRAFT



Pamela Roggeman

Page 136 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C9 - Review & Approve the renewal of the District's third party adjusters,  Johns Eastern Company

Description
Three Year renewal of third party adjuster (TPA) for Workers Compensation and Liability for self-insured programs. Renewal
pricing remains the same for the next three years.  Claims above the 196 will be billed proportionately.
2020-2021 Workers Compensation Claims up to   196 claims  $80,935     Automobile, general liability and property claims 
 $11,703
2021-2022  Workers Compensation Claims up to   196 claims  $80,935    Automobile, general liability and property claims 
$11,703
2022-2023  Workers Compensation Claims up to   196 claims  $80,935    Automobile, general liability and property claims 
$11,703

Gap Analysis
The District has a mandatory obligation to contract with a TPA to assist in the management of our self-insurance programs.
 JECO is a proven industry leader at providing expert claims adjusting and administration services.  Their TPA services assist the
District with workers' compensation claims, medical bill reviews, as well as major property and casualty claims.  The District has
utilized JECO's services since 2000. During this time their pricing has stayed competitive and we have benefited from no cost
increases since 2019-2020.
2014-2015   220 Claims   $85,098
2015-2016   220 Claims   $87,651
2016-2017   220 Claims   $87,651
2017-2018   239 Claims   $87,651
2018-2019   239 Claims   $87,651
2019-2020   239 Claims  $92,638
2020-2021   239 Claims  $92,638
 
 

Previous Outcomes
It has been normal practice to negotiate pricing with JECO and present a three-year addendum to the original contract dated July
2000.  This is our 12th extension with JECO.  Pricing has stayed reasonable for the services provided and we've experienced
reasonable market increases over the course of our agreement.

Expected Outcomes
The three-year extension is intended to provide the Clay County District Schools with the type claims management that is needed
to maintain business as required by Florida laws & statutes while minimizing the district's exposure to losses.

Strategic Plan Goal
The district ensures fiscal responsibility and equitable distribution of resources.

Recommendation
To obtain the School Board's approval and acceptance of the Superintendent's recommendation of  Johns Eastern
Company's,  Addendum 12, 3-year Third Party Adjuster renewal.
 

Contact
Dr. Susan M. Legutko Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs 284-6571 susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Page 137 of 372

DRAFT



Financial Impact
$277,914 (total of 3-year agreement).   Funded from Self Insurance Program
* Year 1 = $92,638
* Year 2 = $92,638
* Year 3 = $92,638

Review Comments

Attachments

Clay County Schools_JECO -AD12.pdf

Page 138 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/clay-county-schools_jeco-ad12.pdf


Page 139 of 372

DRAFT



Page 140 of 372

DRAFT



Page 141 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C10 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2020-2021

Description
Staff allocation documents clarify how each school, district, department, and division is staffed for the 2020-2021 school year. 
The School Board is required to take action on all staff allocation changes.

Gap Analysis
These allocations are required to ensure the adequate staffing of the district and schools.

Previous Outcomes
The district and schools are adequately staffed.

Expected Outcomes
Staffing will be sufficient to meet the needs of the various schools and district departments.

Strategic Plan Goal
The district ensures fiscal responsibility and equitable distribution of resources.

Recommendation
Approve the staff allocation plan as submitted.

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, (904) 336-6722, susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
To be determined.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 142 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C11 - Approve settlement (washout) of all Worker’s Compensation claims of employee Maria Arietta against the School Board
of Clay County, Florida.

Description
Description:
Maria Arietta (“Claimant”) is an employee of the School Board (District) of Clay County, Florida. (“Employer”)  She has filed a
claim for injury which occurred on the job, which injury is compensable under the workers compensation statutes of the State of
Florida. The claim arose on March 14, 2019 and resulted in significant permanent debilitating injury to the Claimant. The parties
have reached a settlement agreement which, if approved, will washout all claims of any kind or nature which the Claimant has
against the Employer, including but not limited to rights for recovery for negligence, intentional torts, Employer/Carrier liability
under worker’s compensation law, bodily injury and other potential claims under worker’s compensation law and employer’s
liability policy (including coverage B) in effect for the date of the accident, as well as all attorney’s fees and litigation costs. The
Claimant will not continue in the employ of the Employer.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Approval of this item will release the School Board, from any further liability to the Claimant for any past or future monetary
losses or payment of any kind, including past and future loss of wages and past and future medical treatment or compensation
and all attorney’s fees.

Strategic Plan Goal
N/A

Recommendation
Approve Settlement Agreement as submitted

Contact
 Christine Isais, Risk Management/Worker’s Comp; J. Bruce Bickner, School Board Attorney

Financial Impact
Sixty Thousand Dollars ($60,000.00)

Review Comments

Attachments

Proposed SA (129981393_1) (1).pdf (Confidential)

Page 143 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C12 - Monthly Financial Reports for April, 2020

Description
The Monthly Financial Reports, in accordance with SBE Rule 6A-1.008, are submitted for the use and consideration of the Board
for the month ending April 30, 2020.
 

Gap Analysis
The Monthly Financial Reports show compliance to the district's amended budget as of the month end reported and meet State
and School Board financial reporting requirements.
 

Previous Outcomes
It has been a past (normal) practice to provide Monthly Financial Reports, in accordance with SBE Rule 6A-1.008.
 

Expected Outcomes
The Monthly Financial Reports are provided to meet the stewardship responsibilities of the district for reporting and
accountability of the district's finances.
 

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2:  Strategy 2.4:  Ensure effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability.

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board accept for use and consideration the Superintendent's Monthly Financial Reports for April,
2020.
 

Contact
Dr. Susan M. Legutko, Assistant Superintendent of Business Affairs, (904) 336-6721, susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
The Monthly Financial Reports reflect the year-to-date results of operations.

Review Comments

Attachments

April 2020 Board Monthly Financial Report.pdf

April 2020 Board Monthly Property Report.pdf

Page 144 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/april-2020-board-monthly-financial-report.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/april-2020-board-monthly-property-report.pdf


Page 145 of 372

DRAFT



Page 146 of 372

DRAFT



Page 147 of 372

DRAFT



Page 148 of 372

DRAFT



Page 149 of 372

DRAFT



Page 150 of 372

DRAFT



Page 151 of 372

DRAFT



Page 152 of 372

DRAFT



Page 153 of 372

DRAFT



Page 154 of 372

DRAFT



Page 155 of 372

DRAFT



Page 156 of 372

DRAFT



Page 157 of 372

DRAFT



Page 158 of 372

DRAFT



Page 159 of 372

DRAFT



Page 160 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C13 - Budget Amendment for Month Ending April 30, 2020

Description
Florida State Board of Education Administrative Rule 6A-1.006 requires that the School Board approve amendments to the
district school budget whenever the function and object amounts in the accoutns prescribed by the State Board are changed
fromthe original budget approved by the School Board.  The Budget Amendments are procedurally necessary to update our
budget to reflect changes as outlined in the attached statements.

Gap Analysis
The monthly budget amendments show compliance to the district's amended budget as of the month end reported and meet State
and School Board financial reporting requirements.

Previous Outcomes
It has been past (normal) practice to provide budget amendemtns, in accourdance with Florida State Board of Education
Administrative Rule 6A-1.006.

Expected Outcomes
The monthly budget amendments are provded to meet stewardship responsibilities of the district for reporting and accountability
of the district budget.

Strategic Plan Goal
The district ensures fiscal responsibility and equitable distribution of resources.

Recommendation
Approval of the Budget Amendments as presented for April 30, 2020.

Contact
Dr, Susan M. Legutko Assistant Superintendent for Business  Affairs  (904) 336-6721

Financial Impact
As presented

Review Comments

Attachments

Budget Amendments April 2020.pdf

Page 161 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/budget-amendments-april-2020.pdf


Page 162 of 372

DRAFT



Page 163 of 372

DRAFT



Page 164 of 372

DRAFT



Page 165 of 372

DRAFT



Page 166 of 372

DRAFT



Page 167 of 372

DRAFT



Page 168 of 372

DRAFT



Page 169 of 372

DRAFT



Page 170 of 372

DRAFT



Page 171 of 372

DRAFT



Page 172 of 372

DRAFT



Page 173 of 372

DRAFT



Page 174 of 372

DRAFT



Page 175 of 372

DRAFT



Page 176 of 372

DRAFT



Page 177 of 372

DRAFT



Page 178 of 372

DRAFT



Page 179 of 372

DRAFT



Page 180 of 372

DRAFT



Page 181 of 372

DRAFT



Page 182 of 372

DRAFT



Page 183 of 372

DRAFT



Page 184 of 372

DRAFT



Page 185 of 372

DRAFT



Page 186 of 372

DRAFT



Page 187 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C14 - NSF Write-off Permission

Description
Chapter Eight (School Internal Funds) of the Financial and Program Cost Accounting Report of the Florida Schools Manual (The
Red Book) requires under Section III 1.6 (B) that a check can be declared uncollectible and written off the books only by the
action of the School Board. The school has collected checks that were returned for non-sufficient funds. The materials or
admission to the event purchased by these checks were distributed or attended by the individuals. Multiple attempts at collection,
including phone calls and letters, from Principal and Bookkeeper, were unsuccessful and in each case, the student is no longer
enrolled. 
 
SCHOOL MAKER CK #CK DATE AMOUNTPURPOSE

Oakleaf Village Elementary
Rasheena
Sanders

116 10/31/2019$60.00
Chocolate
Fundraiser

Clay Hill Elementary Jennfier Milton 152310/15/2019$20.50 Field Trip

Gap Analysis
The school has pursued every avenue available to collect these funds and have been unsuccessful. Writing off of these checks
will allow for the reporting of an accurate cash balance of the school's Internal Accounts.

Previous Outcomes
After Board approval school has written off uncollectible NSF checks and financial reporting included an accurate cash balance.

Expected Outcomes
After Board approval school will write off uncollectible NSF checks and financial reporting will include an accurate cash
balance.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal; Strategy 2.4:  Ensure effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability.

Recommendation
Approve write off of uncollectible checks as presented.

Contact
Dr. Susan M. Legutko, Assistant Superintendent of Business Affairs Mary Kay Kirk, Internal Accounts Coordinator, (904) 336
6746

Financial Impact
To write off uncollectible checks will reduce the revenue of the school's Internal Accounts.

Review Comments

Attachments

OVE NSF write off 5.20.pdf

CHE NSF write off 5.2020.pdf

Page 188 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/ove-nsf-write-off-520.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/che-nsf-write-off-52020.pdf


Page 189 of 372

DRAFT



Page 190 of 372

DRAFT



Page 191 of 372

DRAFT



Page 192 of 372

DRAFT



Page 193 of 372

DRAFT



Page 194 of 372

DRAFT



Page 195 of 372

DRAFT



Page 196 of 372

DRAFT



Page 197 of 372

DRAFT



Page 198 of 372

DRAFT



Page 199 of 372

DRAFT



Page 200 of 372

DRAFT



Page 201 of 372

DRAFT



Page 202 of 372

DRAFT



Page 203 of 372

DRAFT



Page 204 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C15 - Deletion of Certain Items Report - May, 2020

Description
The items listed have been surveyed by the Coordinator of Property Control, at the request of the Cost Center Property Manager,
and the recommended disposition is noted.  These items are either obsolete, unusable or beyond economical repair.  These items
should be removed from active inventory and disposed of in the manner indicated.  Deletions are for property items received in
the month of April, 2020.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
Property Records followed State mandate on trackable assets, Chapter 274.05.

Expected Outcomes
Tangible Personal Property shall be controlled and supervised from acquisition through transfer or disposal.  Disposal of property
shall be in accordance with Section 274.05, Florida Statutes.  All deletions of items with a value of $1,000.00 or more will be
approved by The School Board of Clay County prior to disposition - School Board Policy Section 5.03C.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2: Strategy 2.4; Ensure effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability. 

Recommendation
Approve Deletion of Certain Items Report - April, 2020 as submitted.

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko,
Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs
(904)-336-6721
susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Provides additional storage space and eliminates the need to account for unusable property.  Reduces the dollar value of Tangible
Personal Property.

Review Comments

Attachments

Deletion-Report-May, 2020.pdf

Page 205 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/deletion-report-may-2020.pdf


Depreciation

05/31/2020

Acquisition PurchaseDisposalDisposal
ValueDate AmountDateDescriptionTag

Monthly Deletion Report
For Month Ending:

Clay County Public Schools

Method
LCTN 0252 ORANGE PARK HIGH

1,099.00 1,099.00CAMERA:DIGITAL SONY MAVICA Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  05/04/2020 11/08/200100076297
1,099.00 0.00

LCTN 9010 TRANSPORTATION
62,727.50 62,727.50BUS: SCHOOL 71 PASSENGER C-2 Motor VehiclesSurplus Sale  05/04/2020 05/10/2007B0000645
62,727.50 62,727.50BUS: SCHOOL 71 PASSENGER C-2 Motor VehiclesSurplus Sale  05/04/2020 05/10/2007B0000646
62,727.50 62,727.50BUS: SCHOOL 71 PASSENGER C-2 Motor VehiclesSurplus Sale  05/04/2020 05/10/2007B0000647
62,727.50 62,727.50BUS: SCHOOL 71 PASSENGER C-2 Motor VehiclesSurplus Sale  05/04/2020 06/14/2007B0000654
77,154.24 77,154.24BUS: SCHOOL 65 PASSENGER 2009 Motor VehiclesSurplus Sale  05/04/2020 10/09/2008B0000688
83,560.09 83,560.09BUS: SCHOOL 71 PASSENGER 2010 Motor VehiclesSurplus Sale  05/04/2020 06/11/2009B0000698

411,624.33 329,163.24

412,723.33
Totals for Deletion Report

329,163.24

Note:APRIL 2020 DELETIONS
Disposal Method Descriptions:

JUNK/PARTS - Part(s) of an asset are used and remainder of part(s) are sold, recycled or disposed

TRADE-IN - Vendor issues a credit towards a new purchase

THEFT/VANDALISM - Items stolen or broken (police report attached)

MISSING - Items lost and are not found during property inventory (Annually)

SURPLUS SALE - Items that are outdated, not working or obsolete.  Items are either sold, recycled or disposed

ENTERED IN ERROR- Not used

TRANSFER/DONATION - From Clay County District to an Outside Agency (Approved by Board or Superintendent)

DESTROYED - Fire/Natural Disaster, etc.

Total Software
0.00

Total Audio Visual
0.00

Total Vehicles
411,624.33

Total Furniture
1,099.00

THRESHOLD (ex. $750 TO $1000)

05/31/202005/01/2020Date Range 109:15:3705/06/2020 Page 206 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C16 - 2020-2021 School Safety Interlocal Agreement among the School Board of Clay County, Florida; the City of Green Cove
Springs Florida; and Green Cove Springs Police Department.

Description
Proposed funding and contract options to meet the requirements for the Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School Public Safety
Act,Ch. 2018-3 to include draft agreement with the City of Green Cove Springs and  the Green Cove Springs Police Department
School Resource Officer (SRO) program and the City of Green Cove Springs Police Department Dispatch Center to include one
full time police officer at each of the two schools in the city boundaries for the 2020-2021 academic year and four
communications officers who shall be employees of the Green Cove Springs Police Department and will meet all the criteria set
forth in Green Cove Springs Police Department “Communications Officer 110-3”.
 

Gap Analysis
The City of Green Cove Springs contracted with the Clay County School District  to provide a School Resource Officer at the
two schools within their municipality for the school year 2019-2020. The City of Green Cove Springs will continue with the
school system to enhance the partnership between the local Police Department and families of students living in the city and
attending one of the two schools.
 

Previous Outcomes
During the 2019-2020 school year the Green Cove Springs Police Department planned and implemented the Drug Abuse
Resistance Education (“DARE”) program and introduced a pedestrian safety program at Charles E. Bennett and Green Cove
Junior High.

Expected Outcomes
The presence of the SRO’s on the two campuses will strengthen relationships between the Green Cove Springs Police
Department (GCSPD) and the families in the community. Their presence  will also improve relationships between students and
GCSPD, resulting in higher quality interactions with the neighborhoods, ultimately creating a more cohesive and secure campus
environment. There will be a continuation of educational instruction concerning the law and illegal activities with students, as
well as a reduction in the number of aggressive and violent conduct referrals overall.
 

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County Students.  
 

Recommendation
Approve the agreement between the Green Cove Springs Police Department and School Board of Clay County.

Contact
Kenneth Wagner, Chief of Police 904-336-0101
Bryce Ellis, Interim Assistant Superintendent for Operations, 904-529-4966

Financial Impact
$143,534.00 to be paid in (12) equal installments for the School Resource Officers.
$188,556.00 to be paid in (12) equal installments for (4) Dispatchers for GCSPD.
(No change from 19-20 agreement)

Review Comments

Page 207 of 372

DRAFT



Attachments

20-21 City of Green Cove Springs Interlocal Agreement.pdf

Page 208 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/20-21-city-of-green-cove-springs-interlocal-agreement.pdf


Page 209 of 372

DRAFT



Page 210 of 372

DRAFT



Page 211 of 372

DRAFT



Page 212 of 372

DRAFT



Page 213 of 372

DRAFT



Page 214 of 372

DRAFT



Page 215 of 372

DRAFT



Page 216 of 372

DRAFT



Page 217 of 372

DRAFT



Page 218 of 372

DRAFT



Page 219 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C17 - 2020-2021 School Safety Interlocal Agreement among the School Board of Clay County, Florida; the Town of Orange
Park, Florida; and the Town of Orange Park Police Department

Description
Proposed funding and contract options to meet the requirements for the Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School Public Safety
Act,Ch. 2018-3 to include draft agreement with the Town on Orange Park Police Department School Resource Officer (SRO)
program to include one full time police officer at each of the three schools in the city boundaries for the 2020-2021 academic
year.
 

Gap Analysis
The Town of Orange Park has contracted with the Clay County District School District to provide a School Resource Officer at
the three  schools within their municipality for the school year 2020-2021. The Town of Orange Park will continue with the
school system to enhance the partnership between the local Police Department and families of students living in the city and
attending one of the three schools.
 

Previous Outcomes
During the 2019-2020 school year  the Town of Orange Park Police Department planned and implemented the Drug Abuse
Resistance Education (“DARE”) program, and introduced a pedestrian safety program at Grove Park Elementary, Orange Park
Junior High and Orange Park Elementary.
 

Expected Outcomes
The presence of the SRO’s on the three campuses will strengthen relationships between the Town of Orange Park Police
Department and the families in the community. Their presence will also improve relationships between students and the Town of
Orange Park, resulting in higher quality interactions with the neighborhoods, ultimately creating a more cohesive and secure
campus environment. There will be a continuation of educational instruction concerning the law and illegal activities with
students, as well as a reduction in the number of aggressive and violent conduct referrals overall.
 

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County Students.  
 
 

Recommendation
Approve the agreement between the Town of Orange Park Police Department and the School Board of Clay County.

Contact
Kenneth Wagner, Chief of Police 904-336-0101
Bryce Ellis, Interm Assistant Superintendent for Operations, 904-529-4966

Financial Impact
$210,801.00 to be paid in (12) equal installments for the School Resource Officers.
(No change from 19-20 agreement)

Review Comments

Attachments
Page 220 of 372

DRAFT



20-21 Town of Orange Park Interlocal Agreement.pdf

Page 221 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/20-21-town-of-orange-park-interlocal-agreement.pdf


Page 222 of 372

DRAFT



Page 223 of 372

DRAFT



Page 224 of 372

DRAFT



Page 225 of 372

DRAFT



Page 226 of 372

DRAFT



Page 227 of 372

DRAFT



Page 228 of 372

DRAFT



Page 229 of 372

DRAFT



Page 230 of 372

DRAFT



Page 231 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C18 - Approve Amendment #2 to contract for Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) Software, via Central Square Technologies,
adding software for uniform reporting, report writing and storage.

Description
The CCDSPD is required by statute to implement a uniform computer aided report writing  system for mobile field reporting,
and record management. This program interfaces with other agencies in the county. This module is necessary to integrate the
CCDSPD system with others.        

Gap Analysis
The purchase of Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) software was approved on October 3, 2019. This Amendment to said
Agreement allows the CCDSPD to meet the statutory requirements by July 1, 2020, by adding software module for mobile field
reporting, record management system, and interface with all other law enforcement agencies in the county.

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Execution of this contract Amendment 2 will allow the CCDSPD to obtain software which will comply with state requirements
regarding mobile field reporting, records management and uniform reporting and will enhance the CCDSPD link between
CCDSPD and all other law enforcement agencies within the county, thereby improving communications, situational awareness
and direct access to records between agencies. 

Strategic Plan Goal
N/A

Recommendation
Approve Agreement

Contact
Kenneth Wagner, Chief of Police; J. Bruce Bickner, School Board Attorney

Financial Impact
$73,620.00

Review Comments

Attachments

200121 Central Square Contract.pdf

Page 232 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/200121-central-square-contract.pdf


Page 233 of 372

DRAFT



Page 234 of 372

DRAFT



Page 235 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C19 - Pre-Qualification of Contractors

Description
Section 1013.46 of Florida Statutes requires School Boards to pre-qualify contractors prior to their being able to bid on
construction projects for the district.  The rules for pre-qualification are stipulated in the State Requirements for Educational
Facilities (SREF).  The attached list identifies the contractors to be approved this month.  As this is an annual requirement, the
attached list may contain both new contractors and contractors seeking to renew their pre-qualification status.  Per Florida
Statutes, only those contractors currently pre-qualified at the time of bidding may bid on a School Board construction project.

Gap Analysis
Contractor Pre-Qualification is an annual requirement.

Previous Outcomes
CCDS complies with contractor pre-qualification as required by Florida Statutes and SREF (State Requirements for Educational
Facilities).

Expected Outcomes
CCDS will remain in compliance by certifying the contractors recommended for pre-qualification meet the requirements of
Section 1013.46 FS, the State Requirements for Educational Facilities (SREF) and School Board Policy. 

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students.

Recommendation
Approve the attached Contractor Pre-Qualification list.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Interim Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

PreQualification 6.4.20.pdf

Page 236 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/prequalification-6420.pdf


Page 237 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C20 - Clay High School Security Lighting Repair/Replacement Contract Award

Description
This project is listed in the Educational Facilities Plan (EFP).  The award of a construction project in excess of $50,000.00
requires School Board approval.
The selection was conducted in accordance with Florida Statute 287.055.  The project was advertised for three (3) consecutive
weeks with The Clay Today.  The bid opening was held May 15, 2020 at 2:30 p.m.  The project had Five (5) bidders and all
bidders met the bid requirements. 

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Construction of Clay High School Security Lighting Repair/Replacement

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students. 

Recommendation
Award the construction contract to T & M Electric, the low bidder meeting specifications the base bid in the amount of
$60,712.00.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Interim Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net, Jeff Marks, Project
Manager (904) 336-6831,  jeffery.marks@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
These funds are available and budgeted in the Educational Facilities Plan.

Review Comments

Attachments

CHS Security Lighting Repair.Replacement Bid Tab.pdf

Page 238 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/chs-security-lighting-repairreplacement-bid-tab.pdf


Page 239 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C21 - Option Contract for Roderigo Property

Description
Through negotiation with the property owner, the attached Option Contract has been developed and the School Board is now in a
positon to approve this acquisition. 

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
Option Contract approval allows the purchase of property.

Expected Outcomes
Roderigo Road property acquisition for School Board use.

Strategic Plan Goal
 
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students. 

Recommendation
Approve the Option Contract to purchase the Roderigo Road property in the amount of $125,000.00.  The appraised value of the
property is $134,000.00.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Interim Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net, James Fossa,
Coordinator of Planning and Intergovernmental Affairs, (904) 336-6852,  james.fossa@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
These funds are available and budgeted in the Educational Facilities Plan.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 240 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
D1 - Approve Amended Resolution for Half-Cent sales tax to appear on November 2020 General Election Ballot (Studdard)

Description
The School Board has previously approved a Resolution to place the question of a half-cent sales surtax on the November 2020
general election ballot. The legislature has amended the requirements of F.S. 212.055(6) to require that the Resolution contain
language to the effect that the proceeds of the sales surtax shall be shared with eligible charter schools.  Additionally, the Ballot
Summary must contain language that the proceeds will be shared with eligible charter schools. This Amended Resolution
contains such language. If it is approved it must be sent to the County Commission who must approve it, and then adopt the
summary and ballot language into their own Resolution which shall be sent to the Supervisor of elections with directions for
placing the amended language on the ballot for November.

Gap Analysis
The Amended Resolution must be approved in order to place the amended language before the County Commission for
placement on the ballot.

Previous Outcomes
School Board previously passed a similar Resolution which was approved by the County Commission.

Expected Outcomes
It is expected that the Board of County Commission will accept the amended Resolution and direct the Supervisor of Elections to
place the matter on the 2020 general election ballot using the amended ballot language.

Strategic Plan Goal
N/A

Recommendation
Approve the Amended Resolution

Contact
Carol Y. Studdard, Chair, School Board of Clay County, J. Bruce Bickner, School Board Attorney

Financial Impact
Undetermined

Review Comments

Attachments

The Plan, Exhibit A (2).pdf

exhibit-b-to-resolution-re-sales-tax-in-2020-amended-1.pdf

exhibit-c-to-resolution-re-sales-tax-in-2020-amended-1.pdf

resolution-re-sales-tax-in-2020-amended-3docxfinal-final.pdf

Page 241 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/the-plan-exhibit-a-2.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/exhibit-b-to-resolution-re-sales-tax-in-2020-amended-1.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/exhibit-c-to-resolution-re-sales-tax-in-2020-amended-1.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/resolution-re-sales-tax-in-2020-amended-3docxfinal-final.pdf


EXHIBIT A 

THE PLAN 

Exhibit A is a 44 page composite exhibit which is made up of the following: 

1. The first two pages are a summary of the ten (10) categories of capital expenditures, 
including construction/renovation, technology and safety improvements. The numbers 
include construction of seven new schools and renovation, improvements and upgrades for 
every school in the school district. It is a gross overview summary, not a detailed layout of 
The Plan. 

2. Pages three (3) through forty four (44) are a presentation of The Plan. These pages include 
infmmation of the overall capital project needs, how those needs evolved and the solutions; 
those being the plans for capital projects and their projected costs for each individual 
school. Pages sixteen (16) through thirty seven (37) contain the meat of the Plan in that 
each feeder area of the school district is defined and each of the individual schools which 
make up that feeder area is listed, along with the projects and estimated expenditures which 
are planned for each school. 

Page 242 of 372

DRAFT



u HVAC BARD UNITS (SK) 

~ 
::r:: 

OTHER HVAC 

HVAC CONTROLS Jr.H- $170,000 Sr.H-

CAFETERIA EXPANSION 

CAFETERIA SEATING ES:Cap/4*$600 S: 

p/12*1500 

TOTAL PROJECTED INVESTMENT 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 
$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

1,119,000.00 

1,740,000.00 

2,040,000.00 

2,240,000.00 

80,000.00 

2,160,000.00 

42,000.00 

215,000.00 

295,000.00 

350,000.00 

648,000.00 

7,580,000.00 

16,240,000.00 

1,370,000.00 

14,302,600.00 

9,790,000.00 

2,100,000.00 

2,200,000.00 

2,153,050.00 

10,640,000.00 

481,500.00 
Page 243 of 372

DRAFT



C) 
z 
i= PAINTING UPGRADE z 
;;: 
Q. 

, TECHNOLOGY INFRAStRUGTURE & ll>EVIGE 

$ 

> ~EFRESH . if(_ , . , 
~ €~SSROOM TE(;:triNObQGY tJP.GRADES (3.~K 

$ 

$ 

$ 

o per-class) "-~~<t ~~ ~ ,, 
I "2: A .!'~ 
0 DIGITAL SIGNAGE {3SK +lOK for power) 
~ - "" ' .. _ 

' '~\ , 

~, 1,JVPR UPGRAl>ES · 
:'i -"' , .. ,,.~: -~ ~ ":::.<,=. • " $ 
z 
0 ELEMENTARY PHYSICAL EDUCATION 5 UPGRADES ($lOOK) 

2,525,000.00 

20,000,000.00 

7,857,500.00 

1,845,000.00 

1,050,000.00 

5 $ 2,940,000.00 
wr---------------------------~~----------------~ 
...J 

5 
~ SHADE STRUCTURES (Permanent) 
J: 
Q. $ 2,100,000.00 

400,000.00 

19,845,000.00 

2,125,000.00 

1,420,000.00 

5,200,000.00 

2,800,000.00 

6,300,000.00 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS- PERMANENT 

CLASSROOM ADDITION (2M per 8) $ 119,100,000.00 
...J TRANSPORTATION CENTRALIZED 

.: WAREHOUSE FACILITY $ 25,000,000.00 
~ CENTRALIZED SERVICES FACILITY 
~r(B~u~il~d~o~r~Bu~v~) __________________ _,1~$ __________ 20~,_oo_o~,o_o_o_. o_o~ 
~ CCDS PROJECT NEEDS EXPENDITURE PER 

SCHOOL/COST CENTER 
NEW GROWTH CONSTRUCTION -WITHIN 10 

YEARS - (5 Elem; 1 JH; lHS J 

REMAINING NEED 

$ 318,293,650.00 

$ 300,000,000.00 

(214,363,660.00) 

Page 244 of 372

DRAFT



Addison G. Davis, Superintendent of Schools 
8L26/2019 

Dr. Michael Kemp, Assistant Superintendent of Operations 

Page 245 of 372

DRAFT



One Clay. One Half Cent 
Goals: 

·~ Elevate Clay by providing our students and teachers with 
relevant state-of-the-art learning facilities, technology tools, 
and resources. Provide the best! 

Y Attract and recruit students and teachers! 

~ CCDS elevates to #1 school district in Florida! 

Y Clay County elevates to #1 place to live and work! 

Page 246 of 372

DRAFT



. Benefit of Equitable Revenue Strategy 

ED.F.I.R.S.T (EDucation Facilities Infrastructure Restricted Sales 

Tax) is an equitable way to share the responsibility of what is needed 
to renovate our current facilities and prepare for anticipated growth 
to position CCDS to effectively serve our community's children. 

Providing safe and relevant facilities for our students and teachers is 
worth $5 for each $1000.00 spent. 

• 
(, 

: 

Page 247 of 372

DRAFT



. Benefit of Equitable Revenue Strategy 

~ A half cent Education Facilities Restricted Sales Tax 
will positively impact local economic development 
as ED.F.I.R.S.T dollars are reinvested back into our 
schools via local business participation. 

Page 248 of 372

DRAFT



CCDS receives the 
local community 

support needed to 
renovate current 

facilities and 
prepare for growth 
to become the best 
school system in the 

state! 

It is a Win! 

Does not 
further 
burden 

property 
owners! 

Revenue 
reinvested in 

local economic 
development! 

Page 249 of 372

DRAFT



The Power of a Penny 
Calculated by the Florida Department of Revenue's Office of Tax Research 

Local Discretionary Sales Surtax 
Revenue Estimates for the Local Fiscal Year Ending September 30, 2019 

### Refer to the Table Notes for Instructions on Using These Estimates ### 
1% Tax Rate - Default Formula 1% Tax Rate - lnterlocal Agreement 

Distribution Estimated Distribution Estimated 
Local Government Percentage Distribution Percentage Distribution 

CLAYBOCC 91.693353 $ 24,691,797 79.305486 $ 21,355,909 
Green Cove Springs 3.449213 $ 928,827 3.621916 $ 975,334 
Keystone Heights 0.617824 $ 166,372 0.968100 $ 260,696 
Orange Park 3.905333 $ 1,051 ,654 6.824202 $ 1,837,667 
Penney Farms 0.334277 $ 90,016 0.468575 $ 126,181 
*** School Board *** 0.000000 $ - 8.811721 $ 2,372,879 
Countywide Total 100.000000 $ 26,928,666 100.000000 $ 26,928,666 

HALF CENT est. 
@ $13,464,333/year 

Page 250 of 372

DRAFT



2019 Capital Development Project 

);;> 30 Year Plan Development and Validation 
Validation by FDOE, CCDS, Citizen's Oversight Committee 

);;> Surveys 

);;> Facility Reviews and Assessments 

);;> Community Forums 

Page 251 of 372

DRAFT



Current Financial Need to ELEVATE Cia ! 

-

Districtwide need to Elevate 
CCDS with Relevant Facilities 

CURRENT FACILITIES NEED 

$318,293,650.00 
$300,00·0,000.00 

NEW GROWTH -7 SCHOOLS 

vs. 

Revenue from 
Half Cent Effort 

$403,929,990.00 {30 YR) 

NOTE: PROPOSED REVENUE STREAM IS LESS THAN THE $618,293,650.00 NEEDED! 

DECADES OF DEFERRED MAINTENANCE HAS COMPOUNDED THE NEED 

Page 252 of 372

DRAFT



Pro~osed Projects 
i•· Safety/Security Upgrades 

/"""" Capital Improvements- Permanent Classroom Additions (Portable Reduction) 

/"""- New Growth Construction- 7 NEW SCHOOLS 

/"""" Classroom Technology Improvements 

/"""- Energy Efficiency Improvements 

l'• Building Envelope Improvements 

/"""" Mechanical- HVAC/Control Upgrades 

/"""- Plumbing Upgrades 

/' Food and Nutrition Service Upgrades 

/' Educational Program Improvements 

/' Classroom Furniture Replacement 

/' Transportation Facility Upgrade 

· ed Services Facility 

.. 
TECHN0t0GV 

Page 253 of 372

DRAFT



New Schools NEEDED- 7 Projected *! 

);> IMMEDIATE NEED (Growth)- Within 2 YEARS 
);> 1 Elementary (Lake Asbury) School (/R" - CR 315 Property 
);> 1 Elementary (Tynes) School (/A" -Two Creeks Property 

);> IMMEDIATE NEED (Growth and Portable Reduction) 2-5 YEARS 
/ • . 

);> 1 K-8 (K-6/7-8 Config.) Green Cove JH/CEB Consolidation- Rebuild on existing JH site. CEB 
potential conversion for BLC. 

);> 1 K-6 Keystone Heights- new elementary on McDavid Park Property; and Renovate KHE 
to become KH Junior High 

);> 1 K-8 (K-6/7-8 Config.) Fleming Island- Old Hard Road 

);> IMMEDIATE NEED (Growth- South 17) 5-10 YEARS 
);> 1 Elementary (South 17) 
);> 1 High School (South 17) 

* Subject to change based on growth projections and funding capacity 

Page 254 of 372

DRAFT



EDFIRST Project Budget Development: 

~How? 

~What? 

~Where? 

EDFIRST PROJECT DEVELOPMENT 30 YEAR 6-13-19.xlsx 

Page 255 of 372

DRAFT



Feeder Pattern Investment 
FEEDER PATTERN 

#of Feeder 
TOTAL PROJECT UPGRADES AVG $/SCHOOL 

Schools 

Keystone 2 $ 24,994,524.84 $ 8,331,508.28 

Clay 7 $ 28,693,005.23 $ 3,586,625.65 

Prange Park 8 $ 59,496,146.51 $ 6,610,682.95 

Middleburg 8 $ 52,681,296.51 $ 5,853,477.39 

Ridgeview 9 $ 67,497,134.79 $ 6,749,713.48 

Fleming Island 7 $ 54,513,030.23 $ 6,814,128. 78 

pakleaf 6 $ 39,217,322.67 $ 5,602,474.67 

NOTE: Many of our elementary and junior high schools "feed" multiple high . .......... . 
schools. As a result, investments are duplicated to reflect total investment "<::·· . .- ····:.::/ 
associated with a particular high school feeder pattern. . ........ . ----

Page 256 of 372

DRAFT



TOTAL HS FEEDER PATTERN INVESTMENT 

Fleming Island 
$54,513,030.23 

Oakleaf 
$39,217,322.67 

Ridgeview 
$67,497,134.79 

Keystone 
$24,994,524.84 

Clay 
$28,693,005.23 

Middleburg 
$52,681,296.51 

Orange Park 
$59,496,146.51 

Page 257 of 372

DRAFT



So ... What does this mean for 
Keystone Heights? 

Page 258 of 372

DRAFT



Keystone Heights 
Elementary 

$7,334,756.28 

KEYSTONE FEEDER PER SCHOOL 

McRae Elementary 
$4,272,721.28 

Average Facility Age - 44 Years 
Total Instructional Units- 157 
IDENTIFIED NEED - $24,994,524.84 

Keystone Heights Jr.-Sr. 
High 

$13,387,047.28 

Page 259 of 372

DRAFT



KEYSTONE FEEDER PATTERN SCHOOL/COST CENTER 

PROPOSED PROJECT/UPGRADE 
Keystone Height s Jr.-Sr. Keystone Heights 

TOTAL High Elementary McRae Elementary 

OFFICIAL IN mAL! KHH KHE MRE 

YEAR BUILT 1974 1956 1996 

AGE 45 63 23 43.7 

II ofiU's 67 55 35 157 

FIRE ALARM $ 6,000.00 $ 16,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 28,000.00 

CAMERA (Eiem-8SK; Jr- lOOK; Sr -12SK} $ 40,000.00 $ 60,000.00 $ $ 100,000.00 

SECURITY ALARM (SOK) $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 150,000.00 

CONTROLLED ACCESS (S5K) $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 165,000.00 

EXTERNAL PA COMMUNICATION $ - $ $ $ -
EXTERIOR CAMPUS UGHTING (Update to LED) $ 100,000.00 $ 30,000.00 $ 30,000.00 $ 160,000.00 
TRAFFIC SIGNAGE $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 3,000.00 
PAVEMENT MARKING $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 15,000.00 

FENCING $ 10,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 25,000.00 

SAFETY NETTING (Athletic) $ 50,000.00 $ - $ $ 50,000.00 

COVERED WALKWAY UPGRADES $ 6,000.00 $ 40,000.00 $ - $ 46,000.00 
II of HVAC IU 's 75 GO 45 $ 180.00 

HVAC BARD UNITS (SK) $ 375,000.00 $ 300,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 900,000.00 

OTHERHVAC $ 1,250,000.00 $ 140,000.00 $ 70,000.00 $ 1,460,000.00 

HVAC CONTROLS Jr.H - $170,000 Sr.H -$180,000 $ - $ - $ - $ -

ROOFING - MAJOR STRUCTURE (Lifespan 20years; Metal30+) $ 972,000.00 $ 850,000.00 $ - $ 1,822,000.00 

KITCHEN EQUIPMENT 1 serv In · $225K; 2 serv In· $260K; 3 

serv In • $300k; 4 serv In· $335k $ 335,000.00 $ $ 225,000.00 $ 560,000.00 

KITCHEN RENOVATION $ 100,000.00 $ $ 100,000.00 $ 200,000.00 

CAFETERIA EXPANSION $ $ $ . $ . 

CAFETERIA SEATING ES:Cap/4•$600 S: Cap/12•1s00 $ 79,750.00 $ 25,500.00 $ 58,500.00 $ 163,750.00 

II of RR's in need of reno 20 6 6 32 

RESTROOM RENOVATION ($3SK per) $ 700,000.00 $ 210,000.00 $ 210,000.00 $ 1,120,000.00 

II of WATER FOUNTAINS ($800)/ FIWNG STATIONS ($2,SOO) $ 15,500.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 35,500.00 

PAINTING UPGRADE $ 100,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 200,000.00 

TECHNOLOGY INFRASTRUCTURE & DEVICE REFRESH $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 1,395,348.84 

CLASSROOM TECHNOLOGY UPGRADES (3.5K per class) $ 234,500.00 $ 192,500.00 $ 122,500.00 $ 549,500.00 

DIGITAL SIGNAGE (3SK +10K for power) $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 135,000.00 

TVPR UPGRADES $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 75,000.00 

ELEMENTARY PHYSICAL EDUCATION UPGRADES ($lOOK) $ $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 200,000.00 

SHADE STRUCTURES (Permanent) $ . $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 200,000.00 

STAGE FLOORS AND CURTAINS $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 30,000.00 

SCHOOL FURNITURE REPLACEMENT ($7,500 perES classroom; 

$10,000 per HS classroom; $10,000 per Media Center) $ 680,000.00 $ 422,500.00 $ 272,500.00 $ 1,375,000.00 

COURT RESURFACING ($2Sk/court) $ 100,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 150,000.00 

GYM FLOORING REPLACEMENT $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ $ 200,000.00 

STADIUM/GYM SEATING UPGRADES $ 225,000.00 $ . $ . $ 225,000.00 

TRACK UPGRADES $ 350,000.00 $ . $ $ 350,000.00 

FIELD UPGRADES (FB/BB/SF @1$9/sf) $ 900,000.00 $ . $ $ 900,000.00 
ADDmON (2M per 8J i :O 6,000,000.00 :> 4,000,000.00 :> 2,000,000.00 $ 12,000,000.00 
LLU:> I'KUJt:L I Nt:t:U:> t:AI't:NUII UKt: l't:K ·~··~~.,~~.>I 

CENTER $ 13,387,047.28 $ 7,334,756.28 $ 4,272,721.28 $ 24,994,524.84 

Page 260 of 372

DRAFT



So ... What does this mean 
for Clay? 

Page 261 of 372

DRAFT



CLAY FEEDER PER SCHOOL 

RideOut Elementary 
$2,473,866.28 

Paterson Elementary 
$3,062,466.28 

Charles E. Bennett 
Elementary 

$2,664,366.28 

lake Asbury 
Elementary 

$2,717,466.28 

Shadowlawn Elementary 
$2,404,116.28 

lake Asbury Junior High 
$2,819,991.28 

Average Facility Age: 48 years 
Total Instructional Units: 430 
IDENTIFIED NEED: $28,693,005.23 

Green Cove Springs 
Junior High 

$5,641,866.28 

Page 262 of 372

DRAFT



CLAY FEEDER PATTERN SCHOOL/COST CENTER 

Green Cove Sprlnas Lake Asbury Junior Lake Asbury Charles E. Bennett Paterson Shadowlawn TOTAL 
PROPOSED PROJECT/UPGRADE ClayHiah 

Junior High High Elementary Elementary Elementary 
RideOut Elementary 

Elementary 

OFFICIAL INITIALS CHS GO IAIH LAE CEB PES ROE SLE 

YEAR BUILT 1971 1952 2004 1986 1954 1992 2000 2007 

AGE 48 67 15 33 65 27 19 12 48 
1 ofiU's 85 45 47 59 54 55 38 47 430 

FIRE ALARM $ 6,000.00 $ 240,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 16,000.00 $ 200,000.00 $ 6,000 .00 $ 6,000.00 $ 486,000.00 
CAMERA (Eiem-8SK; Jr- lOOK; Sr -12SK) $ 40,000.00 $ 200,000.00 $ $ $ 60,000.00 $ 60,000.00 $ 60,000.00 $ 60,000.00 $ 480,000.00 
SECURITY ALARM (50K) $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 400,000.00 
CONTROLLED ACCESS (SSK) $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 440,000.00 
EKTERNAL PA COMMUNICATION $ $ 65,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ 5,000.00 $ $ 70,000.00 
(Update to LED) $ 160,000.00 $ 125,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 30,000.00 $ 120,000.00 $ 30,000.00 $ 30,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 535,000.00 

TRAFFIC SIGNAGE $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 8,000.00 

PAVEMENT MARKING $ 5,000.00 $ 10,000 .00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000 .00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 45,000.00 
FENCING $ 20,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000 .00 $ 10,000.00 $ $ 10,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ $ 80,000.00 

SAFETY NElTING (Athletic) $ 50,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 50,000.00 

COVERED WALKWAY UPGRADES $ 12,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 40,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ $ 20,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ $ 132,000.00 

I of HVAC IU's 20 54 23 41 54 63 9 4 268 
HVAC BARD UNITS (SK) $ 100,000.00 $ 270,000.00 $ 115,000.00 $ 205,000.00 $ 270,000.00 $ 315,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 1,340,000.00 

OTHER HVAC $ 780,000.00 $ 660,000.00 $ 450,000.00 $ 335,000.00 $ $ 400,000.00 $ 350,000.00 $ 560,000.00 $ 3,535,000.00 

HVAC CONTROLS Jr.H - $170,000 Sr.H -$180,000 $ $ 170,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ 170,000.00 $ $ 340,000.00 

ROOFING - MAJOR STRUCTURE (Ufespan 20 years; Metal 
$ 1,008,000.00 $ 1,332,000.00 $ $ $ 472,000.00 $ 60,000.00 $ $ $ 2,872,000.00 

30+) 

KITCHEN EQUIPMENT 1 seN In · $22SK; 2 seN In · $260K; 3 
$ 335,000.00 $ 260,000.00 $ 300,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 1, 795,000.00 

SON in • $3110k; 4 seN In • $335k 
KITCHEN RENOVATION $ $ - $ $ 100,000.00 $ $ $ - $ $ 100,000.00 

CAFETERIA EKPANSION $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
CAFETERIA SEATING ES:C.p/4•$600 S: C.p/12•15110 $ 73,750.00 $ 58,250.00 $ 57,875.00 $ 76,350.00 $ 41,250.00 $ 76,350.00 $ 63,750.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 492,575.00 

# of RR's In need of reno 20 4 0 6 4 6 6 0 46 

RESTROOM RENOVATION ($3SK pert $ 700,000.00 $ 140,000.00 $ $ 210,000.00 $ 140,000.00 $ 210,000.00 $ 210,000.00 $ $ 1,610,000.00 

I of WATER FOUNTAINS ($8001/ FILLING STATIONS ($2,51101 $ 15,500.00 $ 15,500.00 $ 15,500.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 96,500.00 

PAINTING UPGRADE $ 100,000.00 $ 75,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 475,000.00 

TECHNOLOGY INFRASTRUCTURE & DEVICE REFRESH $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 3,720,930.23 

CLASSROOM TECHNOLOGY UPGRADES (3.5K per dassl $ 297,500.00 $ 157,500.00 $ 164,500.00 $ 206,500.00 $ 189,000.00 $ 192,500.00 $ 133,000.00 $ 164,500.00 $ 1,505,000.00 

DIGITAL SIGNAGE (35K +lOK for power I $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000 .00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 360,000.00 

TVPR UPGRADES $ 25,000 .00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000 .00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 200,000.00 

ELEMENTARY PHYSICAL EDUCATION UPGRADES ($1110KI $ $ - $ 30,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 530,000.00 

SHADE STRUCTURES (Permanent! $ $ $ $ $ 100,000.00 $ $ 100,000.00 $ 200,000.00 

STAGE FLOORS AND CURTAINS $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 80,000.00 

SCHOOL FURNITURE REPLACEMENT ($7,5110 perES 

classroom; $10,000 per HS classroom; $10,000 per Media $ 860,000.00 $ 482,500.00 $ 480,000.00 $ 452,500.00 $ 415,000.00 $ 422,500.00 $ 295,000.00 $ 362,500.00 $ 3, 770,000.00 

Center I 
COURT RESURFACING ($2Sk/courtl $ 100,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 350,000.00 

GYM FLOORING REPLACEMENT $ 120,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ $ 320,000.00 

STADIUM/GYM SEATING UPGRADES $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ - $ 675,000.00 

TRACK UPGRADES $ 350,000.00 $ 350,000.00 $ - $ $ $ $ $ $ 700,000.00 

FIELD UPGRADES (FB/BB/SF @1$9/sf) $ 900,000.00 $ $ $ - $ $ $ $ $ 900,000.00 
CAPITAl IMPROVEMENTS · PERMANENT CLASSROOM 

ADDITION (ZM per Bl $ 2,000,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00 $ 6,000,000.00 $ $ 6,000,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00 $ 22,000,000.00 

I LLU) I'KUJ tL I NttU) tJII'tNUII u Kt l'tK )LHUUL/ LU)I 

$ 6,908,866.28 $ 5,641,866.28 $ 2,819 ,99 1.28 $ 2,717,466.28 CENTER $ 2,664,3 66.28 $ 3,0 62,466 .28 $ 2,473,866.28 $ 2,404,116.28 $ 28,693,005.23 

Page 263 of 372

DRAFT



So ... What does this mean 
for Orange Park? 

• . 

Page 264 of 372

DRAFT



ORANGE PARK FEEDER PER SCHOOL 

Montclair Elementary 
$4,563,216.28 

Lakeside Elementary 
$6,807,116.28 

S. Bryan Jennings Elementary 
$3,000,866.28 

W. E. Cherry Elementary 
$7,124,866.28 

Orange Park Elementary 
$4,688,366.28 

Grove Park Elementary 

$5,007' 116.28 

Average Facility Age: 54 years 
Total Instructional Units: 448 
IDENTIFIED NEED: $59.496 146.51 

Orange Park High 
15,910,366.28 

Orange Park Junior High 
$8,628,116.28 

Lakeside Junior High 
$3,766,116.28 

Page 265 of 372

DRAFT



ORANGE PARK FEEDER PATTERN ~;-;..,;.~CENTER 

Orana• Park Hflh '' 
I u RI;;, • • • _, ... ,,.RIR• 1 -~ ~ I ~ a;..;.;;-~,.--_- _·-:;-- ·-:meu:-~ ' h'!antdllr : TOTAL 

P.JlOPOSED PIUliECJ'/UPGIIADE ;. I -~c "'"li~ -;; -, Hiat.";\ ·-· Ellnientlry , -- ~ -[' ;.' 
-- ._ .. OFFICIAL IN~ OPH .-OPJH UH ' 'GPE ~WEt SSI _LE$ ['> MCE -OPE--._ 

" 195! 197! 197. 197 1961 1967 1974 1977 
' -- •AGE 61 44 4: 47 Sa 52 45 42 90 54 . . · -l afiU' s: s: 28 sa 38 53 35 3C 448 

- " ~-- --.- IS 6.000.00 s 6,000.00 I s 6,000.00 s 6,ooo.oo I s 6.000.00 s 6000.00 s 16,000.0C 16,• 1.00 16.' s 84,000.00 
'- ~ IS 40,000.00 s 70,000.00 s $ 60,000.00 $ 60,000.00 1$ $ 60,1100. 60,1100. s 350,000.00 

SEaJRITY AlARM IK) '• :" .,, - .. Is 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 50,000.00 50,000.00 $ 450,000.00 
_...,.., 1(5519 s 55,000.00 s 55,000.00 s 55,000.00 s SS:aoooo s -ss:ooo.oo s 55,000.00 s 55,000.00 55,000.00 55,000.00 s 495,000.00 

s IS s s s s s 5,000.00 s 5,000.00 

[(Updete ta LED) s 40,000.00 s 40,000.00 s 50,000.00 $ 30,000.00 s 30,000.00 s 30,000.00 $ 30,000.00 s 30,000.00 $ 40,000,00 
320,000.00 

s 1.000.00 IS 1,000.00 s 1.000.00 $ 1,000.00 s .. 000.00 $ 000.00 s 1,000.00 s 1,000.00 1,000.00 9,000.00 

I PAVEMENT MARKING s 5,000,00 Is 5,000.00 s 5,000.00 s 5,000.00 s 5,000.00 s 5,000.00 s 5,000.00 s 5,000.00 5,000.00 45,000.00 

IFENCNG s 20,000.00 IS 10,000.00 s 20,000.00 s . s 5,000.00 s 10,000.00 s s . 10,000.00 75,00 J.OO 

I ....... ' ......... ; (Aihlellcl s IS 50,000.00 s . s . s . s . $ . s . 50,000.00 

COVERED WAIJ.WAY UPGRADES ,s 40,000.00 s s 60,000.00 s . s . s - s 40,000.00 s I s 140,000.00 

39 22 28 3: 38 20 36 25 40 285 

I UNITS(SKJ IS 195,000.00 s 10.000.00 s 140.000.00 s 185.000.00 $ 190.000.00 $ 100.000.00 s 180,000.00 s 125, J.OO S 200,000.00 s '" nnn nn 
OTHERHVAC IS 1 "" nnn nn s 280,000.00 s 350,000.00 s 450,000.00 s 140,000.00 s 395,000.00 s 280,000.00 s 210,00 1.00 s 120,1 s 3,575,000.00 

iJr,H ·-~~IUIJIN ,..,n •$JID,IJIIO Is 180,000.00 s . s s s s s s s s 180,000.00 

=~:;MAJOR Sl1 
120yul"'; 

s 750,000.00 s , MMOM $ 144,000.00 $ 288,000.00 s 360,000.00 s 558,000.00 s 216,000.00 s 228,600.00 s 300,000.00 $ 1 no <nn.nn 

=K;~ ;.-;;;~~i~';~;~~~!..., m· $ 335,000.00 $ 260,000.00 $ 260,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 260,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 2,240,000.00 

KITOIEN s $ - s 100,000.00 s 100,000.00 s 100,000.00 s s $ 100,000.00 s 100,000.00 s 600,000.00 

, CAFETERIA I s s s s $ 200,000.00 s s s s 200,000.00 

I CAFETERIA SEATING I .•. ,. .. , .... .,. s 93,750.00 s 55,000.00 s 55,000.00 $ 54,000.00 $ 27,750.00 $ 27,750.00 $ 36,000.00 $ 22,500.00 $ 26,250.00 $ 398,000.00 

I af RR's m nHd af reno 20 20 18 10 8 8 6 6 6 102 

IRESI1ROOM I($35Kper) s 700,000.00 >$ 700,000.00 $ 630,000.00 $ 350.000.00 $ 280.000.00 s 28C s 210,000.00 $ 210,000.00 s 210,000.00 s < an nnn nn 

~$=TER I i($1011)/ IOU .. ~ 

10,000.00 s 10,000.00 $ 
$ 15,500.00 $ 15,500.00 $ 15,500.00 s 10,000.00 s 10,000.00 s 10,000.00 s 10,000.00 $ 106,500.00 

PAINTING UPGRADE s 100,000.00 IS 75,000.00 $ 75,000.00 s 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 s 50,000.00 s 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 550 

$ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ '465.ii6.28 s 465.ll6.2s' $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 s 465,116.28 $ 4 186046.51 

n IN:YI '"'I per dull $ 364,000.00 s 185,500.00 $ 199,500.00 $ 98.000.00 $ 175.000.00 $ 133.000.00 s 185,500.00 $ 122,500.00 $ 
105,000.00 $ 1 '"" nnn nn 

i (35K +111Kfar....-rl Is 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 s 45,000.00 s 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 s 45, 1.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 405,000.00 

IVPRUI'IiRAD~ $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 s 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 s 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25, ).00 $ 25, s 125,000.00 

~-·-IPHY51tAI.I IUPG~ES 
s 50,000.00 s s $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 s 

100,000.00 $ 650,000.00 

5HADESI1 s $ $ 00.( .00 $ 1oD.OOD.OO s lOO.OOO.OO $ $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 500,000.00 

STAGEFLOORS..nu"""" $ 7,000.00 s $ s 10.1 $ .00 s 10.000.00 s 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 84,000.00 

ES 
-ttn nnn por HS dusroDm; $10,0110 per s 272,500.00 

. Media Center) s 175,000.00 s 50,000.00 $ 580,000.00 $ 220,000.00 $ 385,000.00 $ 295,000.00 $ 407,500.00 s 235,000.00 $ ? <?n nnn nn 

COURT s 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 25,000.00 s 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 s 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 s 25,000.00 s 450,000.00 

~FLOORING I $ $ 225,000.00 $ -100,000.00 $ $ s s s - $ 
I SEATING UPGRADES s 300,000.00 $ 125.000.00 s $ $ $ . s . s 525,000.00 

TRACK UPGRADES s 750,000.00 s - $ $ $ . s . s . s 750,000.00 

AELD UPGRADES (FB/BBISF .$9/11) $ s s . s $ s . $ . s s ;nn nnn nn 

ADDITION (ZM per I) ·~· s . '"" nnn.nn s 0. •n OM 0. s s ,..nnMnn• $ nM non no s $ 4,000,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00 s 2,000,000.00 s ?1 '"" nnn nn 
IUoui Ptll 

- ov'Cl, .:05'1' .:ENTER $ 15,910,366.28 $ 0 < ?O 11 < ?0 ' $ 3,766,116.28 $ 5,007,116.28 $ 7 ,124,866.28 $ 3,000,866.28 $ 6 ,807,116 .28 $ 4,563,216.28 $ 4,688,366.28 $ 59,496,146.51 

Page 266 of 372

DRAFT



So ... What does this mean 
for Middleburg? 

• 
Page 267 of 372

DRAFT



MIDDLEBURG FEEDER PER SCHOOL 

Shadowlawn Elementary 
$4,404,116.28 

Average Facility Age: 32 years 
Total Instructional Units: 449 
IDENTIFIED NEED: $52,681,296.51 Coppergate Elementary 

$4,294,866. 

RideOut Elementary 
$4,473,866.28 

Tynes Elementary 
$4,819,991.28 

Clay Hill Elementary 
$2,573,866.28 

Middleburg 
Elementary 

$4,827,116.28 

lake Asbury Junior High 
$4,819,991.28 

Middleburg High 
$14,258,491.28 

Wilkinson Junior High 
$8,208,991.28 

Page 268 of 372

DRAFT



MIDDLEBURG FEEDER PATTERN SCHOOl/COST CENTER 

PROPOSED PROJECT/UPGRADE Mlddlebura Hlch 
Wllldn5011 Junior IJikeAsbury Mlddlebura OayHlll Tynes RideOut Copperpte Shad owl awn TOTAL 

Hllh Junior Hllh Elementary Elementary Elementary Elementary Elementary Elementary 
YEAR BUILT 1979 1976 2004 1938 1984 1994 2000 2005 2007 

AGE 40 43 15 81 35 25 19 14 12 31.6 

ltafiU's 109 39 47 38 29 63 38 39 47 449 
FIREALARM ·. •. ..... $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 16,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 64,000.00 
CAMERA (Eiem-1511: Jr · lOOK; Sr •USIC) : $ 40,000.00 $ $ $ 60,000.00 $ 60,000.00 $ 60,000.00 $ 60,000.00 $ $ 60,000.00 $ 340,000.00 

SECURilY AlARM (SOIC) ·. · ~-~ '.~ . $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 450,000.00 
CONTROUED ACCESS (SSK) ·.· .· .. $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 495,000.00 
EXTERNAL PA COMMUNICATION '., $ $ $ -· $ $ $ $ 5,000.00 $ - $ $ 5,000.00 
EXTERIORCAMPUSUGHTING ,., 

(Update to lfD)'· ''· $ 180,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 30,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 40,000.00 $ 30,000.00 $ 30,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 420,000.00 
TRAFFIC SIGNAGE .·.· $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 9,000.00 
PAVEMENT MARKING $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 45,000.00 

FENONG ; $ 20,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ $ $ $ 20,000.00 $ $ $ 70,000.00 
SAFm NETTING (Athletic) . $ 50,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 50,000.00 
COVERED WAI!I.WAY UPGRADES .. $ 80,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 40,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ $ 20,000.00 $ $ $ 186,000.00 

#ofHVACIU's 47 33 23 33 15 36 9 6 4 206 
HVAC BARO UNITS (SKI $ 235,000.00 $ 165,000.00 $ 115,000.00 $ 165,000.00 $ 75,000.00 $ 180,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 30,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 1,030,000.00 
OTHERHVAC . $ 1,200,000.00 $ 280,000.00 $ 450,000.00 $ 210,000.00 $ 390,000.00 $ $ 350,000.00 $ 560,000.00 $ 560,000.00 $ 4,000,000.00 
HVAC CONTROLSJr.H ·$170,000Sr;H -$180,000 $ $ 170,000.00 $ $ $ 170,000.00 $ $ 170,000.00 $ $ $ 510,000.00 
ROOANG · MAJOR STRUCTIJRE (Ufespan 20 years; 
Meta130f-) $ 1,025,000.00 $ 963,000.00 $ $ 500,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ $ 2,488,000.00 
KITCHEN EQUIPMENT 1 serv In - $225K; 2serv In • 
$260K; 3 serv In - $300k; 4 serv In • $335k $ 410,000.00 $ 260,000.00 $ 300,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 2,320,000.00 
KITCHEN RENOVATION $ 200,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ $ $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ $ $ $ 500,000.00 

CAFETERIA EXPANSION $ 1,500,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 1,500,000.00 

CAFETERIA SEATING ES:Cap/4•$&00 5: Cap/12•1500 $ 59,375.00 $ 51,875 .00 $ 57,875.00 $ 36,000.00 $ 27,750.00 $ 58,500.00 $ 63,750.00 $ 63,750.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 463,875.00 

#of RR's In need of reno 20 14 0 6 6 6 6 0 0 58 
RESTROOM RENOVATION ($35K per) $ 700,000.00 $ 490,000.00 $ $ 210,000.00 $ 210,000.00 $ 210,000.00 $ 210,000.00 $ $ $ 2,030,000.00 

#atWATER FOUNTAINS ($8001/ FIWNG STATIONS 
($2,500) $ 15,500.00 $ 15,500.00 $ 15,500.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 106,500.00 

PAINTING UPGRADE $ 100,000.00 $ 75,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 525,000.00 

TECHNOLOGY INFRASTRUCTIJRE a DEVICE REFRESH $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 4,186,046.51 

ClASSROOM TECHNOLOGY UPGRADES (3.5K per dau) $ 381,500.00 $ 136,500.00 $ 164,500.00 $ 133,000.00 $ 101,500.00 $ 220,500.00 $ 133,000.00 $ 136,500.00 $ 164,500.00 $ 1,571,500.00 

DIGITAL SIGNAGE (35K +lDK for power) $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 405,000.00 

TVPR UPGRADES $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 225,000.00 

ELEMENTARY PHYSICAL EDUCATION UPGRADES ($1001C) $ 50,000.00 $ $ 30,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000. 00 $ 680,000.00 

SHAOE STRUCTIJRES (Permanent) $ $ $ $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 500,000.00 

STAGE FLOORS AND CURTAINS $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 90,000.00 

SCHOOL FIJRNITURE REPLACEMENT ($7,500 perES 
dassrDCIIII; $10,000 per HS dassrDCIIII; $10,000 per 
Medii Center) $ 1,100,000.00 $ 400,000.00 $ 480,000.00 $ 295,000.00 $ 227,500.00 $ 482,500.00 $ 295,000.00 $ 302,500.00 $ 362,500.00 $ 3,945,000.00 

COURT RESIJRFACING ($25k/court) ~ $ 175,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 450,000.00 

GYM FLOORING REPLACEMENT $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 300,000.00 

STADIUM/GYM SEATING UPGRADES $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 675,000.00 

l1IACK UPGRADES $ 350,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 350,000.00 

RELO UPGRADES (FB/BB/SF @1$9/sf) $ 900,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 900,000.00 

II:APITALI .... 
AODmON (2M per 8) $ 4,500,000.00 $ 4,000,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00 $ $ 4,000,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00 $ 22,500,000.00 

U.Ult I'KUJI:LI Nl:tUlt "".-"'""" """' I'I:K --... -~ 

CENTER $ 14,258,491.28 $ 8,208,991.28 $ 4,819,991.28 $ 4,827,116.28 $ 2,573,866.28 $ 4,819,991.28 $ 4,473,866.28 $ 4,294,866.28 $ 4,404,116.28 $ 52,681,296.51 

Page 269 of 372

DRAFT



So ... What does this mean 
for Ridgeview? 

Page 270 of 372

DRAFT



RIDGEVIEW FEEDER PER SCHOOL 

lakeside Elementary 
$6,807,116.28 

Ridgeview Elementary 
$6,719,366.28 

Tynes Elementary 
$6,523,616.28 

RideOut Elementary 
$4,473,866.28 

Doctors Inlet Elementary 
$4,471,866.28 

I 
lakeside Junior High 

$3,768,088.28 

Average Facility Age: 34 years 
Total Instructional Units: 536 

IDENTIFIED NEED: $67,497,134.79 

Orange Park Junior High 
$8,628,116.28 

lake Asbury Junior High 
$4,819,991.28 

Wilkinson Junior High 
$8,208,991.28 

Page 271 of 372

DRAFT



RIDGEVIEW FEEDER PATTERN SCHOOL/COST CENTER 

I PROPOSED PROJECI'/UPG_RAOE · RidpvlewHIJh 
lake Albury Wftldnson Junior Or•n1e ~rk ':' lake!ld• Junior RideOut ' Rldievlow lakellde Docton Inlet TOTAL 
JunlorHiah Hlah Junior Hl&h iillh Elementary 

Tynes Elementllry 
Elementary ·· Elementary El~~~~~entllry 

YEAR BUILT 1985 2004 1976 1975 1972 2000 1994 1983 1974 1977 

AGE 34 15 43 44 47 19 25 36 45 42 35 
#of IU's 101 47 39 53 57 38 63 37 53 48 536 

FIRE ALARM $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 16,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 70,000.00 
CAMERA (Eiem-85K; Jr- lOOK; Sr ·USK) $ 40,000.00 $ $ $ 70,000.00 $ $ 60,000.00 $ 60,000.00 $ 60,000.00 $ $ 40,000.00 $ 330,000.00 
SECURITY ALARM (50K) $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 500,000.00 
CONTROLLED ACCESS (55K) $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 550,000.00 
EXTERNAl PA COMMUNICATION $ $ $ $ $ $ 5,000.00 $ $ $ 5,000.00 $ $ 10,000.00 
EXTERIOR CAMPUS LIGHTING 

(Update to LED) $ 180,000.00 $ 20,000.00 
$ 50,000.00 $ 40,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 30,000.00 $ 40,000.00 $ 30,000.00 $ 30,000.00 $ 30,000.00 $ 500,000.00 

TRAFFIC SIGNAGE $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 10,000.00 
PAVEMENT MARKING $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 50,000.00 
FENCING $ 20,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ $ 10,000.00 $ $ 5,000.00 $ 115,000.00 

SAfETY NETTING (Athletic) $ 50,000.00 $ $ $ 50,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 100,000.00 
COVERED WALKWAY UPGRADES $ 120,000.00 $ 40,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ $ 60,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ $ 20,000.00 $ 40,000.00 $ 4,000.00 $ 324,000.00 
I of HVAC IU's 64 23 33 22 28 9 36 33 36 31 315 

HVAC BARD UNITS (51<) $ 320,000.00 $ 115,000.00 $ 165,000.00 $ 110,000.00 $ 140,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 180,000.00 $ 165,000.00 $ 180,000.00 $ 155,000.00 $ 1,575,000.00 

- OTHERHVAC $ 610,000.00 $ 450,000.00 $ 280,000.00 $ 280,000.00 $ 350,000.00 $ 350,000.00 $ $ 140,000.00 $ 280,000.00 $ 350,000.00 $ 3,090,000.00 

HVAC CONTROLS Jr.H • $170.000 Sr.H -$180,000 $ $ $ 170,000.00 $ $ $ 170,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ 340,000.00 

ROOFING· MAJOR STRUCTURE (Lifespan 20 year1; 
$ 400,000.00 $ Metal 3D+) $ 963,000.00 $ 1,200,000.00 $ 144,000.00 $ $ $ 351,000.00 $ 216,000.00 $ 235,000.00 $ 3,509,000.00 

KITCHEN EQUIPMENT 1 serv In - $225K; 2 serv In· 
$ $260K; 3 serv In - $300k; 4 serv In • $335k 

410,000.00 $ 300,000.00 
$ 260,000.00 $ 260,000.00 $ 260,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 260,000.00 $ $ 2,425,000.00 

KITCHEN RENOVATION $ 200,000.00 $ $ 100,000.00 $ $ 100,000.00 $ $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ $ 700,000.00 

CAFETERIA EXPANSION $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
CAFETERIA SEATING ES:Cap/4°$600 5: 

$ 75,000.00 $ 57,875.00 
Cap/12°1500 $ 51,875.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 63,750.00 $ 58,500.00 $ 44,250.00 $ 36,000.00 $ 27,750.00 $ 525,000.00 

II of RR's In need of reno 20 0 14 20 18 6 6 6 6 4 100 

RESTROOM RENOVATION ($35K per) $ 700,000.00 $ $ 490,000.00 $ 700,000.00 $ 630,000.00 $ 210,000.00 $ 210,000.00 $ 210,000.00 $ 210,000.00 $ 140,000.00 $ 3,500,000.00 

#of WATER FOUNTAINS ($BOO)/ FILLING STATIONS 
$ 15,500.00 $ 15,500.00 

($2,500) $ 15,500.00 $ 15,500.00 $ 15,500.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 127,500.00 

PAINTING UPGRADE $ 100,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 75,000.00 $ 75,000.00 $ 75,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 625,000.00 

TECHNOLOGY INFRASTRUCTURE & DEVICE 
$ $ 

REFRESH 
465,116.28 465,116.28 

$ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 4,651,162.79 

CLASSROOM TECHNOLOGY UPGRADES (3.5K per 

class) $ 353,500.00 $ 164,500.00 $ 136,500.00 $ 185,500.00 $ 199,500.00 $ 133,000.00 $ 220,500.00 $ 129,500.00 $ 185,500.00 $ 168,000.00 $ 1,876,000.00 

DIGITALSIGNAGE (35K +10K for power) $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 . $ 450,000.00 

TVPR UPGRADES $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 250,000.00 

ELEMENTARY PHYSICAL EDUCATION UPGRADES 

($lOOK) $ 50,000.00 $ 30,000.00 $ $ $ $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 580,000.00 

SHADE STRUCTURES (Permanent) $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ $ 100,000.00 $ 300,000.00 

STAGE FLOORS AND CURTAINS $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 100,000.00 

SCHOOL FURNITURE REPLACEMENT ($7 ,500 per ES 
classroom; $10,000 per HS classroom; $10,000 per 
Media Center) $ 1,020,000.00 $ 480,000.00 $ 400,000.00 $ 540,000.00 $ 580,000.00 $ 295,000.00 $ 482,500.00 $ 287,500.00 $ 407,500.00 $ 370,000.00 $ 4,862,500.00 

COURT RESURFAONG ($25k/court) $ 175,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 575,000.00 

GYM FLOORING REPLACEMENT $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ $ 500,000.00 

STADIUM/GYM SEATING UPGRADES $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ $ 1,125,000.00 

TRACK UPGRADES $ 350,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 350,000.00 

FIELD UPGRADES (FB/BB/SF 1!1$9/sf) $ 900,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 900,000.00 
CAPITAl IMPROVEMENTS · PERMANENT 
CLASSROOM ADDITION (2M per 8) $ 6,000,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00 $ 4,000,000.00 $ 4,000,000.00 $ $ 2,000,000.00 $ 4,000,000.00 $ 4,000,000.00 $ 4,000,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00 $ 32,000,000.00 

1 LW~ PRUJtLI NttiJ> ~r•~~• 'un• etK 

SCHOOL/COST CENTER $ 13,076,116.28 $ 4,819,991.28 $ 8,208,991.28 $ 8,628,116.28 $ 3,768,088.28 $ 4,473,866.28 $ 6,523,616.28 $ 6,719,366.28 $ 6,807,116.28 $ 4,471,866.28 $ 67,497,134.79 

Page 272 of 372

DRAFT



So ... What does this mean 
for Fleming Island? 

Page 273 of 372

DRAFT



FLEMING ISLAND FEEDER PER SCHOOL 

Swimming Pen Creek 
Elementary 

$2,567,116.28 

Paterson Elementary 
$9,062,466.28 

Thunderbolt Elementary 
$8,442,116.28 

Fleming Island Elementary 
$3,721,616.28 

Lake Asbury Junior High 
$4,819,991.28 

Fleming Island High 
1.&."'9o'"'t;;J.&.I 741.28 

Average,..Facility Age: 30 years 

Total Instructional Units: 462 
IDENTIFIED NEED: $54,513,030.23 

Green Cove Springs Junior 
High $7,641,866.28 

Lakeside Junior High 
$3,766,116.28 

Page 274 of 372

DRAFT



FLEMING ISLAND SCHOOL/COST CENTER 

PROPOSED PROJECT/U~{?rt.~ ••-- Aeml~~~~~~ Gran~# lalwlde Junlclt t ~~~~+ ,'Aemllllillal!d;{ ~~ :.~ ~SW!ninib ~· :o>, 'l111i~,f TOTAL 

I , Jum.-Jifah " k Hlah HIJh - ,Elementary ' ~ Elemenlary ·/ Creek ~lntill El~·_.;.; 

YEAR BUILT 2002 1952 1972 2004 1996 1992 2002 2000 

AGE 17 67 47 15 23 27 17 19 30.7 

tofiU's 104 45 53 47 57 55 30 71 462 

FIRE ALARM $ 6,000.00 s 240,000.00 $ 16,000.00 s 6,000.00 $ 200,000.00 $ 200,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 680,000.00 

CAMERA (Eiem-ISK; Jr- lOOK; Sr -USKI $ $ 200;000.00 $ $ $ 60,000.00 $ 60,000.00 $ 60,000.00 $ 60,000.00 $ 440,000.00 

SECURilY ALARM (50KI $ 50,000.00 s 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 s 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 s 400,000.00 

CONTROLLED ACCESS (SSK) $ 55,000.00 s 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 440,000.00 

EXTERNAL PA COMMUNICATION $ $ 65,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ $ $ $ - $ 5,000.00 $ 75,000.00 

EXTERIOR CAMPUS LIGHTING 
$ (Update to LED) $ 180,000.00 $ 125,000.00 

30,000.00 
$ 20,000.00 $ 40,000.00 $ 30,000.00 

$ 25,000.00 
$ 40,000.00 $ 490,000.00 

TRAFFIC SIGNAGE $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 8,000.00 

PAVEMENT MARKING $ 5,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 45,000.00 

FENCING $ 20,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ $ 10,000.00 $ 70,000.00 

SAFETY NETTING (Athletic) $ 50,000.00 s $ $ - $ - $ $ - $ $ 50,000.00 

COVERED WALKWAY UPGRADES s 40,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 40,000.00 $ 40,000.00 $ $ 20,000.00 $ - $ $ 160,000.00 

I of HVAC IU's 55 54 36 23 62 63 39 35 367 

HVAC BARD UNITS (SK) $ 275,000.00 $ 270,000.00 $ 180,000.00 $ 115,000.00 $ 310,000.00 $ 315,000.00 $ 195,000.00 $ 175,000.00 $ 1,835,000.00 

OTHERHVAC $ 1,120,000.00 $ 660,000.00 $ 280,000.00 $ 450,000.00 $ 260,000.00 $ 400,000.00 $ 350,000.00 $ $ 3,520,000.00 

HVAC CONTROLS Jr.H - $170,000 Sr.H -$180,000 $ $ 170,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ 170,000.00 $ 170,000.00 $ 510,000.00 

ROOFING - MAJOR STRUCTIJRE (Ufespan 20 years; 
$ 216,000.00 $ MetallO+) $ $ 1,332,000.00 $ $ - $ 60,000.00 $ 1,890,000.00 $ 3,498,000.00 

KITCHEN EQUIPMENT 1 serv In - $22511; 2 serv In -
$ 260,000.00 $ 225,000.00 

$260K; 3 serv In - $300k; 4 serv In - $335k $ 375,000.00 $ 260,000.00 $ 300,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 260,000.00 $ 2,130,000.00 

KITCHEN RENOVATION $ $ $ 100,000.00 $ $ 100,000.00 $ $ $ $ 200,000.00 

CAFETERIA EXPANSION $ s $ - $ $ - $ $ - $ $ 
CAFETERIA SEATING ES:Cap/4°$600 S: Cap/U0 1500 $ 110,125.00 $ 58,250.00 $ 36,000.00 $ 57,875.00 $ 58,500.00 $ 76,350.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 54,000.00 $ 496,100.00 

t of RR's In need of reno 10 4 6 0 8 6 6 4 44 

RESTROOM RENOVATION ($35K per) $ 350,000.00 $ 140,000.00 $ 210,000.00 $ $ 280,000.00 $ 210,000.00 $ 210,000.00 $ 140,000.00 $ 1,540,000.00 

I of WATER FOUNTAINS ($BOO)/ FILLING STATIONS 
$ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 

($2,500) $ 15,500.00 $ 15,500.00 $ 15,500.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 96,500.00 

PAINTING UPGRADE $ 100,000.00 $ 75,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $. 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 475,000.00 

TECHNOLOGY INFRASTRUCTURE & DEVICE REFRESH $ 465,116.28 s 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 3, 720,930.23 

CLASSROOM TECHNOLOGY UPGRADES (3.5K per class) $ 364,000.00 s 157,500.00 
$ 185,500.00 

$ 164,500.00 $ 199,500.00 $ 192,500.00 
$ 105,000.00 

$ 248,500.00 $ 1,617,000.00 

DIGITAL SIGNAGE (35K +lOK for power) $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 360,000.00 

TVPR UPGRADES $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 200,000.00 

ELEMENTARY PHYSICAL EDUCATION UPGRADES 

($lOOK) $ 30,000.00 $ 
$ 100,000.00 

$ 30,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 
$ 100,000.00 

$ 100,000.00 $ 560,000.00 

SHADE STRUCTURES (Permanent) $ s $ - $ $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ $ 200,000.00 

STAGE FLOORS AND CURTAINS $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 80,000.00 

SCHOOL FURNITURE REPLACEMENT ($7,500 perES 

classroom; $10,000 per HS classroom; $10,000 per $ 235,000.00 
Media Center) $ 1,050,000.00 $ 482,500.00 $ 407,500.00 $ 480,000.00 $ 437,500.00 $ 422,500.00 $ 542,500.00 $ 4,057,500.00 

COURT RESURFACING ($25k/court) $ 175,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 425,000.00 

GYM FLOORING REPLACEMENT $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ $ 100,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ 300,000.00 

STADIUM/GYM SEATING UPGRADES $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ $ 225,000.00 $ - $ $ - $ $ 675,000.00 

TRACK UPGRADES $ 350,000.00 $ 350,000.00 $ - $ $ $ $ $ $ 700,000.00 

FIELD UPGRADES (FB/BB/SF 11$9/sf) $ 900,000.00 $ $ - $ $ $ $ - $ s 900,000.00 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS- PERMANENT CLASSROOM 

ADDITION (2M per 8) $ 8,000,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00 $ 4,000,000.00 $ 2,000,00P,.OO $ 600,000.00 $ 6,000,000.00 $ $ 4,000,000.00 $ 26,600,000.00 

CCDS PROJECT NEEDS EXPENDITURE PER SCHOOl/COST 
$ 54,513,030.23 CENTER $ 14,491,741 .28 $ 7,641,866.28 $3,766,116.28 $ 4,819,991.28 $ 3,721,616.28 $ 9,062,466.28 $ 2,567,116.28 $ 8,442,116.28 

Page 275 of 372

DRAFT



So ... What does this mean 
for Oakleaf? 

Page 276 of 372

DRAFT



OAKLEAF FEEDER PER SCHOOL 

Plantation Oaks Elementary 
$4,404,116.28 

Argyle Elementary 
$2,606,116.28 

Tynes Elementary 
$6,523,616.28 

Oakleaf Village 
Elementary 

$4,583,116.28 

Average Facility Age: 19 years 
Total Instructional Units: 465 

Oakleaf High IDENTIFIED NEED: $39,217,322.67 

Oakleaf Junior High 
$4,000,000.00 

Wilkinson Junior High 
$8,208,991.28 

Page 277 of 372

DRAFT



OAKLEAF FEEDER PATTERN SCHOOL/COST CENTER 

I Wilkinson Junior OaklufVIIIqe l Plantation Oaks TOTAL 
PROPOSED PROJECT/UPGRADE Oakleaf Hilh Oaldelf Junior Hllh Hllh Elementary 

Tynes Elementary Arnie Elementary 
Elementlrv 

YEAR BUILT 2008 2005 1976 2007 1994 2005 2008 
AGE 11 14 43 12 25 14 11 18.6 

llofiU's 107 81 39 56 63 44 75 465 
FIRE ALARM $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 6,000.00 $ 42,000.00 
CAMERA (Eiem-85K; Jr • lOOK; Sr ·125K) $ 40,000.00 $ 40,000.00 $ . $ . $ 60,000.00 $ 60,000.00 $ 40,000.00 $ 240,000.00 
SECURITY ALARM (SDK) $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 350,000.00 
CONTROLLED ACCESS (SSK) $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 55,000.00 $ 385,000.00 
EXTERNAL PA COMMUNICATION $ - $ - $ $ - $ $ $ - $ -
EXTERIOR CAMPUS LIGHTING 

(Update to LED) $ 100,000.00 $ 40,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 40,000.00 $ 30,000.00 $ 20,000.00 $ 300,000.00 
TRAFFIC SIGNAGE $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 7,000.00 
PAVEMENT MARKING $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 5,000.00 $ 35,000.00 
FENCING $ $ $ 20,000.00 $ $ $ $ $ 20,000.00 
SAFETY NETTING (Athletic) $ 50,000.00 $ - $ - $ $ $ $ $ 50,000.00 
COVERED WALKWAY UPGRADES $ 20,000.00 $ - $ 20,000.00 $ $ - $ - $ - $ 40,000.00 
II of HVAC IU's $ 38.00 $ 45.00 $ 33.00 $ 12.00 $ 36.00 $ 51.00 $ 32.00 247 
HVAC BARD UNITS (SK) $ 190,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 165,000.00 $ 60,000.00 $ 180,000.00 $ 255,000.00 $ 160,000.00 $ 1,235,000.00 
OTHERHVAC $ $ 560,000.00 $ 280,000.00 $ 560,000.00 $ $ 380,000.00 $ 560,000.00 $ 2,340,000.00 
HVAC CONTROLS Jr.H • $170,000 Sr.H ·$180,000 $ $ $ 170,000.00 $ $ $ 170,000.00 $ - $ 340,000.00 
ROOFING • MAJOR STRUCTURE (Ufespan 20 years; 

Metal 3D+) $ - $ - $ 963,000.00 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 963,000.00 
KITCHEN EQUIPMENT 1 serv In · $225K; 2 serv In· 

$260K; 3 serv In • $300k; 4 serv In - $335k $ 410,000.00 $ 300,000.00 $ 260,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 260,000.00 $ 1,905,000.00 
KITCHEN RENOVATION $ - $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ $ $ 400,000.00 
CAFETERIA EXPANSION $ $ $ $ $ $ - $ $ 
CAFETERIA SEATING ES:tap/4•$600 S: tap/12•1500 $ 94,250.00 $ 75,000.00 $ 51,875.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 58,500.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 414,625.00 
II of RR's in need of reno $ $ $ 14.00 $ - $ 6.00 $ $ 20 
RESTROOM RENOVATION ($35K per) $ $ $ 490,000.00 $ $ 210,000.00 $ $ $ 700,000.00 
II of WATER FOUNTAINS ($800)/ FILLING STATIONS 

($2,500) $ 15,500.00 $ 15,500.00 $ 15,500.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 86,500.00 
PAINTING UPGRADE $ 100,000.00 $ 75,000.00 $ 75,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 450,000.00 
TECHNOLOGY INFRASTRUCTURE & DEVICE REFRESH $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 465,116.28 $ 3,255,813.95 

CLASSROOM TECHNOLOGY UPGRADES (3.5K per class) $ 374,500.00 $ 283,500.00 $ 136,500.00 $ 196,000.00 $ 220,500.00 $ 154,000.00 $ 262,500.00 $ 1,627,500.00 
DIGITAL SIGNAGE (35K +10K for power) $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 45,000.00 $ 315,000.00 
TVPR UPGRADES $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 175,000.00 

ELEMENTARY PHYSICAL EDUCATION UPGRADES ($lOOK) $ 30,000.00 $ $ $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 430,000.00 
SHADE STRUCTURES (Permanent) $ - $ $ $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 400,000.00 
STAGE FLOORS AND CURTAINS $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 10,000.00 $ 70,000.00 
SCHOOL FURNITURE REPLACEMENT ($7,500 perES 

classroom; $10,000 per HS classroom; $10,000 per 

Media Center) $ 1,080,000.00 $ 820,000.00 $ 400,000.00 $ 430,000.00 $ 482,500.00 $ 340,000.00 $ 572,500.00 $ 4,125,000.00 
COURT RESURFACING ($25k/court) $ 150,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 25,000.00 $ 375,000.00 
GYM FLOORING REPLACEMENT $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ 100,000.00 $ $ $ - $ - $ 300,000.00 
STADIUM/GYM SEATING UPGRADES $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ 225,000.00 $ · r $ $ $ - $ 675,000.00 
TRACK UPGRADES $ 350,000.00 $ $ $ - $ - $ $ - $ 350,000.00 
FIELD UPGRADES (FB/BB/SF @$9/sf) $ 900,000.00 $ $ $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 900,000.00 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS · PERMANENT CLASSROOM 

ADDITION (2M per B) $ 4,000,000.00 $ 4,000,000.00 $ 4,000,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00 $ 4,000,000.00 $ 4,000,000.00 $ 2,000,000.00 $ 24,000,000.00 
~PROJti:C. NEEDS tXPtNDII URt PtR .., 
CENTER $ 8,891,366.28 $ 4,000,000.00 $ 8,208,991.28 $ 4,583,116.28 $ 6,523,616.28 $ 2,606,116.28 $ 4,404,116.28 $ 39,217,322.67 

Page 278 of 372

DRAFT



2019 ED.F.I.R.S.T- Checks & Ba·lances 

Above the Line! 

>- Citizen Oversight Committee 
>- 7 member (minimum) group 
>- Professionals in Relevant Areas 
>- Review and Validation of ED.F.I.R.S.T Expenditures 

>- Leadership You Can Believe In! 

Page 279 of 372

DRAFT



Safety and Security Upgrades 

Page 280 of 372

DRAFT



..., 
QJ 
c. 
tD 
V) 

I 
n 
::r -· --

-
20 
n 
0 
::l 
r+ ..., 
0 -

Page 281 of 372

DRAFT



Facilities Upgrades 

Page 282 of 372

DRAFT



Plumbing Upgrades 

Page 283 of 372

DRAFT



. Kitchen and Cafeteria Improvements 

•
• 

. 

Page 284 of 372

DRAFT



1 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

FORM OF NOTICE OF ELECTION 

 

NOTICE OF ELECTION 

TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 3, 2020 

IN 

CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT AN ELECTION HAS BEEN CALLED BY THE BOARD 

OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA, AT THE REQUEST OF 

THE SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA, FROM 7:00 A.M. UNTIL 7:00 P.M. 

ON TUESDAY, THE 3RD DAY OF NOVEMBER 2020, AT WHICH TIME THERE SHALL 

BE SUBMITTED TO THE DULY QUALIFIED ELECTORS OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA, 

THE FOLLOWING QUESTION: 

 

 

SHALL A ONE-HALF CENT SALES SURTAX BE LEVIED IN 

CLAY COUNTY BY THE SCHOOL BOARD FOR THIRTY 

YEARS, BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2021, TO FINANCE 

CONSTRUCTION, RECONSTRUCTION, RENOVATION, AND 

REMODELING OF FACILITIES, SAFETY, SECURITY, 

TECHNOLOGY UPGRADES, VEHICLES, LAND 

ACQUISITION AND IMPROVEMENT. A LIST OF PROJECTS 

HAS BEEN PUBLISHED; A CITIZENS ADVISORY 

COMMITTEE WILL MONITOR EXPENDITURES. REVENUES 

COLLECTED MUST BE SHARED WITH ELIGIBLE CHARTER 

SCHOOLS BASED ON THEIR PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF 

TOTAL SCHOOL DISTRICT ENROLLMENT. 

 

 

 

Instructions to Voters: 

 

________  YES, FOR THE 1/2% (0.5 cents) TAX  

 

_________  NO, AGAINST THE 1/2% (0.5 CENTS) TAX 

 

 

AN AMENDED RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, 

FLORIDA, ON JUNE 4, 2020, PROVIDES FOR THE IMPOSITION OF A ONE-HALF CENT 

SALES TAX, THE PROCEEDS OF WHICH SHALL BE EXPENDED BY THE SCHOOL 

BOARD FOR FIXED CAPITAL EXPENDITURES OR FIXED CAPITAL COSTS 

ASSOCIATED WITH THE CONSTRUCTION, RECONSTRUCTION OR IMPROVEMENT 

OF SCHOOL FACILITIES AND CAMPUSES WHICH HAVE A USEFUL LIFE 

Page 285 of 372

DRAFT



2 

 

EXPECTANCY OF FIVE (5) OR MORE YEARS, AND ANY LAND ACQUISITION, LAND 

IMPROVEMENT, DESIGN AND ENGINEERING COSTS RELATED THERETO, AND FOR 

THE COSTS OF RETROFITTING AND PROVIDING FOR TECHNOLOGY AND SAFETY 

AND SECURITY IMPLEMENTATION, INCLUDING HARDWARE AND SOFTWARE, FOR 

THE VARIOUS SITES WITHIN THE DISTRICT.  SUCH PROCEEDS AND INTEREST 

THEREON MAY ALSO BE USED FOR THE PURPOSE OF SERVICING BOND 

INDEBTEDNESS ISSUED TO FINANCE PROJECTS AUTHORIZED ABOVE. THE 

REVENUES COLLECTED MUST BE SHARED WITH ELIGIBLE CHARTER SCHOOLS 

BASED UPON THEIR PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE TOTAL SCHOOL DISTRICT 

ENROLLMENT AND MAY BE USED OR EXPENDED BY THE CHARTER SCHOOLS IN A 

MANNER CONSISTENT WITH THE ALLOWABLE USES SET FORTH IN S.1013.62(4), 

FLORIDA STATUTES. 

 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CONSTITUTION AND THE ELECTION LAWS OF THE 

STATE OF FLORIDA, ALL DULY QUALIFIED ELECTORS OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA, 

SHALL BE ENTITLED TO VOTE IN THE ELECTION OF WHICH THIS NOTICE 

PERTAINS. 

 

THE SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA, SHALL BE AUTHORIZED TO 

LEVY THE TAX COVERED BY THE QUESTION STATED ABOVE IF THE QUESTION IS 

APPROVED BY VOTE OF A MAJORITY OF THE DULY QUALIFIED ELECTORS OF 

CLAY COUNTY, VOTING THEREON. 

 

Page 286 of 372

DRAFT



1 

 

EXHIBIT C 

 

ALLOWABLE USES FOR WHICH CHARTER SCHOOLS MAY EXPEND COLLECTED 

REVENUES FROM HALF-CENT SALES SURTAX 

 

 

A charter school’s governing body may use charter school capital outlay funds for the 

following purposes: 

(a) Purchase of real property. 

(b) Construction of school facilities. 

(c) Purchase, lease-purchase, or lease of permanent or relocatable school facilities. 

(d) Purchase of vehicles to transport students to and from the charter school. 

(e) Renovation, repair, and maintenance of school facilities that the charter school owns or is 

purchasing through a lease-purchase or long-term lease of 5 years or longer. 

(f) Payment of the cost of premiums for property and casualty insurance necessary to insure 

the school facilities. 

(g) Purchase, lease-purchase, or lease of driver’s education vehicles; motor vehicles used for 

the maintenance or operation of plants and equipment; security vehicles; or vehicles used in 

storing or distributing materials and equipment. 

(h) Purchase, lease-purchase, or lease of computer and device hardware and operating system 

software necessary for gaining access to or enhancing the use of electronic and digital 

instructional content and resources; and enterprise resource software applications that are 

classified as capital assets in accordance with definitions of the Governmental Accounting 

Standards Board, have a useful life of at least 5 years, and are used to support school-wide 

administration or state-mandated reporting requirements. Enterprise resource software may be 

acquired by annual license fees, maintenance fees, or lease agreement. 

(i) Payment of the cost of the opening day collection for the library media center of a new 

school. 

 

Page 287 of 372

DRAFT



1 
 

AMENDED RESOLUTION 

 

 

RESOLUTION CALLING FOR AND PROVIDING FOR THE HOLDING 

OF A REFERENDUM ELECTION TO BE HELD IN CLAY COUNTY, 

FLORIDA, AT THE GENERAL ELECTION  ON NOVEMBER 3, 2020, TO 

DETERMINE IF THE ELECTORS IN THE SCHOOL DISTRICT OF CLAY 

COUNTY, FLORIDA, APPROVE THE LEVY BY THE SCHOOL BOARD 

OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA, OF A ONE-HALF CENT PER DOLLAR 

SALES SURTAX WHICH THE SCHOOL BOARD MUST SHARE WITH 

ELIGIBLE CHARTER SCHOOLS BASED ON THEIR PROPORTIONATE 

SHARE OF TOTAL DISTRICT ENROLLMENT, TO BE USED TO 

FINANCE FUNDING OF FIXED CAPITAL EXPENDITURES OR FIXED 

CAPITAL COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE CONSTRUCTION, 

RECONSTRUCTION OR  IMPROVE-MENT OF SCHOOL FACILITIES 

AND CAMPUSES WHICH HAVE A USEFUL LIFE EXPECTANCY OF 

FIVE (5) OR MORE YEARS AND ANY LAND ACQUISITION, LAND 

IMPROVEMENT, DESIGN, AND ENGINEERING COSTS RELATED 

THERETO, EQUIPMENT, INCLUDING COSTS OF PURCHASING, 

RETROFITTING AND PROVIDING FOR TECHNOLOGY 

IMPLEMENTATION, INCLUDING HARDWARE AND SOFTWARE, FOR 

THE VARIOUS SITES WITHIN THE SCHOOL DISTRICT, SAFETY AND 

SECURITY IMPROVEMENTS,  SERVICING BOND INDEBTEDNESS TO 

FINANCE PROJECTS AUTHORIZED BY THIS RESOLUTION AND FOR 

ALLOWABLE USES BY CHARTER SCHOOLS AS SET FORTH IN S. 

1013.62(4) F.S.; PROVIDING FOR NOTICE OF THE REFERENDUM 

ELECTION; PROVIDING FOR PLACES OF VOTING, INSPECTORS 

AND CLERKS; PROVIDING FOR AN OFFICIAL BALLOT; PROVIDING 

FOR ABSENTEE VOTING; PROVIDING FOR EARLY VOTING; 

PROVIDING FOR PRINTING OF BALLOTS; PROVIDING FOR 

REFERENDUM RESULTS; PROVIDING FOR REFERENDUM 

ELECTION PROCEDURE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 

PROVIDING A REPEALING CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 BE IT RESOLVED, by the School Board of Clay County, Florida (“the Board”), acting 

as the governing body of the School District of Clay County, Florida (“the District”), as follows: 

 

 SECTION 1 – AUTHORITY FOR RESOLUTION:  This Resolution is adopted 

pursuant to Section 212.055(6), Florida Statutes, and other applicable provisions of law. 

 

 SECTION 2 – FINDINGS:  It is hereby found and determined that: 

 

 A. The School Board of Clay County, Florida ("the Board"), through the District, has 

developed a long range capital outlay needs assessment establishing those needs on the basis of 

growth projected in Clay County, Florida. 

Page 288 of 372

DRAFT



2 
 

 

 B. The School Board has determined that it has insufficient existing capital outlay 

funding to meet its established capital outlay needs of site acquisition, new construction, 

reconstruction and renovation of school facilities and technology and security acquisition, 

retrofitting and upgrades for school facilities, which needs are being driven by growth in Clay 

County, Florida. 

 

 C. The Board has experienced substantial funding reductions in recent years related to 

capital expenditures and fixed capital costs associated with new construction, reconstruction and 

improvement of school facilities, including safety and security improvements and technology 

upgrades. 

 

 D.  Section 212.055(6), Florida Statutes, authorizes school boards, such as The School 

Board of Clay County, Florida (the “Board”), to levy a discretionary capital outlay sales surtax not 

to exceed one-half cent per dollar on all taxable transactions for the purpose of funding of fixed 

capital expenditures or fixed capital costs associated with the construction, reconstruction or 

improvement of existing schools and school facilities and campuses which have a useful life 

expectancy of five (5) or more years and land acquisition, land improvement, design and 

engineering costs related thereto, equipment, including costs of purchasing, retrofitting and 

providing for technology implementation, including hardware and software for the various sites 

within the school district, safety and security improvements and servicing bond indebtedness to 

finance the above referenced projects, upon approval by a majority vote of the electors of Clay 

County, Florida.  

 

 E. The levy of a one-half cent school capital outlay sales surtax as authorized by 

Section 212.055(6), Florida Statutes, for a period of thirty (30) years, commencing on January 1, 

2021, and terminating on December 31, 2050, is necessary for the Board to provide sufficient 

funds to sustain its facilities and to fund new facilities needed to accommodate growing 

enrollment. The revenues collected must be shared with eligible charter schools based upon their 

proportionate share of total school district enrollment and may be expended by the charter schools 

in a manner consistent with the allowable uses set forth in s.1013.62(4), Florida Statutes.  The 

sales surtax proceeds shall be used for the purpose of funding of fixed capital expenditures or fixed 

capital costs associated with the construction, reconstruction or improvement of existing schools 

and school facilities and campuses which have a useful life expectancy of five (5) or more years 

and land acquisition, land improvement, design and engineering costs related thereto, equipment, 

including costs of purchasing, retrofitting and providing for technology implementation, including 

hardware and software for the various sites within the school district, safety and security 

improvements and servicing bond indebtedness to finance the above-referenced projects, upon 

approval by a majority vote of the electors of Clay County, Florida. The plan for the use of the 

surtax proceeds is set forth in composite Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and incorporated 

herein. The allowable uses by charter schools are set forth in Exhibit C, which is attached hereto 

and incorporated herein. 

 

 F. Neither the proceeds of the one-half cent school capital outlay sales surtax nor any 

interest accrued thereto shall be used for operational expenses 

 

Page 289 of 372

DRAFT



3 
 

 G. The levy of a one-half cent school capital outlay sales surtax is subject to the 

approval by the electors of Clay County at a referendum held as provided by Section 212.055(6), 

Florida Statutes, and if approved is hereby levied and shall be collected as authorized in the 

manner required by law. 

 

 H. A citizen advisory committee consisting of Clay County citizens, the purpose of 

which is to monitor and advise the Board and District staff on the expenditure of funds, shall be 

established and appointed pursuant to procedures established by School Board policy. 

 

 SECTION 3 – PLAN FOR USE OF SALES SURTAX PROCEEDS:  The proceeds of 

the school capital outlay sales surtax, as authorized by Section 212.055(6), Florida Statutes, shall 

be used for the purpose of funding of fixed capital expenditures or fixed capital costs associated 

with the construction, reconstruction or improvement of existing schools and school facilities and 

campuses which have a useful life expectancy of five (5) or more years and land acquisition, land 

improvement, design and engineering costs related thereto, equipment, including costs of 

purchasing, retrofitting and providing for technology implementation, including hardware and 

software for the various sites within the school district, safety and security improvements and 

servicing bond indebtedness to finance the above-referenced projects. The plan for use of the 

surtax proceeds is set forth in composite Exhibit A which is attached hereto and incorporated 

herein. The revenues shared with eligible charter schools may be expended by the charter schools 

in a manner consistent with the allowable uses set forth in s.1013.62(4), Florida Statutes. The 

allowable uses by charter schools are set forth in Exhibit C, which is attached hereto and 

incorporated herein. 

 

 

 SECTION 4 - LEVY OF SALES SURTAX:  Subject to approval of the electors of the 

District at a referendum held as provided in Section 212.055(6), Florida Statutes, a one-half cent 

school capital outlay surtax shall be levied by the Board and District and the same is hereby levied 

for a period commencing January 1, 2021, and shall remain in effect for a period of thirty (30) 

years, ending on December 31, 2050, and shall be collected as authorized  and in the manner 

required by law. 

 

 SECTION 5 - ELECTION ORDERED:  A referendum election is hereby directed to be 

held in Clay County to determine whether or not the Board may levy the Sales Surtax.  The Board 

hereby requests the Clay County Board of County Commissioners to direct the Supervisor of 

Elections of Clay County to place the required referendum election on the ballot for the General 

Election on November 3, 2020, and to include the statement(s) contained in the “Notice of 

Election” attached hereto as Exhibit B, and to conduct said election pursuant to the provisions of 

the election laws of the State of Florida on the date designated in this resolution. 

 

 SECTION 6 - NOTICE OF ELECTION - Not less than thirty (30) days prior to said 

referendum election, notice of said election shall be given by publication in a newspaper of general 

circulation throughout the District.  Such publication shall be made at least twice, once in the fifth 

week and once in the third week prior to the week of November 3, 2020, which notice shall be 

substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B together with such additional information as 

Page 290 of 372

DRAFT



4 
 

the Supervisor of Elections of Clay County shall require. Any costs associated with the publication 

of the Notice of Election shall be paid by the Board. 

 

 SECTION 7 - PLACES OF VOTING, INSPECTORS AND CLERKS:  The polls will 

be open at the voting places on the date of such referendum election from 7:00 a.m. until 7:00 p.m. 

All qualified electors residing within Clay County shall be entitled and permitted to vote at such 

referendum election on the proposition provided herein. The places of voting and the inspectors 

and clerks of the referendum election shall be those designated by the Supervisor of Elections of 

Clay County in accordance with law. 

 

 SECTION 8 - OFFICIAL BALLOT:  The ballots to be used in the referendum election 

shall be in full compliance with the laws of the State of Florida, and shall be in substantially the 

following form: 

OFFICIAL BALLOT 

 

LEVY OF ONE-HALF CENT SALES SURTAX 

FOR EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES, 

TECHNOLOGY, TRANSPORTATION AND SECURITY 

 

SHALL A ONE-HALF CENT SALES SURTAX BE LEVIED IN 

CLAY COUNTY BY THE SCHOOL BOARD FOR THIRTY 

YEARS, BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2021, TO FINANCE 

CONSTRUCTION, RECONSTRUCTION, RENOVATION, AND 

REMODELING OF FACILITIES, SAFETY, SECURITY, 

TECHNOLOGY UPGRADES, VEHICLES, LAND 

ACQUISITION AND IMPROVEMENT. A LIST OF PROJECTS 

HAS BEEN PUBLISHED; A CITIZENS ADVISORY 

COMMITTEE WILL MONITOR EXPENDITURES. REVENUES 

COLLECTED MUST BE SHARED WITH ELIGIBLE CHARTER 

SCHOOLS BASED ON THEIR PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF 

TOTAL SCHOOL DISTRICT ENROLLMENT. 

 

Instructions to Voters: 

 

________  YES, FOR THE 1/2% (0.5 cents) TAX  

 

_________  NO, AGAINST THE 1/2% (0.5 CENTS) TAX 

 

 

 SECTION 9 - ABSENTEE VOTING:  Absentee electors participating in said referendum 

shall be entitled to cast their ballots in accordance with the provisions of the laws of the State of 

Florida with respect to absentee voting.  The form of ballots to be used in such referendum election 

for absentee voters shall be the same as used at the polling places for such election. 

 

 SECTION 10 – EARLY VOTING:  Adequate provision shall be made for early voting 

on dates and at times and locations designated and determined by the Supervisor of Elections.  The 

Page 291 of 372

DRAFT



5 
 

form of ballots to be used in the referendum for early voting shall be the same as used in the polling 

places for the election.  

 

 SECTION 11 -  PRINTING OF BALLOTS:  The Supervisor of Elections of Clay County 

is authorized and directed to have printed a sufficient number of the aforesaid ballots for use of 

absentee electors entitled to cast such ballots in such referendum election and shall also have 

printed sample ballots and deliver them to the inspectors and clerks on or before the date and time 

for the opening of the polls for such referendum election for the voting places; and, further, is 

authorized and directed to make appropriate arrangements for the conduct of the election at the 

polling places specified. 

 

 SECTION 12 - ELECTION PROCEDURE:  The Supervisor of Elections shall hold, 

administer and conduct the referendum election in the manner prescribed by law for holding 

elections in the Clay County.  Returns shall show the number of qualified electors who voted at 

such referendum election on the proposition and the number of votes cast respectively for and 

against approval of the proposition.  The returns shall be canvassed in accordance with law.  

Provision will be made for early voting as required by Section 101.657, Florida Statutes. 

 

 SECTION 13 - REFERENDUM RESULTS:  If a majority of the ballots cast at such 

election shall be “FOR THE ONE-HALF CENT SURTAX,’ the levy of such surtax shall be 

approved and said surtax shall be levied as provided by law. 

 

 SECTION 14 - SEVERABILITY:  In the event that any word, phrase, clause, sentence 

or paragraph hereof shall be held invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall 

not affect any other word, clause, phrase, sentence or paragraph hereof. 

 

 SECTION 15 - REPEALING CLAUSE:  All resolutions in conflict or inconsistent 

herewith are repealed insofar as there is conflict or inconsistency. 

 

 SECTION 16 - EFFECTIVE DATE:  This amended resolution shall take effect 

immediately upon its adoption.  However, the surtax authorized hereunder shall only be effective 

upon approval by a majority vote of the qualified electors of Clay County. 

 

  

 DULY ADOPTED AND APPROVED this ______ day of June 2020, by the School Board 

of Clay County, Florida. 

    

 

                                   THE SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY 

       COUNTY, FLORIDA 

      

 

       By_________________________________ 

           CAROL STUDDARD, Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

Page 292 of 372

DRAFT



6 
 

 

 

________________________________ 

DAVID S. BROSKIE, Superintendent 

 

Page 293 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
D2 - Human Resources Special Action

Description
Florida Statutes (F.S. 1012.22(1)(9f), State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification
and/or action regarding decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5:  Develop and support great educators, support personnel, and leaders.

Recommendation
Approve the action as presented.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources  (904) 336 6701   brenda.troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 294 of 372

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

June 4, 2020 Regular School Board Meeting

Title
D3 -  ADVERTISE REVISIONS TO 2020- 21 CODE OF STUDENT CONDUCT

Description
 
Per statutory requirement, the 2020-21 Code of Student Conduct is being noticed prior to its official adoption by the School
Board of Clay County in August of 2020.  The Code of Student Conduct is a policy adopted by the district that defines and
describes the expected behavior of students while in the learning environment, and guidelines to administrators on addressing
conduct infractions through intervention and consequences.

Gap Analysis
The Code of Student Conduct is updated annually to address new statutory requirements and strengthen existing language based
on a review of discipline data profiles.  Due to the pandemic, additional language has been added to the Code to reflect student
expectations when utilizing distance learning as an extension of the traditional classroom and academic honesty. 

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
 
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 3: Establish a respectful climate and culture that provides equity and access to all. 

Recommendation
 
It is recommended that the School Board and Superintendent approve this notice for review of the 2020-21 Code of Student
Conduct.

Contact
Josh Kristol, Coordinator of Student Engagement, joshua.kristol@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

5_15_20 Code of Conduct Rationale Clay County District Schools.pdf

5_15_21 2020-2021 Handbook & Code of Studnt Conduct.pdf

Page 295 of 372

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/5_15_20-code-of-conduct-rationale-clay-county-district-schools.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/5_15_21-2020-2021-handbook-code-of-studnt-conduct.pdf


 

 

Clay County District Schools 

Student & Family Handbook and Code of Student Conduct 

Revisions for 2020-2021 

5/15/2020 

 

I. New Superintendent David Broskie 

a. New photograph(s) solo and with The School Board 

b. New Vision Statement 

II. “Distance Learning” 

a. Added to areas of focus such as academic honestly.  

b. Can be added to other locations upon request 

III. Dress Code 

a. “School ID’s must be worn at all times”, applies to schools that have purchased student ID’s 

b. Added “pornographic” to apparel that cannot be worn. 

c. Removed tight fitting clothing and identified specific clothes that cannot be worn. 

d. Added “muscle shirts” to above line for clarification and equality. 

IV. Additional Code(s) 

a. Room Clearing Event (RCE) – to be used to track information on students who have an impact 

on the learning environment 

b. Other Major (OMC) – addition of students selling unauthorized food on campus, vaping 

paraphernalia that is found not on a person. 

c. Tobacco/Vaping – more defined on student usage and possession. 

V. Immunizations 

a. Updated to the 2020-2021 school year. 

VI. Closing 

a. updated 

 

Page 296 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

 

STUDENT & FAMILY 
HANDBOOK and Code of 

Student Conduct  

 
  

  

 
  

Addison G. Davis David Broskie 

Superintendent of Schools  
  
  

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD  
District 1:  Janice Kerekes  
District 2:  Carol Studdard  
District 3:  Tina Bullock  
District 4:  Mary Bolla  
District 5:  Ashley Gilhousen 

  

 

Page 297 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

 

2019-2020 2020-2021 
 

    

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
  
INTRODUCTION ...................................................... 1  

Superintendents Message …........................... 1 
Jurisdiction of the School Board .....................1 

MISSION, VISION & PHILOSOPHY ........................2  
STUDENT RIGHTS & RESPONSIBILITIES ............3  

School Participation...................................... 3       
Learning Experience & Outcomes............…...3       
Freedom of Speech & Expression .................. 4       
Privacy and Property Rights ........................... 4       
Student Executive Offices .............................. 5       
Student Publications....................................... 5 
Pledge of Allegiance Notice ............................5   
Roles of Home, Student and School ................6 

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY: PREVENTION OF 
DISCRIMINATION, HARASSMENT & BULLYING 

Notice of Non-Discrimination ……………. 7  
Discrimination/Harassment ......................... 8       
Sexual Harassment ..........................................9 

Bullying ............................................................. 9   
Reporting & Retaliation ................................... 10        

Procedures for Investigation ......................... 11 
HOPE Scholarship ....................................... 11  

  Student-Led Organizations ............................. 11      
Student Activities, Athletics, &  
Extracurricular Activities ................................ 11        
Rules for Student Activities & Clubs .............. 12  

ATTENDANCE ........................................................ 13   
Compulsory School Attendance ................... 13   
Unexcused Absences | Truancy .................... 13        
Senior Attendance Policy ............................. 14       
Truancy ........................................................ 15  
Driver License .............................................. 15  
Make-Up Work ............................................ 15   

McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act ……..... 15  
STUDENT CONDUCT ............................................ 17  
Academic Honesty ............................................ 17  
Dress Code ........................................................ 17  
Student Use of the Internet ............................. 18       
Bring Your Own Device ................................ 18  
Student Conduct on School Buses.................... 19  
Youth Gang Membership ................................. 20  Zero 
Tolerance Rule ......................................... 20 
STUDENT ACCOUNTABILITY, DISCIPLINE &  
MISCONDUCT ............................................................ 
22  Hearing Office .................................................. 22  
Removal of Student from Class ........................ 23  
Suspension & Expulsion ................................... 23  
Investigations of Suspected Student  
 Misconduct ...................................................... 24  
Tobacco, Drugs & Alcohol ................................ 25  
Weapons in School........................................... 26       
Firearms ....................................................... 26  
Striking or Threatening School Board  
 Employee ......................................................... 26  
Discipline Action Matrix ................................... 27       
Elementary………................................................... 27       
Secondary………..................................................... 34       
Action Matrix ……................................................ 40  
Discipline & Students with Disabilities............. 41  
Students Charged with a Felony ............................... 43  
STUDENT SAFETY ................................................ 44  
Threat Management Assessments .................. 44       
FortifyFL………....................................................... 44  
Random Searches ............................................ 44  
Family Behavior & Expectations ...................... 45 
STUDENT HEALTH............................................... 46  

Page 298 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

 

Immunizations ................................................. 46  
Health Services Screenings ....................................... 46  
Live Lice Policy ................................................. 46  
Home Responsibility for General Health  
 Updates .................................................................... 48 
OTHER IMPORTANT INFORMATION FOR 
FAMILIES . 49  
Federal Educational Rights and Privacy Act ............ 49  
Child Abuse Reporting ............................................. 51  

Notice of Child Find Activities ................................ 52  
Use of Student Work, Video, & Photographs …….. 53  
Rights of Divorced Parents ....................................... 53 
Parental Concerns Regarding District  
Employee .................................................................. 53 
APPENDIX A: ACRONYMS & DEFINITIONS .... 54  
APPENDIX B: BEHAVIOR INFRACTION CODES 
……………………………………………………... 55  
  

  

      

Page 299 of 372

DRAFT



Page 300 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019 July 2020 Page | 1  

INTRODUCTION  
  
Dear Parents, Students, and Community Partners,  
   
Clay County District Schools has a proud tradition of excellence, and over the past three years we have established the 
system as one of the best in the state if not in the country.  From our students and their families, to teachers and their school 
administrators; from District staff and support personnel, to the teams that keep our buildings running, Clay County District 
Schools has truly become an educational environment for which everyone can be proud.  We have embraced a culture of 
learning and growth for ourselves as educators so that our students will ultimately benefit.  This Handbook reflects the 
values of our community, and keeps an eye to the future for what it means to be a student of the 21st Century: creative, 
informed, technologically literate, and flexible, but most of all a critical thinker.  A positive attitude, self-respect and respect 
for others, clear communication, and knowledge of expectations and standards is what we owe our learners, and each other 
as we navigate the incredible opportunities put before us.  Our collaboration with each other is key so that we hold each 
other accountable for what matters most – our kids.  
  
We look forward to working with you since this is the only way to truly Elevate Clay!  I look forward to a great school 
year!  
  
Respectfully,  
Addison G. Davis, Superintendent of Schools  
  

Jurisdiction of the School Board  
This Handbook and all of its referenced policies and procedures is in 
force at all times on all school campuses and properties, as well as such 
times and places, including but not necessarily limited to, school 
sponsored events, field trips, athletic functions and other activities where 
school administrators have jurisdiction over students.  Jurisdictional 
control over the student may extend to the immediate vicinity of the 
school when the conduct of the student is deemed to have a detrimental 
effect on the health, safety, or welfare of the school.  With respect to 
bullying and harassment behavior, jurisdiction of the  

Board extends to data or computer software accessed at a non-school  
related location, activity, function, or program, or to technology or an 

electronic device that is not owned, leased, or used by the Clay County District Schools.  
  
Our primary role as School Board members is to ensure the safety of all school district members and guests, and to craft 
policies that reflect the spirit of our communities while also considering the future of our most precious asset – the kids.  
This Handbook is just one of those guides that help to make our schools great.  We are honored to be given this opportunity, 
and look forward to the collaboration and partnership that makes Clay County a truly special place to live.  
  

    

Page 301 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 2   

, VISION & PHILOSOPHY  
 

 
  
Dear Parents, Students, and Community Partners,  
 
Together we faced an unprecedented pandemic with COVID-19 during the 
2019-2020 school year and this virus radically changed how we operated as a 
school district. During this difficult time, it was still important for our public 
school system to safely deliver high-quality instruction to our students through 
distance learning. Through good times and trying circumstances, Clay County 
District Schools continues to pride itself on the ability to create an excellent 
education for all learners. One way that we continue to provide quality 
education and safety for all students is through our Student Handbook & Code  
of Student Conduct. This code outlines the rights and responsibilities of our 
scholars, not only as an individual learner, but also as a student that plays an 
integral part of the OneClay family. This handbook provides clear expectations  
to parents and students on the values of our community.   
 
This Code of Student Conduct has been approved by the Clay County School Board, and contains important information 
that is essential to your child’s education. My hope is that you read and review this handbook with your student to make 
sure they understand the content. If you have any questions or concerns, your school principal will be happy to assist you. 
We value your partnership in public education, as together, we build the best educational system for our kids.  
 
Respectfully,  
 
David Broskie  

Jurisdiction of the School Board  
This Handbook and all of its referenced policies and procedures is in 
force at all times on all school campuses and properties, as well as such 
times and places, including but not necessarily limited to, school 
sponsored events, field trips, athletic functions and other activities where 
school administrators have jurisdiction over students.  Jurisdictional 
control over the student may extend to the immediate vicinity of the 
school when the conduct of the student is deemed to have a detrimental 
effect on the health, safety, or welfare of the school.  With respect to 
bullying and harassment behavior, jurisdiction of the  

Board extends to data or computer software accessed at a non-school  
related location, activity, function, or program, or to technology or an electronic device that is not owned, leased, or used 
by the Clay County District Schools.  
  

Page 302 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 3   

Our primary role as School Board members is to ensure the safety of all school district members and guests, and to craft 
policies that reflect the spirit of our communities while also considering the future of our most precious asset – the kids.  
This Handbook is just one of those guides that help to make our schools great.  We are honored to be given this opportunity, 
and look forward to the collaboration and partnership that makes Clay County a truly special place to live.  
  

  

OUR MISSION  
Our mission is to work collaboratively with all stakeholders to provide a public education experience that is motivating, 
challenging, and rewarding for all children.  We will increase student achievement by providing students with learning 
opportunities that are rigorous, relevant and transcend beyond the boundaries of the school walls.  We will ensure a working 
and learning environment built upon honesty, integrity, and respect.  Through these values, we will maximize student 
potential and promote individual responsibility.  
  

OUR VISION  
The School District of Clay County exists to prepare life-long learners for success in a global and competitive workplace 
and in acquiring applicable life skills.  
  

OUR PHILOSOPHY  
Instruction should occur in an environment that promotes the highest level of learning. Effective instruction requires high 
levels of student engagement, innovation of classroom rituals and routines, and clearly articulated behavioral expectations.  
This is described as the absence of distractions, frictions, and disturbances that interfere with the effective functioning of 
the student, class, and school. It is the presence of a friendly, student-centered environment in which students and school 
personnel work cooperatively toward mutually recognized and accepted goals, and in which the parent and the school 
develop and maintain a positive, collaborative relationship focused on what is best for the learner.  
  
As a student progresses through the grade levels, it is reasonable to assume that an increase in age and maturity will result 
in the student assuming new opportunities to grow and greater responsibility for their actions.  It is recognized that 
differences in age and maturity require different types of opportunities and disciplinary action; while maintaining a fair and 
equitable system that is applied to all students in grades PreK-12.  
  
To assist parents, administrators, and faculty in maintaining a positive learning environment, this Student & Family 
Handbook, along with its embedded Code of Student Conduct, will:  

• Describe the role of the home, student, and school in the education of the learner.  

• Describe student’s rights and responsibilities as part of the learning environment.  

• Describe student conduct and processes associated with student misconduct.  

• Describe aspects of student health and wellness, safety and security, and other relevant information that will help 
lead to a positive experience for all stakeholders.  

  
The content of this Handbook will be shared with all students, parents, faculty, and councils associated with district and 
school teams, in language that is understandable to the audience, through multiple media and sensory platforms, and in 

Page 303 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 4   

writing when requested by an individual, to ensure that a common understanding is established for the education of our 
children and youth.  
  

    

STUDENT RIGHTS & RESPONSIBILITIES  
 

  
It is the intent of this document to help students understand that individual rights involve associated responsibilities, and 
that individual rights must be viewed in relationship to the health, safety, and welfare of the entire school community. The 
principal shall assume administrative responsibility and instructional leadership under the supervision of the 
Superintendent, and in accordance with rules and regulations of the School Board for planning, management, and 
operation of the school to which the principal is assigned. The faculty and staff shall assist in the orderly operation of the 
school and assure the rights of students.  
  

STUDENT RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES  
  
School Participation  
Regular attendance by students will facilitate the development of the skills and knowledge necessary to function in a 
modern democratic society. School staff, parents, students, and appropriate state agencies are expected to work together to 
ensure that all applicable school attendance laws are obeyed.  
  

Student Rights  Student Responsibilities  

To be informed of School Board policies and individual 
school rules regarding absenteeism and tardiness.  

Take advantage of their educational opportunity by 
attending all classes daily and on time.  

To appeal a decision pertaining to an absence.  To provide the school with an adequate explanation and 
documentation indicating the reason for an absence.  

To make up class work within a prescribed length of time 
in case of an excused absence.  

To request the make-up assignment from their teachers 
upon their return from an excused absence and to 
complete the work within a reasonable length of time as 
determined by school board policy (1 day per each day of 
absence).  

  
Clay County District School employees are not responsible for supervising students who arrive on school property 30 or 
more minutes before school or a school-sponsored activity is scheduled to begin.  Further, Clay County District School 
employees are not responsible for supervising students who remain on school property 30 minutes or more after school 
ends, or 30 or more minutes after a school-sponsored activity ends.  
  
Learning Experience and Outcomes  
Active involvement in the learning process is critical to academic success, and is a complex interaction between age, 
maturity, ability, and personal commitment. For all learners, the level of engagement with the material and the 
experiences will be reflected in grades and assessments.  
  

Student Rights  Student Responsibilities  

Page 304 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 5   

To have equal educational opportunity with regard to 
academic programs and extracurricular activities.  

To pursue participation in academic programs and 
extracurricular activities of interest and that are 
commensurate with ability.  

To be informed of district curriculum course descriptions 
that will facilitate informed choices.  

To actively pursue assistance from qualified school staff 
with course selection that is consistent with ability and 
program of study.  

To receive instruction in courses of study under competent 
instructors and in an atmosphere free from bias and 
prejudice.  

To cooperate fully and exert every effort to achieve 
mastery at the highest level possible.  

To receive access to instructional materials and resources 
for the subject(s) they are studying.  

To take care of instructional materials/resources issued to 
them and to pay for lost or damaged instructional 
materials.*  

Page 305 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 6   

To receive and have explained to a teacher’s grading 
criteria at the beginning of each year long or semester 
course.  

To become informed of the grading criteria and any 
updates to grading rubrics.  

To receive reasonable notification of failure or potential 
failure during the grading period when it is apparent 
unsatisfactory work is being performed.  

To maintain standards of academic performance 
commensurate with ability, and to make every effort to 
improve performance upon receipt of notification of 
unsatisfactory progress  

*Florida Statutes 1006.42(1): Each Parent of a student to whom or for whom instructional materials have been issued, is liable for any loss or 
destruction of, or unnecessary damage to, the instructional materials or for failure of the student to return the instructional materials, and shall pay 
for such loss, destruction, or unnecessary damage as provided by law.  
  
Freedom of Speech & Expression  
Citizens in our democracy are guaranteed self-expression under the 1st and 4th Amendments of the United States 
Constitution; therefore, in a democratic society, one of the basic purposes of education is to prepare students for 
responsible self-expression.  
  

Student Rights  Student Responsibilities  

To form and express viewpoints through speaking and 
writing in a manner which is not obscene, slanderous, or 
libelous.  

To respect the rights, property, and beliefs of other 
individuals, to express disagreement in a manner which 
does not infringe upon the rights of others, and does not 
interfere with the orderly educational process.**  

To not be subject to disciplinary action because of use of a 
language other than English if student has limited English 
proficiency.  

To act in a manner which preserves the dignity of patriotic 
observances.  

To affirm their identity with the American ideals as 
allowed and encouraged by state law.*  

To respect the religious beliefs and observances of others.  

To refrain from any activity which violates the precepts of 
their religion.  

To plan for, seek approval of, and conduct activities which 
are consistent with the educational objectives of the 
school.  

To petition and survey student opinion in accordance with 
the procedures that are established by the principal and 
consistent with school district guidelines.  

  

*Pursuant to F.S. 1003.44.  
**Pursuant to School Board Rule 4.04 and F.S. 1006.07(2)(c).  
  
Privacy and Property Rights  
Federal and State laws provide persons with reasonable expectation of privacy in addition to freedom from unreasonable 
search and seizure of property. Such guarantees are not unlimited and must be balanced by the school’s  
responsibility to protect the health, safety, and welfare of all students (4th Amendment of the United States 
Constitution).  
  

Student Rights  Student Responsibilities  

Page 306 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 7   

To maintain privacy of personal possessions unless school 
personnel have reasonable suspicion to believe a student 
possesses any object or material which is prohibited by 
law or School Board Policy.  

To not carry or conceal any such material that is 
prohibited by law or would detract from the educational 
process.   

To attend school in an educational environment in which 
personal property is respected.  

To respect the property rights of the public at large as well 
as those of individuals, and to refrain from destruction of, 
or damage to such property.  

To be informed of state laws governing the search of 
personal effects while on school property, including 
lockers, backpacks, purses and gym bags.*  

To accept the consequences for content stored within an 
assigned locker or other storage device.*  

*Pursuant to F.S. 1006.09(9), school officials may conduct a warrantless search of a student’s locker, vehicle, or any storage area on school 
property if such officials have reason to believe that illegal, prohibited, or harmful items may be concealed.  
  
Student Executive Officers  
Effective student associations are the forums for the training and involvement of students in the democratic process, and 
promote the ideals of shared governance, respecting differing opinions, and engaging productive discourse with one 
another. Members of the school community share the responsibility for shaping such associations into positive 
instruments for student involvement.  
  

Student Rights  Student Responsibilities  

To form and operate executive officers within student 
groups under the direction of a faculty advisor.  

To elect student executive officers and representatives in 
student groups who are responsive to the needs of the 
school and who will work constructively toward the 
resolution of such needs.  

To seek an executive office in student government or 
other student organization regardless of race, sex, color, 
creed, or political beliefs.  

To conduct election campaigns in a positive, mature 
manner, with all due respect provided their opponents.  

To attend, as a student executive officer or representative, 
official student group meetings upon approval of such 
meetings by the school principal.  

To attend regularly scheduled meetings, if an elected 
student representative, and exhibit appropriate conduct at 
all times.  

  
Student Publications  
Education is the process of inquiry and learning, acquiring and imparting knowledge, and exchanging ideas. One of the 
important roles of the school is to provide effective avenues through which students may express themselves on a wide 
range of subjects. Official student publications, such as school newspapers, should include viewpoints representative of 
the entire student body.  
  

Student Rights  Student Responsibilities  

To possess, post, and distribute forms of literature that are 
not inherently disruptive to the school program through 
means such as, but not limited to, newspapers, magazines, 
leaflets, pamphlets, and online forums.  

To use only those bulletin boards or wall areas  
designated for use by students and student organizations, 
and accept responsibility for the effect that the posting 
might have on the normal activities of the school.  

Page 307 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 8   

To be free of censorship on their publications except 
within the framework of guidelines previously agreed upon 
by students and administrators.  

To refrain from publishing libelous and obscene materials, 
to seek full information on the topics about which they 
write, and observe the normal rules for responsible 
journalism under the guidance of the faculty advisor.  

  Principals may suppress or recall literature which they 
consider primarily commercial in nature or material which 
could endanger the orderly operation of the school.  

  
  
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE NOTICE  
Pursuant to F.S. 1002.20(12), students have the right not to participate in reciting the pledge. Upon written request by his 
or her parent, a student must be excused from reciting the pledge, including standing and placing the right hand over his 
or her heart.  
  
  
  

ROLE OF HOME, STUDENT AND SCHOOL  
  
In order for effective instruction to occur, there must be a cooperative relationship between student, parent, and educator. 
This relationship may be described as follows:   
  
PARENTS OR GUARDIANS WHO:  

 assume responsibility for their child’s behavior.  
 maintain regular communication with the school and encourage their child to maintain acceptable behaviors 

specific to their home, community, and school.  
 ensure that their child is in daily attendance, and promptly report and explain an absence to the school.  
 provide their child with the resources needed to complete class work.  
 assist their child in developing grooming habits consistent with a school environment.  
 bring to the attention of school authorities any problem or condition which affects their child or other children of 

the school community.  
 discuss report cards and work assignments with their child.  
 maintain up-to-date contact information and addresses at the school, including medical provider and hospital 

preference.  
  
STUDENTS WHO:  

 attend all classes daily, and arriving on time.  
 are prepared to come to class with appropriate working materials.  
 are responsible for their own work and actions.  
 are responsible for delivery of written communications to their parent/guardian.  
 are respectful to all individuals and property.  
 refrain from profane or inflammatory statements.  
 maintain grooming habits appropriate for a school environment.  

Page 308 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 9   

 abide by the rules and regulations set forth by the school and individual classroom teachers, while conducting 
themselves in a safe and responsible manner.  

  
SCHOOLS THAT:  

 encourage the use of good guidance procedures.  
 maintain an atmosphere conducive to good behavior.  
 exhibit an attitude of respect for students.  
 plan a flexible curriculum to meet the needs of all students.  
 promote effective training and discipline based upon fair and impartial treatment of all students.  
 develop a positive working relationship among staff, students, and community partners.  
 encourage the school staff, parents and student to use the services of community partners.  
 encourage parents to maintain regular communication with the school and participate in its affairs.  
 seek to involve students in the development of district policy.  
 inform all employees of their requirement to report to law enforcement felony offenses and violent 

misdemeanors or delinquent acts which would be a felony offense if committed by an adult on or near school 
property.  

  
    

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY: PREVENTION OF 
DISCRIMINATION, HARASSMENT & BULLYING  

  

NOTICE OF NON-DISCRIMINATION AND PROCEDURES FOR HANDLING 
ALLEGATIONS OF POSSIBLE DISCRIMINATION WITHIN THE CLAY COUNTY 
SCHOOLS – EMPLOYMENT AND PROGRAMS  
  
Non-discrimination and diversity are foundation principles of the School Board. It is School Board policy to hire and 
promote the best qualified candidate measured against the requirements of the job and to provide equal employment and 
advancement opportunity for all individuals without discrimination because of race, color, gender, religion, age, national 
origin, disability, veteran, marital status or any other protected status.  
  
The School Board also makes reasonable accommodations for disabled employees. Employees who would like to be 
considered for accommodation assistance should contact the Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources. 
Information obtained concerning individuals requesting accommodations is kept confidential, to the extent possible, 
except that principals and supervisors may be informed regarding restrictions on the work duties of disabled 
individuals and information regarding necessary accommodations.  
  
The policy applies to all areas of employment, including recruitment, hiring, training, promotion, compensation, 
benefits, transfer, and social and recreational programs.  
  
The Clay County School Board reaffirms its Equal Education Opportunity (EEO) commitment as follows:  

 Guidance counseling, financial assistance and access to academic, career and vocational opportunities are 
available without regard to race, religion, color, sex, marital status, age, national origin, disability, or other 
protected status.  

Page 309 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 10   

 Criteria for admission to programs and courses do not have the effect of restricting access.  
 Recreational and athletic activities do not exclude participation in, deny benefits of, or treat people differently 

on the basis of sex.  
  
The Policy of the Clay County School Board (6GX-10-1.06) relative to Non-Discrimination states the 

following: DISCRIMINATION ON THE BASIS OF RACE, RELIGION, COLOR,  SEX, 
MARITAL STATUS, AGE, NATIONAL ORIGIN, PREGNANCY, OR DISABILITY IS 
PROHIBITED IN THE EMPLOYMENT OF PERSONNEL IN THE PROVISION OF 
EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS AND IN THE CONDUCT OF THE BUSINESS AFFAIRS OF 
THE CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL SYSTEM, AND PROVIDES EQUAL ACCESS TO THE BOY 
SCOUTS AND OTHER DESIGNATED PATRIOTIC GROUPS.  
(Ref. F.S. 760.10; F.S. 760.50; Federal Civil Rights Acts title VI, VII, IX; Section 504F. Rehabilitation Act, 1973-78; 
IDEA, ADEA; Equal Pay Act; Americans with Disabilities Act)  

  
The procedures outlined below shall be used for the processing of allegations of possible discrimination.  

 All such allegations should be discussed initially on an informal basis with the school principal, supervisor or 
appropriate division head directly responsible for the area of concern. Such discussion should be held within ten 
(10) days of alleged incidents(s) if possible.  

  
 Any student matter not resolved by the school principal to the satisfaction of the aggrieved party shall be 

referred to the attention of the following office:  
Coordinator of Student Engagement 

School District of Clay County 
900 Walnut Street 

Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 
Telephone: (904) 336-6917 

  
 Any Human Resources matter not resolved by the school principal or division head to the satisfaction of the 

aggrieved party shall be referred to the attention of the following office:  
Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources  

School District of Clay County  
900 Walnut Street  

Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043  
Telephone: (904) 336-6701  

  
 All complaints of discrimination or harassment shall be investigated fully and all person(s) involved shall be 

questioned.  The aggrieved party may be required to appear in person to answer questions.  
  

 Such investigation shall be initiated within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the complaint. If an extension of the 
timelines is deemed necessary, the aggrieved party shall be notified of such extension prior to the end of the 
fifteen (15) days.  

  
 Retaliation against any person who makes a complaint pursuant to this policy, or who participates in any 

investigation initiated pursuant to this policy, will not be tolerated. Any employee who engages in such 
retaliation shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.  

  

Page 310 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 11   

DISCRIMINATION|HARASSMENT  
  
Discrimination is defined as treating a person of a particular group differently based on their protected class  
characteristic. Harassment is defined as verbal, written or physical conduct that denigrates or shows hostility or aversion 
toward an individual because of the person’s protected status and has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering 
with an individual’s educational performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive education environment. 
Harassing conduct includes epithets, slurs, or negative stereotyping; threatening, intimidating, or hostile acts; 
denigrating jokes; and written or graphic material that denigrates or shows hostility or aversion toward an individual or 
group that is placed on walls or elsewhere on the district’s premises or circulated by e-mail, phone (including voice 
messages), text messages, social networking sites, or other means. Harassment does not include verbal expressions or 
written material that is relevant and appropriately related to course subject matter or curriculum.  
  
It shall be a violation of District policy for any student, teacher, administrator, or other district personnel to harass a 
student or adult through conduct of a sexual nature, or regarding race, color, sexual orientation, national origin or 
disability as defined by this policy.  
  
It shall also be a violation of District policy for any teacher, administrator, or other school personnel of this District to 
tolerate sexual harassment or harassment based on race, color, sexual orientation, national origin, or disability by a 
student, teacher, administrator, or other school personnel, or by any third parties who are participating in, observing, or 
otherwise engaged in activities, including sporting events and other extracurricular activities, under the auspices of the 
School District.  
  
Examples of conduct that may constitute harassment based on race, color, sexual orientation, or national origin, include:  

 graffiti containing offensive language which refers to a person’s race, color, sexual orientation, or national 
origin   name calling, jokes, or rumors  

 threatening or intimidating conduct directed at a person because of his/her race, color, sexual orientation, or 
national origin  

 racial or ethnic slurs, negative stereotypes, and hostile acts based on another’s race, color, sexual orientation, or 
national origin  

 a physical act of aggression or assault upon another because of, or in a manner reasonably related to, that 
person’s race, color, sexual orientation, or national origin  

 other kinds of aggressive conduct such as theft or damage to property which is motivated by race, color, sexual 
orientation, or national origin  

  
Harassment based on a disability consists of verbal or physical conduct relating to an individual’s physical or mental 
impairment when the harassing conduct is so severe, persistent, or pervasive that it affects a student’s ability to 
participate in or benefit from services or opportunities in an educational program or activity, or creates an intimidating, 
threatening, or abusive educational environment.  
  
Examples of conduct that may constitute harassment because of a disability include:  

 graffiti containing offensive language derogatory to a person because of their physical or mental disability  
 threatening or intimidating conduct directed at another because of that person’s physical or mental disability  

  
For additional information, please refer to District Policy Rule 1.12.  
  

Page 311 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 12   

SEXUAL HARASSMENT  
Sexual harassment is defined as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors and other verbal or physical 
conduct of a sexual nature. Sexual harassment may include a range of subtle and not-so-subtle behaviors and may 
involve individuals of the same or different gender. Depending on the circumstances, these behaviors may include: 
unwanted sexual advances or requests for sexual favors; sexual jokes and innuendo; verbal abuse of a sexual nature; 
commentary about an individual’s body, sexual prowess, or sexual deficiencies; leering, whistling, or touching; insulting 
or obscene comments or gestures; display of sexually suggestive objects or pictures; and other physical, verbal, or visual 
conduct of a sexual nature in the workplace.  Sexual harassment can take two forms: 1) hostile environment and 2) “quid 
pro quo” which means “you do something for me and I’ll do something for you” in a sexual context.  
  
All public schools receiving any federal funds must also comply with Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972. A 
school has a responsibility to respond promptly and effectively to a claim of sexual harassment or sexual violence. Title 
IX requires schools to adopt and publish grievance procedures for students to file complaints of sex discrimination, 
including complaints of sexual harassment or sexual violence. Schools can use general disciplinary procedures to 
address complaints of sex discrimination but all procedures must provide for prompt and equitable resolution of sex 
discrimination complaints.  
  

BULLYING  
  
Bullying is defined as any written or verbal expression, or physical or electronic act or gesture, or a pattern thereof, that 
is intended to coerce, intimidate, or cause any physical, mental, or emotional harm to any student, or would be 
reasonably assumed to cause harm. Bullying is prohibited against any student for any reason, including but not limited 
to, any such behavior that is directed toward a student on the basis of academic performance, or against whom federal 
and state laws prohibit discrimination.  
  
To guide the investigation of alleged bullying, three key elements must be present in order to fall into the Substantiated 
Bullying category.  This includes behaviors that are repeated, or could be reasonably repeated, intentional, and reflect a 
power imbalance between the individual engaged in bullying behavior and the one being bullied.  
  
Bullying includes actions such as making threats, spreading rumors, attacking someone physically or verbally, or 
purposely excluding someone from a group.  Cyberbullying is a specific form of bullying using technology to hurt, harm 
or humiliate another individual or group.  

REPORTING DISCRIMINATION, HARASSMENT, AND BULLYING  
  
If you feel you have been a victim of, or witness to, discrimination, harassment, or bullying, report it immediately. 
Retaliation for reporting is not tolerated. The highest level of confidentiality possible will be upheld regarding the 
submission of a complaint or report of harassment/bullying/hazing and the investigative procedures that follow. The 
following actions are encouraged in reporting this behavior.  
 Students are always encouraged to report the complaint directly to a teacher, school counselor, school administrator, 

or parent.  
 If a student or other person familiar with the situation would like to submit a report anonymously, they may call the 

Bullying Hotline at (904) 336-6799.  
 If the accused is a district employee, the student or parent should contact Human Resources at (904) 336-6706.  
 If the accused is an adult not employed by the school district, the student or parent should contact the school 

principal.  

Page 312 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 13   

  

Procedures for Investigating Accusations of Harassment and Bullying  
 When a report is made, the school principal will notify the parents of both the student(s) accused of bullying 

and the student(s) that has been allegedly bullied within 48 hours.  This notification will include a 
description of the accusation and the process for investigation that will take place, along with a timeline of 
action.  

It is expected that a thorough investigation will require more than one day but will be 
completed in a timely manner.  It must review more than a single incident to be 
considered bullying behavior but not for harassment or hazing.  

 The principal will designate a staff member that can remain neutral to lead the investigation.  
 All interviews of students and adults will be documented and uploaded into the SIS referral system. All 

interviewees should be prepared to give as much detail as possible regarding who, what, when, where, and 
how the behavior allegedly occurred.  

 The School Counselor will be notified within 48 hours of the report in order to meet with the student(s) that 
was harassed, bullied, or hazed, to determine their counseling needs.  

 Collection and evaluation of facts will include: o the nature of the behavior o how often the behavior 
occurred o past incidents or past continuing patterns of behavior  

o relationship between the parties involved, including any positions of power one may have over 
another  

o race, national origin, sex, disability (if any) and age of the person being harassed or bullied o 
identity of the student(s) bullying others o locations of all incidents o impact on educational 
progress and educational environment o context in which the alleged incidents occurred  

 Once an investigation is completed, information and findings are entered into the SIS and appropriate 
actions are taken regarding student discipline per this Code of Student Conduct and supports put in place for 
all individuals involved.  

 The principal will notify the parent of the student being harassed or bullied of the Hope Scholarship 
program within 15 day of the initial report and provide them with requisite paperwork for submission to the 
state.  

  
A maximum of 60 school days shall be the limit for the initial filing of incidents that fall under the Federal guidelines for 
harassing behavior and completion of the investigative procedural steps.  
  
HOPE Scholarship  
Section 1002.40, Florida Statutes, was established in last year’s legislative session and provides the parent of a public 
school student who was subjected to an incident of bullying or violence (a complete list of incidents is found in section 
1002.40(3), F.S.), an opportunity to transfer to another public school, or request a scholarship for the student to enroll in 
and attend a participating private school. The law states in part, “Upon receipt of a report of an incident, the school 
principal, or his or her designee, shall provide a copy of the report to the parent and investigate the incident to determine 
if the incident must be reported as required by s. 1006.09(6). Within 24 hours after receipt of the report, the principal or 
his or her designee shall provide a copy of the report to the parent of the alleged offender and to the superintendent. 
Upon conclusion of the investigation or within 15 days after the incident was reported, whichever occurs first, the school 
district shall notify the parent of the program and offer the parent an opportunity to enroll his or her student in another 
public school that has capacity or to request and receive a scholarship to attend an eligible private school, subject to 
available funding.”  Please go to the FLDOE website for more detailed information.  
  

Page 313 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 14   

STUDENT-LED ORGANIZATIONS  
  
Student-led organizations are permitted in secondary schools, and such organizations are allowed to meet on school 
premises during non-instructional time, as designated by the school principal. Students wishing to establish an 
organization shall work with their school and within district policy. Membership in all student organizations shall be on 
a voluntary basis and only open to students currently enrolled in the school at which meetings are to be held. Student 
organizations shall not engage in any activity which is contrary to law, district policy, or school rules.  
  

STUDENT ACTIVITIES, ATHLETICS & EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES  
Organized clubs and activities are characteristic of student life from the elementary school through college, and are 
characteristic of adult life as well. All members of the school community share the responsibility for organizing and 
supporting clubs and activities that meet student needs and serve definite and worthwhile purposes.  
  

Rules for Student Activities and Clubs  
 Clubs and activities must be open to all qualified students.  
 Clubs cannot interfere with school activities and School Board policies must be followed.  
 Clubs must have a charter and a constitution that state the membership qualifications and the rules of conduct 

(written by both students and teachers, be approved by the administration, and be kept on file so that all 
students, parents, and school personnel may read them).  

 Local chapters of national organizations whose charters are prescribed are exempt from the requirement that 
they must be written by both students and teachers.  

 Clubs must have a faculty sponsor approved by the administration; this sponsor must be at all meetings/events 
and with chaperones when appropriate.  

 Club members cannot be hazed pursuant to School Board Policy 4.11 and F.S. 1006.135(1). Hazing means any 
action or situation that recklessly or intentionally endangers the mental or physical health or safety of a student. 
Hazing includes any forced activity that could adversely affect the mental health or dignity of the student. 
Students are always encouraged to talk to parents and school administrators about any activity in which they are 
made to feel uncomfortable. Demeaning or dangerous activities are not necessary to be a part of a team or 
group.  

 Club dues must be reasonable.  
 Club meetings must be held on the school grounds except for special meetings/events approved by the 

administration.  
 Club money must be handled through the school’s internal accounts system.  

  
NOTE: Florida Statute 1006.14: Secret societies prohibited in public K-12 school states that (1) It is unlawful for any 
person, group, or organization to organize or establish a fraternity, sorority, or other secret society whose membership is 
comprised in whole or in part of students enrolled in any public K-12 school or to go upon any public K-12 school 
premises for the purpose of soliciting any students to join such an organization.  
  
A student not currently suspended for interscholastic extracurricular activities, or suspended or expelled from school, 
pursuant to the district’s suspension or expulsion authority provided in law is eligible to participate interscholastic 
extracurricular activities pursuant to F.S. 1006.195(1).  
  
Per F.S. 1006.09(2), if a student is convicted of, or is found to have committed a felony or a delinquent act, including an 
off-campus incident which would have been a felony if committed by an adult, the student’s eligibility in interscholastic 

Page 314 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 15   

extracurricular activities is contingent upon local administration policy, regardless of whether or not adjudication is 
withheld.  
  
Students who participate in interscholastic extracurricular activities for, but are not enrolled in a district public school, 
are subject to the district’s code of Student Conduct for the limited purpose of establishing and maintaining the student’s 
eligibility to participate at the school.  
  
All junior high students must have a 2.0 on a 4.0 GPA scale at the conclusion of each semester. A high school student 
must have a cumulative 2.0 GPA on a 4.0 unweighted GPA scale at the conclusion of each semester.  
  
Students are limited to four years of athletic eligibility upon entering high school.  
  
The Florida High School Athletic Association continues to retain jurisdiction over eligibility rules dealing with 
recruitment violations and sanctions against students.  
  
  
    

ATTENDANCE  
  

COMPULSORY SCHOOL ATTENDANCE  
  
Florida Law (Section 1003.21, Florida Statutes) states that all children who are either six years of age, who will be six 
years old by February 1 of any school year, or who are older than six years of age but who have not attained the age of 
16 years, must attend school regularly during the entire school term. A student who attains the age of 16 years during the 
school year is not subject to compulsory attendance beyond the date of which the student attains that age if he/she files a 
formal declaration of intent to terminate school enrollment with the school district. The declaration must acknowledge 
that terminating school enrollment is likely to reduce the student’s earning potential and must be signed by the student 
and the student’s parent or legal guardian. F.S. 1003.21(1)(c).  
  
Florida law (Section 1003.26, Florida Statutes) specifies steps for enforcement of regular school attendance. It is the 
responsibility of the school district superintendent to enforce school attendance of all children who are subject to 
compulsory school age requirements. The responsibility includes:  
 Develop policies and procedures to ensure that schools respond in a timely manner to each unexcused absence, or 

absence for which the reason is unknown.  
 Contact the home for every unexcused absence or absence for which the reason is unknown, to obtain parent 

justification for the absence.  
 Evaluate each justification and, based on district policy, determine whether the absence is excused or unexcused; if 

excused, allow the student to make up assigned work without academic penalty.  
 Track excused and unexcused absences.  
 Identify and refer students who may be developing a pattern of nonattendance to the school child study team for 

intervention services.  
 Schedule a meeting with certain identified parents to discuss their child's attendance.  
 Implement prevention and intervention strategies to address truancy and attendance issues as required for drivers' 

licenses and related requirements for habitual truants.  

Page 315 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 16   

 Send a notice to the superintendent of schools and to the district home education contact regarding patterns of 
nonattendance for specific students.  

 Refer habitual truancy cases to the case staffing committee and/or child-in-need- of-services provider for assistance.  
  

ABSENCES|TRUANCY  
  
Absenteeism, regardless of the reason, negatively affects the continuity of the learning process.  As a student’s 
absenteeism increases, there is a greater responsibility for the school to deter future absenteeism, and a greater 
responsibility for the student to demonstrate that such absenteeism has not negatively affected performance mastery.  
  
The parent/guardian has the responsibility to ensure the student is rested and prepared for the rigor of a learning 
environment.  
  
An absence from school under the following circumstances shall be considered excused:  

 With permission – The absence was with the knowledge and consent of the principal of the school that the 
student attends. It is the responsibility of the parent/guardian to provide a written statement to the school 
explaining the absence within three (3) school days following the return of the student to school. If a student is 
continually sick and repeatedly absent from school, he or she must be under the supervision of a physician in 
order to receive an excuse from attendance. Such excuse provides that a student’s condition justifies absence  
for more than 5 days per grading period/10 days per semester/20 days per year. The principal of the school shall 
determine when it is necessary to require a physician’s statement from the student’s medical provider and 
require the parent/guardian to provide a copy to their child’s school within a reasonable period of time as 
determined by the principal or designee.  

 Sickness, injury, or other insurmountable condition – Attendance was impractical or inadvisable on account of 
sickness or injury, or was impractical because of some other stated insurmountable condition.  

 Financial inability to provide necessary clothes for the student when reported by the parent in writing to the 
Superintendent and validated by the Superintendent (FS 1003.24(3)).  

 Absence for religious instruction or holidays – A student with the written consent of his or her parent/guardian 
shall be excused from attendance in school on a particular day or days, or at a particular time of day, and shall 
be excused from any examination, study or work assignment at such time to participate in religious instruction, 
for observance of a religious holiday or because tenets of his or her religion forbid secular activity at such time. 
The principal shall reserve the right to refuse a student’s request for released time, if according to the provisions 
of the district’s student progression plan:  

a. The student is not enrolled in sufficient courses to allow for the student’s promotion or graduation, and 
thus the released time would not be equivalent to an optional period.  

b. The student’s grades/academic progress is insufficient to allow for the student’s promotion or 
graduation.  

 Absences due to head lice will be excused. However, once a student has accumulated 10 absences during a 
school year due to head lice, the school will refer the case to the School Social Worker for family support and 
appropriate intervention, including a possible referral to the Truancy Arbitration Program through the State 
Attorney’s Office. Unusual circumstances may be addressed by the principal to go beyond these 10 days for 
excused absences.  

  
An absence from school under the following circumstances may be considered unexcused.  

 The absence was without the parent/guardian’s knowledge or consent.  

Page 316 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 17   

 Permission for the absence was requested but denied by the principal of the student’s school.  
 No written statement of the absence from the parent/guardian has been received by the school explaining the 

reason for the absence within three (3) school days following the return of the student to school.  
  
The principal has administrative discretion in cases of excessive absences to reject a written note and consider the 
absence as unexcused when absences are seriously impacting academic progress, with the exception of sickness, injury 
or insurmountable conditions.  
  
For additional information, please refer to District Policy Rule 4.01.  
  

SENIOR ATTENDANCE POLICY  
Students must be in attendance for at least 90% of their total possible class periods during their senior year of high 
school to participate in commencement ceremonies. Once all attendance is recorded and verified, the rate of attendance 
will be pulled from the Student Information System.  
  
This is not an excused/unexcused absence policy; it is an attendance policy. The type of absence does not matter with 
the following exceptions:  

 doctor appointments or doctor mandated stay at home that is documented on a physician’s professional 
stationary subpoenas to court  

 bereavement time for an immediate family member  
 participation in a school-sanctioned activity  
 pre-approved college visits documented by email or regular mail correspondence  
 parent approved absence from school  

  
It is the student’s responsibility to bring verification from the doctor, parent or court for an exception; otherwise the 
absence will count against the policy. Verification must be supplied within three school days following the absence.  
  
Saturday School attendance (all four hours) may clear an absence. Banking of Saturday School credit is NOT allowed.  
  
NOTE: All decisions regarding participation in graduation activities as a function of the Senior Attendance Policy will 
be at the discretion of school administration.  
  

TRUANCY  
Florida law defines "habitual truant" as a student who has 15 or more unexcused absences within 90 calendar days with 
or without the knowledge or consent of the student's parent or guardian, and who is subject to compulsory school 
attendance.  
  
Absence by a student for twenty (20) or more days during the school year shall create a strong presumption that the 
student has failed those subjects or courses in which he is enrolled during that period. For semester courses, ten (10) 
days shall apply; for individual grading periods, five (5) days shall apply. Such presumption may be overcome by effort 
or performance which satisfies the teacher(s) involved, that such student should receive other than a failing grade. A 
review committee representing the administration, the instructional staff, and guidance, appointed by the principal, will 
review each such case individually and will make recommendations. Individual teacher(s) shall give strong 
consideration to the recommendation of the review committee in determining the effort or performance of the student.  
  

Page 317 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 18   

ATTENDANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR MINORS TO MAINTAIN DRIVING 
PRIVILEGES  
  
Recognizing the importance of education and keeping the students in school, the 1997 legislature enacted 322.091 F.S. 
relating to the driver’s license for students, ages 14 to 18, as an incentive for students to stay in school and continue their 
education. In order for a student to retain or obtain his/her regular Florida driver’s license or learner’s driver’s license, 
the student must comply with compulsory school attendance. Accumulating 15 unexcused absences in a period of 90 
calendar days or failure to remain enrolled in school will result in being classified as a habitual truant and the loss of 
said license, or the withholding of the necessary forms to obtain a license by the Florida Department of Highway Safety 
and Motor Vehicles. (F.S. 1003.27(2b)). Parents and students will need to contact the school district at (904) 3369639 
for detailed information regarding reporting, reinstatement, and appeal procedures.  
  
For additional information, please refer to District Policy Rule 4.53.  
  

MAKE-UP WORK  
  
It is essential that students absent from school make up work missed. It is the responsibility of the student and the family 
to initiate requests for, and to pick up, make-up work on the day the student returns to class from an excused absence.  
All work missed from an excused absence can be made up within 24 hours for 100% credit.  For example, if a student 
misses three days, they have three days to complete missing assignments for full credit.  
  

MCKINNEY-VENTO HOMELESS ASSISTANCE ACT  
  
The McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act of 2000 (Subtitle VII-B) per Title IX, Part A of the Elementary and  
Secondary Education Act, as amended by the Every Student Succeeds Act, ensures homeless children transportation to 
and from school free of charge, allowing children to attend their school of origin (last school enrolled or the school they 
attended when they first became homeless) regardless of what district the family resides in. It further requires schools to 
register homeless children even if they lack normally required documents, such as immunization records or proof of 
residence. Local school districts must appoint Local Education Liaisons to ensure that school staff are aware of these 
rights, to provide public notice to homeless families (at shelters and at school) and to facilitate access to school and 
transportation services.  Contact information and eligibility documents can be found at Project REACH.  
  
     

Page 318 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 19   

STUDENT CONDUCT  
  
It is the belief of the Clay County District Schools that teachers and students deserve school environments that are safe, 
nurturing, and conducive to education and development. Creating a positive school/classroom climate while decreasing 
student time spent outside of the classroom now requires close attention to the social and emotional needs of the student 
as well as the behavioral intent. In the event that the school or classroom discipline has been disrupted to a level where a 
school must take action, the following information outlines the steps and the powers that the District will and must take.  
  

ACADEMIC HONESTY  
  
Clay County District Schools recognizes the importance of promoting a learning environment, whether traditional or 
distance learning, that values academic honesty. In order to foster ethical behavior among students, it is critical to 
educate all students regarding the characteristics of academic integrity. When engaged in learning activities, students 
should demonstrate the discipline necessary to seek guidance from their instructor rather than resorting to inappropriate 
behaviors that may undermine their own academic and personal development. This is a shared responsibility of all 
students, families, teachers, and staff.  
  

DRESS CODE  
  
Responsibility for the dress and appearance of students generally rests with individual students and their families. 
Students may wish to express themselves by the manner of their dress and appearance; however, students shall not wear 
clothing or affect an appearance at school or school-sanctioned activities or events that is or may be disruptive to the 
educational environment. Clay County District Schools standards on student attire are intended to help students focus on 
schoolwork, reduce discipline problems, and improve school order and safety. Subject to approval, principals, working 
with their school community, may establish additional specific standards for their schools. Any such standards must be 
published and distributed to families.  
  
Dress and personal appearance of students should be a positive reflection on the family, student, school and  
community. A good rule of thumb: if there is a question about whether an outfit would be acceptable, choose a different 
outfit. Ultimately, school leadership reserves the right to determine if the dress code is being violated.  
  
The following guidelines are to be followed:  

 All students shall be properly groomed and attired appropriate to the activity when on school property or 
participating in school-sponsored events. 

 School ID’s must be worn and visible at all times.   
 Students shall be dressed so they will not present a clear danger to health and safety; should be tailored in such a 

manner that because of fit, design, color, texture, or inadequate coverage of the body does not create a 
classroom or school disruption as determined by administration.  

  
Permitted Apparel:  

 Outfits are to be tailored in such a manner so as not to expose inappropriate areas of the body while in normal 
activity.  

 Shorts, dresses or skirts should be 3 inches above the knee or longer. If leggings are worn, then the top MUST 
be the proper length of 3 inches above the knee or longer.  

Page 319 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 20   

 Pants and shorts should be worn at the waistline without the necessity of support whether a shirt is tucked in or  
out and fastened at the top closure. Belts will be buckled at all times if worn.  

 Jeans/pants that have frays/holes above the knee must have something underneath them, such as leggings that 
cover the skin, so as not to expose skin or undergarments.  

 Shirts must cover the shoulder and not expose undergarments in any manner or the midriff.  
 The neckline of a shirt must limit exposure of the body.  
 Footwear of some type must be worn at ALL times.  

  
Non-Permitted Apparel:  

 Apparel with off-color remarks or pictures, or emblazoned with drug, alcohol or tobacco related slogans.  
 Apparel displaying violent or pornographic imagery.  
 Apparel that is deemed to be tight fitting, such as yoga pants, spandex skirts/dresses, leggings without proper 

length top, cheer shorts, etc. Yoga pants are not acceptable attire for school.  Chubbies or similar shorts/swim 
wear without proper under garments are not acceptable.  

 Sleepwear, such as bedroom slippers, pajamas, etc.  
 Tank tops, halter tops, muscle shirts, tube tops, spaghetti straps, mesh/see-through shirts sheer-tops or bottoms.  
 Muscle shirts.  
 Hats, hoods, bandannas, and caps are not to be worn in class or in buildings unless approved by the 

administration or for special events.  
 Any apparel or accessory determined by administration to present a safety hazard for the student or the school.  

  
Disciplinary action for violation of the student dress code shall include notifying the student of the violation and a 
requirement that the dress or appearance be corrected before the student reenters the classroom, school environment, or 
school sanctioned activity or event. An administrator will determine the suitability of attire in question as it reflects the 
spirit of the dress code policy. Students found to be in violation of dress code policy will be required to change for the 
remainder of the day. Student refusal to change will result in their placement in the in-school suspension class for the 
remainder of the day or until a proper outfit can be brought for the student. At the discretion of the building level 
administrator, a family conference may be held. More serious consequences may result from repeated or serious 
violations.  
  
For additional information, please refer to District Policy Rule 4.03.  
  

STUDENT USE OF THE INTERNET  
  
The Internet and related electronic instructional resources are used in schools to support student learning and distance 
learning. The use of these resources are for educational purposes only when on district property, at district or school-
sanctioned activities or events, when students are being transported in vehicles dispatched by Clay County District 
Schools, and off school property when such conduct has a nexus to school or any district curricular or non-curricular 
activity or event. Teachers and school administration determine use of the Clay County District Schools Instructional 
Network based on educational goals of the school and classroom, and may determine to limit access. Students are 
encouraged to use the network to do homework, class-related research, and class work when appropriate. Students 
should not use this network for music, gaming, or non-educational video streaming. In compliance with the Child 
Information Protection Act (CIPA)  
requirements, this network will be monitored. Clay County District Schools accepts no responsibility associated with 
loss, damage, or theft of a device connected to the network.  

Page 320 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 21   

  

BRING YOUR OWN DEVICE  
Clay County District Schools is committed to helping students learn the skills they need to succeed in a world filled with 
technology. Our network allows secure access to the Internet for students who want to use their own personal devices 
(laptops, netbooks, tablets, smartphone, etc.) during the school day for classroom activities. Bring Your Own Device  
(BYOD) fosters student ownership of learning, extends learning for students from home to classroom, provides easier 
access to online instructional material, and supplements school equipment. Students are expected use their devices in 
accordance with district policy.  
  
Taking photographs or videos by any means whatsoever while on school property or while on school transportation is 
prohibited.  The only exceptions to this prohibition are:  

 Taking photos for reproduction in a school sponsored publication.  
 Taking photos during a school sponsored social event, sporting event, awards ceremony or other school 

sponsored activity or function at which photography is allowed and the photographs are images of activities 
which are reasonably considered to be part of the activity or event.  

 Taking photographs with the permission of the school administration.  
  
Publication on any internet site of any photographs, videos or images taken in violation of the prohibitions listed above 
is strictly prohibited, will be deemed disruptive to the order of the school and will be sufficient reason to impose 
disciplinary.  
  

STUDENT CONDUCT ON A SCHOOL BUS  
  
The privilege of students to ride a school bus is contingent upon following the expectations outlined in this handbook. 
The driver of the school bus shall be in complete charge of the bus during the ride and while students are entering or 
leaving the vehicle. Students shall be required to conform to all regulations concerning discipline, safety, and behavior 
while riding on the school bus. The driver shall notify appropriate authorities if a student persists in violating the 
established rules of conduct. After due warning has been given to the student and/or families, the privilege of riding the 
bus may be withheld from the student. Violation of district policies and regulations while on the school bus may result in 
student discipline up to and including suspension or expulsion, in accordance with district policy.  
  
The Clay County School System has jurisdiction over students who are on the school bus or at the school bus stop when 
the bus is present at the bus stop. [F.S. 1006.10 (3)]   Therefore it is the parent’s responsibility to take any action with 
local law enforcement to correct a problem during the time students are waiting at the bus stop or when students are in 
route to or from the school bus stop.  Other responsibilities of parents of transported students includes (exerted from 
F.A.C. 6A-3.0121):  

 To ensure the safe travel of students to and from school and home when students are not under the custody and 
control of the district, including to and from home and the assigned bus stop.  

 To ensure that students ride only in their assigned school buses and get off only at assigned bus stops, except 
when alternative buses or arrangements have been made.  

 To ensure students are aware of and follow the expected rules of behavior while they are at the bus stops and to 
provide the necessary supervision during times when the bus is not present.  

 To provide the necessary assistance for students to get on and off at the bus stop when the physical disability of 
the student renders them unable to get on and off the bus without assistance (as required by district policy or the 
student’s individual education plan).  

Page 321 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 22   

  
We believe that all pupils can behave appropriately and safely while riding the school bus, and as such we will not 
tolerate behavior that is disruptive to the driver or which inhibits or interferes with the safe operation of the bus.  In 
order to guarantee your child and other children who ride buses the safe and efficient transportation they deserve, the 
following has been established:  

 Arrive at the bus stop ten (10) minutes prior to the scheduled pick up time.  
 Take responsibility for their behavior and conduct themselves in a respectful, orderly manner while waiting at 

the bus stop for the bus to arrive.  
 Wait until the bus comes to a stop before attempting to get on or off the bus.  
 Enter and leave the bus only at the front door after it has come to a stop, except in the case of an emergency as 

directed by the driver.  
 Leave the bus only with the consent of the driver.  
 Be silent when approaching or crossing railroad tracks.  
 Keep the aisle and stepwell clear at all times.  
 Do not tamper with door handles, windows, and other safety equipment at any time.  
 Do not use wireless communication devices, or electronic devices. Exception: Field trips in which the school 

administration approves the use of these devices or as a planned intervention for special needs students.  
 Do not use wireless communication devices except in an emergency concerning safety-to-life issues (defined as 

a bus accident, mechanical breakdown which delays the normal route, and/or thirty (30) minutes or more in a 
route delay).  

  
Large Objects on the School Bus: Oversized objects, including, but not limited to, large band instruments or cases, 
school projects or athletic equipment which cannot be held in the seat, are prohibited, unless prior approval is obtained 
from the bus driver and the school administration.  
  
Cameras: School buses are equipped with video cameras for the purposes of ensuring the health, welfare and safety of 
all staff, students, and drivers.  
  
NOTE: Bicycle riders under the age of 16 must wear properly fitted, safety-related helmets when riding a bicycle. Law 
enforcement officers may issue a traffic citation and assess fines to riders who do not comply.  
  

YOUTH GANG AFFILIATION  
  
Students are not allowed to form or participate in groups which threaten, frighten or harm other students. Such groups, 
when they become known by school and district authorities, will be considered a gang. These groups generally have 
common names, and wear common colors, jewelry, signs or clothing.  Students are encourage to alert an adult if such 
activity or groups become known to them.  
  

ZERO TOLERANCE RULE  
  
Florida Statute 1006.13 mandates that “each district school board shall adopt a policy of zero tolerance for crime and 
substance abuse…and victimization of students…” whenever and wherever students are under the jurisdiction of the 
school district. The law requires that expulsion be recommended for any student at school or at a school-related function 
that was determined to have had possession of a firearm or weapon as defined in Chapter 790, or any student making a 
threat or false report as defined by state statutes 790.162 and 790.163.  

Page 322 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 23   

  
Simulating a firearm or weapon while playing or wearing clothing or accessories that depict a firearm or weapon or 
express an opinion regarding a right guaranteed by the Second Amendment to the United States Constitution is not 
grounds for disciplinary action or referral to the criminal justice or juvenile justice system under Chapter 790 or s.  
1006.13. Simulating a firearm or weapon while playing includes, but is not limited to:  

 Brandishing a partially consumed pastry or other food item to simulate a firearm or weapon.  
 Possessing a toy firearm or weapon that is 2 inches or less in overall length.  
 Possessing a toy firearm or weapon made of plastic snap-together building blocks.  
 Using a finger or hand to simulate a firearm or weapon.  
 Vocalizing an imaginary firearm or weapon.  
 Drawing a picture, or possessing an image, of a firearm or weapon.  
 Using a pencil, pen, or other writing or drawing utensil to simulate a firearm or weapon.  

  
A student may be subject to disciplinary action if simulating a firearm or weapon while playing that substantially 
disrupts student learning, causes bodily harm to another person, or places another person in reasonable fear of bodily 
harm. The severity of consequences imposed upon a student including referral to the criminal justice or juvenile system, 
must be proportionate to the severity of the infraction and consistent with school board policies for similar infractions.  
  
In fulfilling this statutory requirement, we have incorporated the specified legal definitions into the language of the Code 
of Student Conduct. Regardless of language to the contrary in federal or Florida Law, possession of a firearm, electric 
weapon or destructive device on the property of any school, school bus, or school bus stop is prohibited. This 
prohibition includes firearms in motor vehicles parked in parking lots, or anywhere on any school property.  
  
Certain disruptive behavior(s) will be reported to law enforcement authorities as defined by the state SESIR codes. A 
referral by law enforcement to the criminal justice or juvenile delinquency system must be made on all violent acts noted 
below and weapon charges as defined in the Gun Free School Act of 1994 & F.S.790.115. The following are prohibited 
on any school property (including parking areas), school bus, school bus stop, and school sponsored event:  

 Any weapon which will or is designed to or may readily be converted to expel a projectile by the action of an 
explosive.  

 The frame or receiver of any weapon described above.  
 Any firearm muffler or firearm silencer.  
 Any explosive, incendiary, or poison gas, bomb, grenade, rocket having a propellant charge of more than four 

ounces, missile having an explosive or incendiary charge of more than one-quarter ounce, mine or similar 
device.  

 Any weapon which will, or which may be readily converted to, expel a projectile by the action of an explosive 
or other propellant, and which has any barrel with a bore of more than one-half inch in diameter.  

 Any combination of parts either designed or intended for use in converting any device into any destructive 
device described in the two immediately preceding examples, and from which a destructive device may be 
readily assembled.  

 Any Firearm.  
 Any weapon as defined in Florida Statute 790.00 (13).  

  
Incidents defined in the next section of this Handbook will be reported and may result in criminal prosecution. If the 
infraction involves a victim, the school shall notify the victim and parents, if a minor, of the infraction and the victim’s 
right to press charges against the offender. The Clay County District Schools will take all steps necessary to protect the 
victim of any violent crime from any further victimization. Florida law prohibits any student that commits any of the 

Page 323 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 24   

felony offenses specified by s. 985.455(2)., against another student from attending school with, or riding the same 
school bus as, the victim or any sibling of the victim. All school personnel will be made aware of the Student 
Victimization and Zero Tolerance Rule Chapter 2009-53.  
  
Infractions that fall under Zero Tolerance Rule are defined by the Florida Department of Education through the School 
Environmental Safety Incident Reporting (SESIR) and receive the most severe consequences provided for by School 
Board Policy.  
  
THE DISTRICT MAY ASSIGN MORE SEVERE CONSEQUENCES THAN NORMAL WHEN THE STUDENT 
APPEARS MOTIVATED  
BY HOSTILITY TOWARD THE VICTIM’S REAL OR PERCEIVED RACE, RELIGION, COLOR, SEXUAL 
ORIENTATION, ETHNICITY, ANCESTRY, NATIONAL ORIGIN, POLITICAL BELIEFS, MARITAL STATUS, 
AGE, SOCIAL AND FAMILY BACKGROUND, LINGUISTIC PREFERENCE, DISABILITY, OR WHEN THE 
OFFENSE IS DETERMINED TO BE GANG- RELATED.  
  
    

STUDENT ACCOUNTABILITY, DISCIPLINE, &  

MISCONDUCT  
  
Self-direction and personal responsibility are goals the Clay County District Schools. Students must be accountable for 
their actions, and CCDS recognizes that effective student discipline is a major contributor to the creation of a positive 
and productive learning environment for all students. In accordance with state law, CCDS uses this student/parent 
handbook as a written code of conduct, based upon the principle that every student is expected to follow accepted rules 
of conduct and show respect for persons of authority. Certain behavior, especially behavior that disrupts the classroom, 
is unacceptable and may result in disciplinary action. Clay County District Schools uses proportionate disciplinary 
interventions and consequences to keep students engaged in learning.  
  
Teachers and other instructional personnel shall have the authority to undertake any of the following actions in 
managing student behavior and ensuring the safety of all students in their classes, on school grounds, and at 
schoolsponsored events.  

 Establish classroom rules of conduct that includes positive reinforcement of desired behaviors.  
 Establish and implement consequences, designed to modify undesired behavior.  
 Methods may include: o monitoring student behavior through short-term progress reports.  

o conferences and/or contracts between administrators, parents, teachers, and students.  
o referrals to school or district services, e.g., school social worker, district mental health therapist, etc.  

  
The Code of Student Conduct defines infractions that have been committed by students while under the supervision of 
district staff or designees.  

 A major consideration in the application of the Code of Student Conduct is the identification of the most 
appropriate disciplinary action necessary to bring about positive student behavior.  To that end, specific grounds 
for disciplinary action have been divided into four subgroups and a variety of administrative actions have been 
suggested or mandated.  The infractions in various subgroups represent a continuum of misbehavior based on the 
seriousness of the act and the frequency of occurrences.  Infractions classified at Level I are relatively minor and 
involve acts which only minimally disrupt the orderly conduct of the educational process in the classroom.  By 

Page 324 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 25   

contrast, Level IV misconducts involve criminal acts or acts that cause extreme disruption and are so serious that 
they represent a direct and immediate threat to the welfare of other individuals.  See Appendix A for Codes and 
definitions.  

 It is important to note that the administrator and teacher, consistent with the power delegated to him/her, has the 
authority to take additional or more severe administrative action under this Code if, in his/her opinion, the nature 
of the misconduct warrants it.  

 Each classroom teacher should deal with general classroom disruption by taking in-class disciplinary action, by 
making a personal call to the parents or guardians when feasible, and by scheduling conferences with parent(s) or 
guardian and other school staff.  Only when the action taken by the teacher is ineffective, or the disruption is 
sufficiently severe, should the student be referred to the principal or his/her designee.  Teachers will be notified of 
the results of the action taken.  

  

HEARING OFFICE   
The Student Hearing Office is designed for circumstances that warrant District-level review of intervention beyond a 
school administration decision.  This is the case for zero-tolerance infractions, as well as school-based decisions that a 
parent wishes to appeal.  
  
Hearings will be conducted pursuant to Florida Statutes 1006.07(1)(a) and 1006.08(1).  Suspension hearings are 
exempted from provisions of Ch. 120 F.S. Expulsion hearings shall be governed by F.S. 120.57(2) and are exempt from 
F.S. 286.0111.  
  
Florida Statute 1003.32(4) and 1006.09(1)(a), along with School Board policies of the Clay County District Schools, 
give teachers and other school staff who have control and direction of students assigned to them by the principal or the 
principal’s designee, the authority to remove students who are disobedient, disrespectful, violent, abusive, uncontrollable 
or disruptive to the learning environment.  If the teacher requests the student not be returned to the classroom, the 
principal may not return the student to that teacher’s class without the teacher’s consent.  In the event of a disagreement 
on the student’s return to the teacher’s classroom, a committee determines that such placement is the best or only 
available alternative.  
  

SUSPENSION & EXPULSION  
  
Clay County District Schools may consider the following factors to determine whether to suspend or expel a student:  

 Age;  
 Disciplinary history;  
 Eligibility as a student with a disability;  
 Seriousness of the infraction;  
 Threat posed to other students and staff; and  
 Likelihood that a lesser intervention would properly address the violation.  

  
In matters involving student behavior which may result in the suspension or expulsion of a student, it is district policy 
that the family will be provided the opportunity to be involved in all such disciplinary procedures.  
  

OUT OF SCHOOL SUSPENSION  
A school principal may suspend a student from all classes of instruction on school grounds and all other school 
sponsored activities, except as authorized by the principal or principal’s designee, for persistent disobedience and/or 

Page 325 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 26   

gross misconduct.  Principals take this action when they have exhausted informal and other formal disciplinary 
strategies, or when they have at least considered those alternatives and rejected them as inappropriate in a given 
situation.  
  
Pursuant to Florida Statute 1006.09(1)(b), no student who is required by law to attend school shall be suspended for 
unexcused tardiness, or absences.  Therefore, suspension is not an appropriate disciplinary action for truancy as it relates 
to students who fall within the mandatory state attendance requirements.  
  

Procedures for OSS  
 Prior to suspension, the student shall be advised of why he/she is being suspended (i.e., infraction code), be 

provided an opportunity to refute the charges, and be given an opportunity to submit to the administrator a list of 
names of other individuals who might have witnessed the incident. It should be noted that any statement a 
student makes may be used, along with other documentation, to prove whether the student is guilty or not guilty 
of the infraction.  

 Written notice shall be sent to parent(s) or guardian regarding the reason disciplinary action was taken.  All 
reasonable attempts to conference with parent via phone or in person must be made during the suspension 
process.   

 If the immediate suspension of the student is justified because the student’s presence endangers others or school 
property, the necessary notice and conference, if requested, will follow as soon as possible.  

 The school is required to provide all work assignments to be completed by the student.  
 Appeal of Suspension  

 The school principal, after reviewing the case with the parent or adult student, will either affirm the length of 
suspension as originally stated in the suspension notification, or reduce the length of suspension upon 
consideration of the results of the parent conference.  This change shall be made on the electronic referral in the 
Student Information System.  

 The parent, or adult student, at the initial conference should be advised of his/her right to appeal the action to the 
Hearing Office.  

 If the parent/guardian, or adult student feels that they were not afforded a fair hearing, or disagree with a result 
at the school, he/she shall appeal to the Hearing Office in writing within 3 days.  

 The Hearing Office shall hear any additional testimony that may be deemed necessary to rectify any procedural 
errors.  

 The Hearing Office recommendation will be presented back to the school for a modification of the original 
suspension decision or uphold the original suspension and add to it other disciplinary actions.  

  

EXPULSION  
Expulsion is the removal of the right and obligation of a student to attend a public school under conditions set by the 
school board, and for a period of time not to exceed the remainder of the term or school year and one (1) additional year 
of attendance. Expulsions may be imposed with or without continuing educational services and shall be reported 
accordingly. All Level IV infractions and Level III infractions that are especially egregious, violent, or otherwise 
significant enough to warrant such a decision will be considered for expulsion.  
  

Procedures for Expulsion  
 Prior to a meeting with the District Hearing Office, the student shall be advised by the principal as to why 

he/she has been recommended for expulsion, be provided with an opportunity to refute the charges in a meeting 

Page 326 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 27   

with the principal or principal designee, and be given the opportunity to submit to the administrator a list of 
names of other individuals who might have witnessed the incident leading to the recommendation.  

 At the principal hearing, the parent or adult student may request to have any willing witnesses that they deem 
appropriate who were involved in the case be present.  

 The parent or adult student shall also be advised in the principal hearing of the right to appeal and be advised of 
the appeal procedures to the District Discipline Review Committee.  

 Once the principal hearing is completed, a referral is made to the Hearing Office for final review and 
consideration of expulsion recommendation to the Superintendent.  

 If the parent or adult student feels they have not been afforded a fair hearing at the school and district level, they 
have the right to request in writing a hearing before the School Board.  

  
In the event that a student who has been recommended for expulsion withdraws from the Clay County District Schools, 
the expulsion proceedings with the School Board shall continue as though the student had not withdrawn. The 
Superintendent and School Board shall not delay action on an expulsion recommendation pending re-entry/reregistration 
of the student in Clay County District Schools.  
  

INVESTIGATIONS OF SUSPECTED STUDENT MISCONDUCT  
  
In order to protect the safety and welfare of students and school personnel, and to maintain order and discipline on 
school property or at school-sponsored activities or events, school authorities may search a student’s locker or desk and 
its contents, personal property, or automobile under the circumstances described in policy and may seize any illegal, 
unauthorized, or contraband materials.  
  
School lockers, desks, and other storage areas provided for student use on school premises are school property and 
remain at all times under the ownership and control of the school. Lockers, desks, and storage areas, as well as the 
contents therein, are subject to inspection at any time, without notice and without cause, at the discretion of the Clay 
County District Schools. No student shall lock or impede access to any locker or storage areas except with a lock 
provided or approved by school authorities. Searches of a student’s person or personal effects such as a backpack, purse, 
book bag, electronic devices, motor vehicle, etc., within the school or on school grounds may be conducted by the 
principal or designee when that official has reasonable grounds to suspect that the search will uncover evidence of a 
violation of Board and/or district policies, school rules, or federal, state, or local laws or uncover the presence of an item 
that presents an immediate danger of physical harm or illness to any person.  
  

TOBACCO, DRUGS & ALCOHOL  
  
Clay County District Schools is committed to promoting the general health, welfare, and well-being of our school 
community. Consequently, it is district policy that no student shall be permitted to use, be under the influence of, 
possess, distribute, gift, purchase, exchange, or sell any tobacco product, alcohol, or illegal drug while on district 
property, at district or school-sanctioned activities or events, when students are being transported in vehicles dispatched 
CCDS or one of its schools, and off school property when such conduct has a nexus to school or any district curricular 
or non-curricular activity or event. As used in this policy, “illegal drugs” are all substances defined under either federal 
statutes as “drugs” or “controlled substances,” or state statutes as a controlled substance including marijuana or 
marijuana concentrate as well as counterfeit or synthetic illegal drugs and substances falsely represented as being drugs. 
As used in this policy, “drugs” also are legal and illegal drugs not properly possessed under state or federal law. An 
exception to this policy will be made for the administration of medical marijuana in accordance with state law and 

Page 327 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 28   

district policy. As per Florida Statute 1006.09(8): School personnel are REQUIRED to report to the principal or the 
principal’s designee any suspected unlawful use, possession, or sale by a student of any controlled substance as defined 
in s. 893.02; any counterfeit controlled substance as defined in s. 831.31; any alcoholic beverage as defined in s. 
561.01(4); or model glue.  School personnel are exempt from civil liability when reporting in good faith to the proper 
school authority suspected unlawful use, possession, or sale by a student.  Only a principal or principal’s designee is 
authorized to contact a parent or legal guardian of a student regarding this situation.  
  
Compliance with the standards of conduct set forth in this policy and its accompanying regulations are mandatory for all 
students. A violation shall subject a student to appropriate disciplinary action, up to and including expulsion and referral 
for prosecution. For tobacco violations, students may have the option to complete an alternative to suspension program, 
in lieu of other disciplinary procedures.  
  
All students, families, and community members are expected to be aware of the prohibited conduct addressed in district 
policy and comply with the prohibitions. Failure to comply may result in student discipline up to and including 
expulsion; or family member or community member trespass from district property.  
  
“School property” means all property owned, leased, rented, or otherwise used or contracted for by a school. This 
includes, but is not limited to: all buildings used for instruction, administration, support services, maintenance, or 
storage; the grounds surrounding those buildings if the school is authorized to exercise dominion and control over the 
grounds; and all vehicles used by the school for transporting students, workers, visitors, or other persons.  
  
“Tobacco product” means any product that contains nicotine or tobacco or is derived from tobacco and is intended to be 
ingested, inhaled, or applied to the skin of an individual. “Tobacco product” does not include any product that has been 
approved by the appropriate federal agency as a tobacco use cessation product. However, due to the wide range of 
nicotine levels available in tobacco cessation products, the school may request a written document from a medical 
provider, for anyone under the age of 18, detailing dosage recommendation for tobacco cessation product use. “Use” 
means the lighting, chewing, smoking, inhaling, vaporizing, ingesting or application of any other tobacco substance.  
  

WEAPONS IN SCHOOL  
  
The possession and/or use of a weapon by a student is detrimental to the welfare and safety of students and school 
personnel within the district. Carrying, bringing, using, or possessing a weapon in any school building, on school 
grounds, in any school vehicle, or at any school-sponsored activity without the authorization of the school or the school 
district is prohibited.  
  

FIREARMS  
  
Any student who is determined to have brought a firearm or weapon (as defined in Chapter 790.115(1), F.S.) to school, 
onto any school ground (including parking areas), to any school function, or onto any school-sponsored transportation 
and for making threats or false reports against a person or persons (as defined in F.S. 790.162 and 790.163) is 
automatically recommended to be expelled for not less than one full year.  
  
The Superintendent may consider the one year expulsion on a case by case basis and request the School Board to modify 
the requirement, including placement in in an alternative program if in the best interest of the student and school system.  

Page 328 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 29   

  Possession of an artificial firearm is an automatic suspension and possible expulsion recommendation to the 
Superintendent.  

  

STRIKING OR THREATENING SCHOOL BOARD EMPLOYEE  
  

Infractions include:  
 Striking a school board employee.  
 Threatening or attempting bodily harm when the person being threatened feels that the threat is real and may be 

carried out.  
  

Procedures for investigating the striking or threatening of school district employees will include, but no be 
limited to, the following:  

 Collect all relevant information, including witness statements.  
 Consult with law enforcement at staff member’s direction; school administration and the district Human 

Resources office should assist the staff member if needed in notifying CCEA or CESPA.  
 Notify parent of incident; notice the family with certified letter of principal review.  
 Issue suspension notice with recommendation for expulsion (see ESE guidelines if student is a Student with 

Disabilities; a ten-day recommended suspension must be addressed at the district meeting).  
 Notify Hearing Office by sending paperwork and recommendations.  
 Recommendations may include temporary placement in an appropriate alternative setting prior to any 

districtlevel hearing.  
 The Superintendent or designee will convene the District Discipline Review Committee to investigate the 

incident. The Superintendent or designee will select the members of the committee, including members of the 
Clay County Education Association (CCEA) or Clay Educational Staff Professional Association Local 7409 
(CESPA) when the injured staff member presses charges. If the district employee chooses to press charges, they 
can attend the district-wide meeting.  

 The student must attend the review meeting. Unusual circumstances that prevent their participation should be 
processed as part of the discipline backup material.  

 The committee will present its findings to the Superintendent through the Hearing Office for his expulsion 
recommendation to the School Board.  

  

DISCIPLINE ACTION MATRIX  
All infractions can be paired with multiple actions as set forth in the guidelines for assessing consequences student 
misconduct. School principals have the discretion to deviate from these guidelines by assessing an appropriate 
consequence other than ones stated in the guidelines if it is determined that there are mitigating or aggravating 
circumstances.  
  
The nature of the misbehavior and the student’s past disciplinary record may be considered in disciplinary action under 
progressive discipline. Students may be referred for mental health services as indicated by need and history. The school 
district employee who is supervising the student or who observes the misbehavior should intervene in the misconduct. If 
repeated misbehavior or further action is necessary the school district employee should refer the student to the school 
administrator. After hearing the student’s explanation, consulting with staff members and investigating as necessary, the 
administrator will decide on disciplinary action.  
  

Page 329 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 30   

Following are actions/interventions that can be used to address student misconduct. Each action/intervention is coded in 
the SIS to guide the user when choosing which action/intervention to apply. ALL INFRACTIONS REQUIRE PARENT 
CONTACT SUCH AS A CONFERENCE.  More than one action/intervention can be used for a single incident. Inside 
the parentheses next to an action is the maximum number of days recommended for that action.  
  
It is strongly encouraged that an action/intervention that is focused on building better coping skills or desired behavior 
be used when an exclusionary action is also utilized.  
  

ELEMENTARY  
  

  Elementary Level 0   

Incident Description   1st Incident  2nd Incident  3RD  + Incident  

BIT: Behavior Incident 
Tracking  

• • • 
•  

  

Restorative Practices  
Confiscation 
Letter of Apology 
School Defined:  
Consequence  

• Conference  
• Restorative Practices  
• Confiscation  
• Letter of Apology  
• Silent Lunch • 
 School Defined: 
Consequence  

  

• Conference  
• Restorative 

Practices  
• Confiscation  
• Letter of Apology  
• Silent Lunch • 

 School 
Defined: 
Consequence   

• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Consultation(s)  

  
  

MUL: Multiple Level 2 
Referrals  

• •  

•  

• •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  

• Restorative Practices  
• School Defined: 

Consequence  
• School Defined: 

A.T.O.S.S.  
• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  

• OSS (10)  
• Hearing Office  

RCE: Room Clearing 
Event 

• •  

•  

• •  
• •  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  

• Restorative 
Practices  

• School Defined: 
Consequence  

• School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  

• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges 

• OSS (10)  
• Hearing Office 

 

Page 330 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 31   

 • •  
•  

Consultation  
ISS(3)  
OSS(1)  

• Consultation  
• ISS(3)  
• OSS(1)  

  

SAO: Felony Charges filed 
outside of the school  

• •  OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

• OSS (10)  
• Hearing Office  

• 
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

VBC: Violation of 
Behavior Contract  

• •  

•  

• • 
• •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
ISS(3)  
OSS(1)  

• Restorative Practices  
• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Consultations  
• ISS(5)  
• OSS(3)  

•  

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
•  
•  

Restorative  
Practices  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
Hearing Office  
ISS(10)  
OSS(10)  

UBL: Unsubstantiated 
Bullying  

• •  Restorative Practices 
Loss of Privileges  

• Restorative Practices  
• School Defined: 

Consequence  
• Consultations  

•  

•  

Restorative  
Practices  
School Defined:  
Consequence  

    •  Consultations  

UHR: Unsubstantiated 
Harassment  

•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
Loss of Privileges  

• Restorative Practices  
• School Defined: 

Consequence  
• Consultations  

•  

•  

Restorative  
Practices  
School Defined:  
Consequence  

    •  Consultations  

 Elementary Level 1   

Incident Description   1st Incident  2nd Incident   3 + Incident  

DRS: Dress Code Violation  •  
  

Restorative Practices  • Restorative Practices  
• Loss of Privileges  

•  Restorative 
Practices  

    •  Loss of Privileges   

    •  Behavior Contract  

    •  ISS(1)  

PRO: Profanity/Obscene 
Language or Gesture  

•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
Loss of Privileges  

• Restorative Practices  
• Loss of Privileges  

•  Restorative 
Practices  

    •  Loss of Privileges   

    •  Behavior Contract  

    •  ISS(1)  

Page 331 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 32   

FLS: Providing False 
Information/Forgery  

• •  
•  

Restorative Practices  
Loss of Privileges  
ISS(1)  

• Restorative Practices  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• ISS(3)  

•  

• 
•  
•  

Restorative  
Practices  
Loss of Privileges   
Behavior Contract  
Detention  

    •  ISS(5)  

SKP: Skipping Class  • •  
•  

Restorative Practices  
Loss of Privileges  
Detention  

• Restorative Practices  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Detention  

•  

•  

Restorative  
Practices  
Loss of Privileges  

    •  Detention   

    •  Behavior Contract  

    •  Consultations  

    •  ISS (1)  

RTF: Response to a  
Confrontation/Combatant  

• • •  
•  

Restorative Practices  
Loss of Privileges  
Detention  
ISS(1)  

• Restorative Practices  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Detention  
• ISS(3)  

•  

•  
•  

Restorative  
Practices  
Loss of Privileges  
Detention  

 
    •  Behavior Contract  

   
 

•  ISS(3)  

TAR: Tardy  •  Parent/Guardian 
Contact  

•  Parent/Guardian 
Contact  

•  Restorative 
Practices  

    •  Loss of Privileges  

    •  Attendance 
Contract  

    •  
  

Detention  

VCR: Violation of 
Classroom Rule  

• •  Restorative Practices 
Loss of Privileges  

• Restorative Practices  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• ISS(2)  

•  

• 
•  
•  

Restorative  
Practices  
Loss of Privileges   
Behavior Contract  
Detention  

    •  ISS(5)  

 Elementary Level 2   

Incident Description   1st Incident  2nd Incident   3 + Incident  

Page 332 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 33   

ABS: Abuse of School  
Property - vandalism under  
$1000  

• •  

•  

• • 
• •  
•  

  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
ISS(3)  
OSS(1)  

• Restorative Practices  
• School Defined: 

Consequence  
• School Defined: 

A.T.O.S.S.  
• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Consultations  
• ISS(5)  
• OSS(3)  
• BUS Suspension(5)  

•  

•  

•  

• 
• 
• 
• 
•  
•  

Restorative  
Practices  
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  

    •  BUS 
Suspension(10)  

DEF: Defiance/Disrespect 
Insubordination  

• •  

•  

• • 
• •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(3)  
OSS(1)  

• School Defined: 
Consequence  

• School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  

• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Consultations  
• FEP  
• ISS(5)  
• OSS(3)  
• BUS Suspension(3)  

•  

•  

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
•  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  
BUS 
Suspension(10)  

DSP: Dispute/ Student to 
Student Confrontation   

• •  

•  

• • 
• • • 

•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  
OSS(3)  
BUS Suspension(5)  

• Restorative Practices  
• School Defined: 

Consequence  
• School Defined: 

A.T.O.S.S.  
• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Consultations  
• ISS(10)  
• OSS(5)  
• BUS Suspension(10)  

•  

•  

•  

• 
• 
• 
• 
•  
•  

Restorative  
Practices  
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(10)  
OSS(10)  

 
 •  Threat Assessment  •  Threat Assessment  •  BUS 

Suspension(10)  
     •  Threat Assessment  

     •  Hearing Office  

Page 333 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 34   

LVS: Leaving School 
without Permission  

• •  

• • 
•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(3)  

• •  

•  

• • 
• •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Attendance Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  
•  

Restorative  
Practices  
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Attendance  
Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  

     •  Consultations  

     •  ISS(10)  

     •  Hearing Office  

POS: Possession of 
Inappropriate Object  

• •  

•  

• • 
• •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  
OSS(3)  

• •  

•  

• • 
• • •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(10)  
OSS(5)  

• 
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

SPE: Student uses 
Profanity or 
Gesture/School Board  
Employee  

• •  

•  

• • 
• •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  
OSS(2)  

• •  

•  

• • 
• • •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

STP: Stealing/Petty Theft 
< $300  

• •  

•  

• • 
• •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(3)  
OSS(3)  

• •  

•  

• • 
• • •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  

•  

•  

•  

• 
• 
• 
•  
•  

Restorative  
Practices  
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(10)  

     •  OSS(10)  

Page 334 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 35   

     •  Hearing Office  

IAC: Inappropriate 
Conduct  

• •  

•  

•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Detention  

• •  

•  

•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  

•  

•  

•  

Restorative  
Practices  
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  

 
 • • •  

•  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(3)  
OSS(3)  

• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Consultations  
• ISS(5)  
• OSS(5)  

• 
• 
• 
•  
•  

Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(10)  

    •  OSS(10)  

    •  Hearing Office  

 Elementary Level 3   

Incident Description   1st Incident  2nd Incident   3 + Incident  

IDT: Identity Theft  • •  

•  

• • 
• • • 

•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(2)  
OSS(2)  
Hearing Office  

• Restorative Practices  
• School Defined: 

Consequence  
• School Defined: 

A.T.O.S.S.  
• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Consultations  
• ISS(5)  
• OSS(5)  
• Hearing Office  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

OMC: Other Major  • •  

•  

• • 
• • • 

•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  
Hearing Office  

• Restorative Practices  
• School Defined: 

Consequence  
• School Defined: 

A.T.O.S.S.  
• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Consultations  
• ISS(5)  
• OSS(5)  
• Hearing Office  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

Page 335 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 36   

SCE: Student  
Confrontation/School 
Board Employee – 
nonphysical  

• •  

•  

• • 
• • • 

•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  
Hearing Office  

• OSS (10)  
• Hearing Office  

   

TEC: Inappropriate use of 
Technology  

• •  

•  

• • 
• • •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(3)  
OSS(3)  

• Restorative Practices  
• School Defined: 

Consequence  
• School Defined: 

A.T.O.S.S.  
• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Consultations  
• ISS(5)  
• OSS(5)  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

 

 •  Hearing Office  •  Hearing Office    

BRK: Breaking & 
Entering/Burglary  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

•       

BUL: 
Bullying/Cyberbullying  

• •  

•  

• • 
• • • 

•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(3)  
OSS(3)  
Hearing Office  

• •  

•  

• • 
• • • 

•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  
Hearing Office  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

DOC: Disruption on 
Campus - Major Disorderly 
Conduct  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

•       

Page 336 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 37   

FIT: Fighting  •  

•  

• • • 
• • • 

•  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(10)  
OSS(5)  
BUS Suspension(5)  

•  

•  

• • • 
• • • 

•  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(10)  
OSS(10)  
BUS Suspension(10)  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

HAR: Harassment  •  

•  

• • • 
• • • 

•  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(3)  
OSS(3)  
BUS Suspension(3)  

•  

•  

• • • 
• • • 

•  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  
BUS Suspension(5)  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

HAZ: Hazing  •  

•  

• • • 
• • • 

•  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(3)  
OSS(3)  
BUS Suspension(5)  

•  

•  

• • • 
• • • 

•  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  
BUS Suspension(5)  

•    

PHA: Physical Attack – 
including school board 
personnel  

•  

•  

School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

   

 

 • Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Consultations  
• FEP  
• ISS(5)  
• OSS(5)  
• BUS Suspension(5)  

  

Page 337 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 38   

SXO: Sexual Offenses  • School Defined: 
Consequence  

• School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  

• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Consultations  
• FEP  
• ISS(5)  
• OSS(5)  
• BUS Suspension(5)  

• OSS (10)  
• Hearing Office  

  

TBC: Tobacco  • School Defined: 
Consequence  

• School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  

• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Consultations  
• FEP  
• ISS(5)  
• OSS(5)  
• BUS Suspension(5)  

• OSS (10)  
• Hearing Office  

  

TRE: Threat/Intimidation  • OSS (10)  
• Hearing Office  

• OSS (10)  
• Hearing Office  

  

Elementary Level 4  

INCIDENT 
DESCRIPTION  

1st Incident  2nd Incident  3 + Incident  

ALC: Alcohol   OSS (10) 
Hearing Office  

    

ARS: Arson  OSS (10) 
Hearing Office  

    

BAT: Battery  OSS (10) 
Hearing Office  

    

DRD: Drug Sale  
Distribution; excluding 
alcohol  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

    

DRU: Drug Use 
Possession; excluding 
alcohol  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

    

HOM: Homicide  OSS (10) 
Hearing Office  

    

KID: Kidnapping  OSS (10) 
Hearing Office  

    

ROB: Robbery/Extortion  OSS (10) 
Hearing Office  

    

Page 338 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 39   

STL: Larceny/Theft > 
$300, including Motor 
Vehicle Theft   

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

    

SXA: Sexual Assault  OSS (10) 
Hearing Office  

    

SXB: Sexual Battery  OSS (10) 
Hearing Office  

    

SXB: Sexual Harassment  OSS (10) 
Hearing Office  

    

TRS: Trespassing  OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

    

VAN: Vandalism > $1000  OSS (10) 
Hearing Office  

    

WPO: Weapon Possession  OSS (10) 
Hearing Office  

    

  

SECONDARY  
  

 
UBL: Unsubstantiated 
Bullying  

•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
Loss of Privileges  

• Restorative Practices  
• School Defined: 

Consequence  
• Consultations  

•  

•  

Restorative  
Practices  
School Defined:  
Consequence  

   •    

   •    

    •  Consultations  

UHR: Unsubstantiated 
Harassment  

•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
Loss of Privileges  

• Restorative Practices  
• School Defined: 

Consequence  
• Consultations  

•  

•  

Restorative  
Practices  
School Defined:  
Consequence  

    •  Consultations  

 Secondary Level 1   

Incident Description   1st Incident  2nd Incident   3 + Incident  

DRS: Dress Code Violation  • 
•  

Restorative Practices 
Loss of Privileges  

• Restorative Practices  
• Loss of Privileges  

•  Restorative 
Practices  

    •  Loss of Privileges   

    •  Behavior Contract  

Page 339 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 40   

    •  ISS(1)  

PRO: Profanity/Obscene 
Language or Gesture  

•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
Loss of Privileges  

• Restorative Practices  
• Loss of Privileges  

•  Restorative 
Practices  

    •  Loss of Privileges   

    •  Behavior Contract  

    •  ISS(1)  

FLS: Providing False 
Information/Forgery  

• 
•  
•  

Restorative Practices  
Loss of Privileges  
ISS(1)  

• Restorative Practices  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• ISS(3)  

•  

• •  
•  

Restorative  
Practices  
Loss of Privileges   
Behavior Contract  
Detention  

    •  ISS(5)  

SKP: Skipping Class  • 
•  
•  

Restorative Practices  
Loss of Privileges  
Detention  

• Restorative Practices  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Detention  

•  

•  

Restorative  
Practices  
Loss of Privileges  

    •  Detention   

    •  Behavior Contract  

    •  Consultations  

    •  ISS (1)  

RTF: Response to a  
Confrontation/Combatant  

• 
• 
•  
•  

Restorative Practices  
Loss of Privileges  
Detention  
ISS(1)  

• Restorative Practices  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Detention  
• ISS(3)  

•  

•  
•  

Restorative  
Practices  
Loss of Privileges  
Detention  

    •  Behavior Contract  

    •  ISS(3)  

TAR: Tardy  •  Parent/Guardian 
Contact  

•  Parent/Guardian 
Contact  

•  Restorative 
Practices  

    •  Loss of Privileges  

    •  Attendance 
Contract  

    •  
  

Detention  

VCR: Violation of 
Classroom Rule  

•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
Loss of Privileges  

• Restorative Practices  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• ISS(2)  

•  

• •  
•  

Restorative  
Practices  
Loss of Privileges   
Behavior Contract  
Detention  

    •  ISS(5)  

Page 340 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 41   

 
Secondary Level 2   

 
Incident Description   1st Incident   2nd Incident   3 + Incident  

ABS: Abuse of School  
Property - vandalism under  
$1000  

•  

•  

• • • 
• • • 

•  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(5)  
OSS(3)  
BUS Suspension(10)  

•  

•  

• • • 
• • • 

•  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  
BUS Suspension(10)  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

DEF: Defiance/Disrespect 
Insubordination  

• •  

•  

• • 
• •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(3)  
OSS(1)  

•  

•  

• • • 
• • • 

•  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(5)  
OSS(3)  
BUS Suspension(10)  

•  

•  

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
•  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  
BUS  
Suspension(10)  

DSP: Dispute/ Student to 
Student Confrontation   

•  

•  

• • • 
• • • 
• •  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(10)  
OSS(5)  
BUS Suspension(5)  
Threat Assessment  

•  

•  

• • • 
• • • 
• •  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(10)  
OSS(10)  
BUS Suspension(10)  
Threat Assessment  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

Page 341 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 42   

LVS: Leaving School 
without Permission  

• •  

• • 
•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(3)  

• •  

•  

• • 
• •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Attendance Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  
•  

Restorative  
Practices  
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Attendance  
Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  

     •  Consultations  

     •  ISS(10)  

     •  Hearing Office  

POS: Possession of 
Inappropriate Object  

• •  

•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  

• •  

•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

 
 • • • 

•  
•  

Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  
OSS(3)  

• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Consultations  
• ISS(10)  
• OSS(5)  

  

SPE: Student uses 
Profanity or 
Gesture/School Board  
Employee  

• •  

•  

• • 
• •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  
OSS(2)  

• Restorative Practices  
• School Defined: 

Consequence  
• School Defined: 

A.T.O.S.S.  
• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Consultations  
• ISS(5)  
• OSS(5)  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

STP: Stealing/Petty Theft < 
$300  

• •  

•  

• • 
• •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(3)  
OSS(3)  

• Restorative Practices  
• School Defined: 

Consequence  
• School Defined: 

A.T.O.S.S.  
• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Consultations  
• ISS(5)  
• OSS(5)  

•  

•  

•  

• 
• 
• 
•  
•  

Restorative  
Practices  
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(10)  

Page 342 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 43   

    •  OSS(10)  

    •  Hearing Office  

IAC: Inappropriate 
Conduct  

• •  

•  

• • 
• •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(3)  
OSS(3)  

• Restorative Practices  
• School Defined: 

Consequence  
• School Defined: 

A.T.O.S.S.  
• Behavior Contract  
• Detention  
• Loss of Privileges  
• Consultations  
• ISS(5)  
• OSS(5)  

•  

•  

•  

• 
• 
• 
•  
•  

Restorative  
Practices  
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(10)  

    •  OSS(10)  

    •  Hearing Office  

 Secondary Level 3   

Incident Description   1st Incident  2nd Incident   3 + Incident  

IDT: Identity Theft  • •  

•  

• • 
• • •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  

• OSS (10)  
• Hearing Office  

   

 

 •  Hearing Office      

OMC: Other Major  • •  

•  

• • 
• • • 
• •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  
Hearing Office  
Threat Assessment  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

   

Page 343 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 44   

SCE: Student  
Confrontation/School Board  
Employee – nonphysical  

• •  

•  

• • 
• • • 
• •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  
Hearing Office  
Threat Assessment  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

   

TEC: Inappropriate use of 
Technology  

• •  

•  

• • 
• • • 

•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(3)  
OSS(3)  
Hearing Office  

• •  

•  

• • 
• • • 

•  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  
Hearing Office  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

BRK: Breaking & 
Entering/Burglary  

• •  OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

      

BUL: 
Bullying/Cyberbullying  

• •  

•  

• • 
• • • 
• •  
•  

Restorative Practices 
School Defined:  
Consequence 
School Defined: 
A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
ISS(3)  
OSS(3)  
Hearing Office  
Threat Assessment  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

   

DOC: Disruption on 
Campus - Major Disorderly 
Conduct  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

   

 

Page 344 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 45   

FIT: Fighting  •  

•  

• • 
• • 
• • 
• •  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence School 
Defined: A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(10)  
OSS(5)  
BUS Suspension(5)  
Threat Assessment  

•  

•  

• • 
• • 
• • 
• •  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence School 
Defined: A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(10)  
OSS(10)  
BUS Suspension(10)  
Threat Assessment  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

HAR: Harassment  •  

•  

• • 
• • 
• • 
• •  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence School 
Defined: A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  
BUS Suspension(5)  
Threat Assessment  

• •  OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

   

HAZ: Hazing  •  OSS (10)        

 •  Hearing Office      

PHA: Physical Attack – 
including school board 
personnel  

•  

•  

• • 
• • 
• • 
• •  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence School 
Defined: A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  
BUS Suspension(5)  
Threat Assessment  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

   

Page 345 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 46   

SXO: Sexual Offenses  •  

•  

• • 
• • 
• • 
•  
•  

School Defined:  
Consequence School 
Defined: A.T.O.S.S.  
Behavior Contract  
Detention  
Loss of Privileges  
Consultations  
FEP  
ISS(5)  
OSS(5)  
BUS Suspension(5)  

• •  OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

   

TBC: Tobacco  •  

•  

School Defined:  
Consequence School 
Defined: A.T.O.S.S.  

• •  OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

   

 •  Behavior Contract    

 •  Detention    

 •  Loss of Privileges    

 •  Consultations    

 •  FEP    

 •  ISS(5)    

 •  OSS(5)    

 •  BUS Suspension(5)    

TRE: Threat/Intimidation  •  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

• OSS (10)  
• Hearing Office  

  

  Secondary Level 4   

Incident Description   1st Incident  2nd Incident  3 + Incident  

ALC: Alcohol   •  OSS (10)      
 •  Hearing Office    

ARS: Arson  •  OSS (10)      
 •  Hearing Office    

BAT: Battery  •  OSS (10)      
 •  Hearing Office    

DRD: Drug Sale 
Distribution; excluding 
alcohol  

• •  OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

    

DRU: Drug Use Possession; 
excluding alcohol  

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

    

HOM: Homicide  •  OSS (10)      

Page 346 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 47   

 •  Hearing Office    

KID: Kidnapping  •  OSS (10)      
 •  Hearing Office    

ROB: Robbery/Extortion  •  OSS (10)      
 •  Hearing Office    

STL: Larceny/Theft > $300, 
including Motor Vehicle 
Theft   

•  
•  

OSS (10)  
Hearing Office  

    

SXA: Sexual Assault  •  OSS (10)      
 •  Hearing Office    

SXB: Sexual Battery  •  OSS (10)      
 •  Hearing Office    

SXB: Sexual Harassment  •  OSS (10)      
 •  Hearing Office    

TRS: Trespassing  •  OSS (10)      
 •  Hearing Office    

VAN: Vandalism > $1000  •  OSS (10)      
 •  Hearing Office    

WPO: Weapon Possession  •  OSS (10)      
 •  Hearing Office    

  

ACTION MATRIX  
  

Category  Action  Duration  

Parent Involvement  Parent Phone Call    

Parent Involvement  Admin/Parent/Student Conference    

School Defined  School Defined: Consequence    

School Defined  School Defined: Restorative Practice    

School Defined  School Defined: Alternative to Suspension  1-3 days  

  1-5 days  
1-10 days  

Restorative Practice  Reflection Sheet    

Restorative Practice  Apology Letter (required for each infraction)    

Restorative Practice  Restitution    

Page 347 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 48   

Restorative Practice  School Chores  1-3 days 1-
5 days  
1-10 days  

Restorative Practice  Peer Mediation    

Contract  Attendance Contract    

Contract  Behavior Contract     

Removal  Silent Lunch    

Detention  Detention: Class  1-3 days 1-
5 days  

Detention  Detention: After School  1-3 days 1-
5 days  

Detention  Detention: Saturday    

Removal  Loss of Privilege(s)/Extracurricular Activities  1-3 days  
1-5 days  
1-10 days  

Consultation  ESE Department Collaboration    

Consultation  Referral to Guidance Services    

Consultation  Referral for Social Work or Mental Health    

Consultation  Referral to Family Education Program    

Consultation  Referral to Hearing Office School Bus Suspension    

Suspension  School Bus Suspension  1-3 days  
1-5 days 1-10 
days  bus 
expulsion  

Suspension  In-School Suspension  1-3 days  
1-5 days  
1-10 days  

Suspension  Out-of-School Suspension  1-3 days 1-
5 days  
1-10 days  

Alt School  Alternative School Placement    

Expulsion  Expulsion    

  

DISCIPLINE & STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES  
  
The School District of Clay County is committed to providing all students with disabilities a free, appropriate public 
education.  While this commitment includes all aspects of the disabled students learning experience, it in no way lessens 
the School Board’s intention to maintain a safe, orderly environment for the entire student and staff population.  

Page 348 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 49   

Additionally, the School Board believes that the implementation of thoughtful, carefully constructed disciplinary 
procedures is a necessary component of student education.  
   
Formal disciplinary actions described in the Clay County Code of Student Conduct may be used with students with 
disabilities when trained professionals have evidence that such strategies are appropriate to the student’s conduct and 
contribute to his learning process.  When necessary to ensure the overall safety, welfare, and/or order of the school 
environment, a student with disabilities may be subjected to short-term suspension with all alternative procedures and 
safeguards affirmed.  More serious violations may result in a recommendation for expulsion and/or an administrative 
placement in an Alternative Exceptional Education setting.  
  
When working with students with disabilities, the goal is to focus on proactive strategies using positive behavioral 
interventions and supports with an intentionally reduced focus on exclusionary methods (i.e. out-of-school suspension).  
Individualized Education Plan (IEP) or 504 teams must convene when a student reaches his or her fifth day of out-
ofschool suspension in order to proactively address the student’s needs.  Teams may convene any time prior to the fifth 
day of suspension if the need is warranted.  
  
Procedures which govern a change of placement generally follow these guidelines:  

 The district prohibits any student with a disability from being suspended out-of-school for more than ten (10) 
consecutive days or ten (10) cumulative days within a school year.  Any disciplinary removal of a student with a 
disability for more than ten (10) days in a school year is considered a change of placement.  If a decision is 
made that a change of placement will occur for a student with a disability, the student’s IEP or 504 team will be 
convened to conduct a manifestation determination review.  

 Students with disabilities who have been determined to have committed certain Level III or Level IV infractions 
of the Code of Student Conduct may be recommended for expulsion.  

 A group of professionals trained to provide input regarding the student’s disabling condition documents 
evidence that the on- campus expellable event is not a manifestation of this condition.  The group shall include 
the school psychologist, appropriate Exceptional Student Education (ESE) personnel, and administrative 
representation of the referring campus.    This group shall convene with the parents of the student 
recommended for expulsion to generate an appropriate Individualized Education Plan or 504 Plan.  

 If it is determined that the offense is a manifestation of the disabling condition, the student may not be expelled, 
but may be provided services for a limited time in an alternative setting. The setting will be determined by an 
IEP or 504 Plan committee. For Students with Disabilities, appropriate goals and objectives to address the 
inappropriate behavior(s) will be reviewed or generated and will be implemented in the resulting educational 
setting.   

 In addition to the student’s placement in an appropriate ESE Program or 504 Plan, there is documented evidence 
of the availability of necessary support services and concentrated alternatives. Furthermore, a Functional 
Behavior Assessment/ Positive Behavior Support Plan (FBA/PBSP) is to be generated or reviewed and added to 
the IEP.  For students with 504 Plan, a behavior plan will be generated or reviewed.  

 A district-wide discipline hearing may be held to consider the Principal’s recommendations to the 
Superintendent.  

 The recommendations will be based on the Statement of Manifestation and the determination of eligibility for 
expulsion.  

 After a review of the following documentation by the ESE Director or Student Services staff, the Superintendent 
may notify the parents (regarding) the Clay County School Board hearing schedule and the rights accorded the 
student at the hearing:  

Page 349 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 50   

o Statement of Manifestation o Current IEP, including relevant matrix amendments, or 
504 Plan o Least Restrictive Environment (LRE)  

o Functional Behavior Assessment/Positive Behavior Support Plan  

 All Due Process Rights and Procedures are granted to students with disabilities.  
 Under no circumstances shall expulsion of a student with disabilities result in a complete cessation of 

educational services.  Students will be provided an alternative setting in order to insure that the IEP or 504 Plan 
is continued.  

  
NOTE: In reference to students with a 504 Plan, the consequences for drug or alcohol use or possession by any student 
with a disability are not different from non-disabled students.  
  

STUDENTS CHARGED WITH FELONY  
  
Pursuant to Section 1006.09(2), Florida Statutes, a student charged with a felony or delinquent act that would be a felony 
if committed by an adult, whether it occurred on or away from school board property, may be suspended or assigned to 
an alternative education program.  Such assignment may be made upon determination that the student is eligible 
according to federal and state program criteria, and:  

 the nature of the offense is such that the student poses a threat to safety of other students or personnel at school   
 the student’s safety is at risk by remaining in school or at a school-sponsored event with other students.   

  
A principal can initiate this process in writing through the Hearing Office under authority of F.S. 1001.54 and guidance 
of F.S. 1006.13(6). Suspension pursuant to this process shall not affect the delivery of educational services to the student 
and the student shall be enrolled in an alternative education program. Students who are eligible for services under the 
IDEA or Section 504 of the Americans with Disabilities Act are subject to those procedural safeguards. The 
recommendation of the principal to exercise this policy must be approved by the principal supervisor.  
  
  
     

Page 350 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 51   

STUDENT SAFETY  
  

THREAT MANAGEMENT ASSESSMENT  
  
In support of maintaining school safety, staff will investigate reports of, or evidence regarding, student behavior on or 
off school grounds that could pose a threat to the safety or welfare of other students or staff.  
  
Threatening or potentially dangerous behavior may include verbal, written, or non-verbal communications or gestures. 
Threats may be direct, indirect, conditional, or veiled. Threats may be communicated in person, electronically, through a 
third party, or by other intentional or unintentional means.  
  
In assessing the potential level of danger of a student’s behavior, school staff may conduct a threat assessment following 
district policy. Families may be invited to assist school staff in completing the assessment. However, family refusal to 
assist staff in completing the assessment will not prevent staff from completing those parts of the assessment about 
which staff is knowledgeable. Clay County District Schools may also make a determination of risk based on information 
received from law enforcement agencies, court personnel, mental health professionals, human services, or other agency 
partners.  
  
Families will be notified when a threat assessment is being conducted, or as soon as possible after such assessment has 
been conducted, regarding their student. Records of student threat management assessments shall be provided to families 
upon request. Students may be required to participate in the development of a safety plan and comply with such plan.  
  

FORTIFYFL  
  
FortifyFL is a suspicious activity reporting tool that allows you to instantly relay information to appropriate law 
enforcement agencies and school officials.  It is available on the CCDS student portal, and may be downloaded to any 
portable device through the FLDOE website.  
  

RANDOM SEARCHES  
  
School officials or school employees designated by the principal may conduct random searches of groups of individuals 
if the checks are done in a minimally intrusive, nondiscriminatory manner (e.g., on all students in a randomly selected 
class; on every third individual entering an athletic event, etc.).  Random searches may not be used to single out a 
particular individual or category of individuals.  
  
If a school official or a law enforcement officer has reasonable suspicion to believe that a particular student is in 
possession of an illegal or unauthorized metal container, object, or weapon, he or she may conduct a metal detector 
check of the student’s person and personal effects.  
  
A student’s failure to permit a search as provided in this policy will be considered grounds for disciplinary action, 
including suspension.  
  
School personnel may conduct a search of a student’s possessions, a student’s locker, or any other storage area on school 
property or student vehicle without a warrant when school personnel have reasonable suspicion that illegal, prohibited, 

Page 351 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 52   

harmful items or substance, or stolen property may be concealed in such location. School personnel have the authority to 
search a student’s possessions upon reasonable suspicion if the student refuses to reveal the contents inside.   
  
School personnel are encouraged to attempt to obtain consent from a student to search for illegal, prohibited, harmful 
items or  substances, or stolen property, but may proceed with a search without a student’s consent, upon reasonable 
suspicion of a prohibited or illegally-possessed substance or object.  
  
Principals are authorized to request from law enforcement the need to utilize trained dogs to detect the presence of 
illegally possessed substances or objects in student lockers, in student automobiles parked on campus, and any student 
possession that is located on campus per Florida Statute 1006.09(9).  
  

FAMILY BEHAVIOR & EXPECTATIONS  
  
All Clay County District Schools students and staff deserve to learn and work in an environment free from disruption, 
threat or intimidation. Family members and adult visitors will display appropriate and professional adult behavior in 
schools, during school events and at sanctioned school activities at all times. In accordance with Florida law, failure of a 
family member or adult visitor to act appropriately may result in the violator being prohibited (trespassed) from being on 
school property or attending any school sanctioned events. In cases of significant disruption, law enforcement will be 
contacted regarding the matter.  
  

  
     

Page 352 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 53   

STUDENT HEALTH  
  

IMMUNIZATION  
  
The Florida Department of Health has published the 2019-20 School Entry Immunization Requirements 2020-21 School 
Entry Immunization Requirements on their website, along with multiple resources to help families navigate the 
Immunization Guidelines for school-age and preschool/daycare requirements.  There is a FAQ section to assist in this 
process.  
  
A Certificate of Immunization (DH 680) indicating compliance with the current required schedule of immunizations 
must be presented prior to enrollment in school. A physical exam (performed within 1 year prior to initial enrollment in 
Florida public or private schools) is required for all students new to the district. (FS 1003.22)  
  

HEALTH SERVICES/SCREENINGS  
At the beginning of each school year, the Clay County Schools and the Florida Department of Health in Clay County are 
required, by law, (F.S. 381.0056) to inform parents of the health screening program. This program is carried out to 
appraise, protect and promote the health of students through assisting in the early identification of health problems in the 
areas of hearing, vision, growth & development, dental, mental health, and scoliosis. These screenings are limited to 
procedures that do not penetrate the skin or any body orifice (i.e.., any invasive screening requires written parent 
permission). Written requests for exemption for these services should be made to your local school within fifteen (15) 
days of registration.  
  

LIVE LICE POLICY  
  
The Florida Department of Health in Clay County is committed to utilizing best practice recommendations for lice 
management in schools in a manner that respects the privacy of students and families. No Clay County District School 
(CCDS) personnel, parents of other students or unauthorized personnel other than clinic staff and school principal (on a 
need to know basis) will be notified of a student having lice/nits. Lice exclusions are viewed as necessary only when 
excessive infestations (more than 10 live lice, diagnosed by a treating health care provider) are present or there is lack of 
follow up with treating lice.  
  
Per the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, head lice can be a nuisance but they have not been shown to spread 
disease. Personal hygiene or cleanliness in the home or school has nothing to do with getting head lice. For more 
information, go to head lice information for schools from the CDC.  
  
Both the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) and the National Association of School Nurses (NASN) offers the 
following information and advocates that school districts review policies regularly based on the following reasons:  

 Many nits are more than ¼ inch from the scalp. Such nits are usually not viable and very unlikely to hatch to 
become crawling lice, or may in fact be empty shells, also known as ‘casings’.  

 Nits are cemented to hair shafts and are very unlikely to be transferred successfully to other people.  
 The burden of unnecessary absenteeism to the students, families and communities far outweighs the risks 

associated with head lice.  
 Misidentification of nits is very common during nit checks conducted by nonmedical personnel.  

Page 353 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 54   

 Lice are typically not spread within the school setting. Lice transmission requires close head-to head contact or 
the sharing of personal hair related items.  

  
  
School health room staff responsibilities regarding lice in schools:   

 Educate school staff regarding head lice causes, treatment and common misconceptions such as:  
o Getting head lice is not related to cleanliness of the person or his/her environment. o Head lice are 

mainly spread by direct contact with the hair of an infested person.  

o Head lice are not known to transmit disease.  

o Head lice move by crawling, not hopping or flying.  

o Head lice are not reportable to the public health departments unless there are other communicable disease 
related concerns.  

 Educate students and their families about how to prevent lice and what to do if a family member has lice.  

 Collaborate with the Public Health Department or other resources in planning assistance to families who have 
chronic infestation.  

  

Treatment:  
If you suspect a child has head lice, it’s important to encourage the parent(s)/guardian(s) to consult with a pediatrician or 
family physician for proper care as soon as possible. Treatment failure may be caused by lack of response to a treatment, 
incorrect product usage, misdiagnosis of the original condition, or re-infestation. To help avoid these pitfalls, the 
physician can confirm the diagnosis, discuss treatment options, provide an appropriate recommendation, and advise 
parent(s)/guardian(s) on how to properly use the medication.  
  

Key treatment considerations:  
 A common approach to head lice treatment is to use an over-the-counter (OTC) medication. While these 

treatments have been effective in the past, resistance to some OTC head lice treatments has been reported in 
recent years. A 2016 study showed that 48 states now have lice that may be genetically predisposed to resistance 
to commonly used treatments.  

 There are new prescription treatment options available that are safe and do not require nit combing.  
 Parent(s)/guardian(s) should closely follow treatment instructions. Using extra amounts or multiple applications 

of the same medication is not recommended, unless directed by a healthcare professional.  
 Family bed linens and recently used clothes, hats, and towels should be washed in very hot water and dried on 

the highest setting.  
 Personal articles such as combs, brushes, and hair clips should be soaked in very hot water (at least 130° F) for 5 

to 10 minutes.  
 All household members and other close contacts should be checked, and anyone with evidence of an active 

infestation should be treated. All persons with active head lice should be treated at the same time.  
  

Communicating with families:  
School nurses will help educate the community about head lice and treatment options, including OTC and prescription 
products, through letters to parents at the beginning of the school year or during a lice outbreak, handouts in the nurse’s 
office, and presentations during parent-teacher nights.  
  

Page 354 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 55   

School nurses can also help prevent stigmatization in the community by spreading the word that head lice infest children 
from all backgrounds and walks of life. Anyone can get head lice, no matter how clean their home or hair is, or where 
they live or go to school or play.  
  

Head Lice Protocol:  
 When live lice are identified, the child’s parent or guardian WILL be notified that same day by telephone stating  

that prompt, proper treatment must be completed before return to school after live lice diagnosis.  
 There are many acceptable treatment options; however, treatment with a product that is a both a pediculicide as 

well as ovicidal is the surest way to kill lice and prevent further re-infestation.   
 Student will not be allowed to return to school until proof of treatment is presented by parent(s)/guardians(s). 

Acceptable proof of treatment is a health care provider note, receipt from purchase of over-the-counter lice 
treatment or visual confirmation from CCDS health room staff of no live lice on scalp upon students return to 
school.  

 Notification letters should be sent home to alert parents only if a high percentage (20% or more) of children in a 
classroom are infested with lice.  

  

HOME RESPONSIBILITIES FOR GENERAL HEALTH UPDATES  
It is the responsibility of the parent(s)/guardian to notify the school of any health condition of their student(s) which may 
require medication, treatment, or monitoring at school or on school-sponsored trips or activities.  
  
It is the responsibility of the parent(s)/guardian to submit a properly executed “Authorization for  
Medication/Treatment” form (MIS 12470) to school administration if their student requires medication (including over  
the counter) or treatment to be given during the school day. Parents will be responsible for delivery and retrieval of 
medications to the school nurse/health designee. No medications are to be transported via the school bus system. All 
medications to be administered by school personnel shall be received and stored in the ORIGINAL container; this 
includes over-the-counter medications.  
  
It is the responsibility of the parent(s)/guardian to notify the school immediately of any chronic or acute medical 
conditions a child may have and of any necessity for a child to be allowed to self-medicate during the school day. Health 
Services Manual may be viewed at www.clay.k12.fl.us/PDF/health_manual.pdf.  
     

Page 355 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 56   

OTHER IMPORTANT INFORMATION FOR 
FAMILIES  

  

FAMILY EDUCATIONAL RIGHTS AND PRIVACY ACT (FERPA)  
  
The revised Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) became a Federal law in November, 1974 (amended  
1976).  The intent of this law is to protect the accuracy and privacy of student educational records.  The Clay County 
School Board has adopted a policy for the implementation of this Act and the Superintendent of Schools has approved 
administrative procedures for this purpose.  
  
Accordingly, this notice outlines the type of student information collected and how that information is maintained and 
released.  It further indicates the school officials who have the responsibility to follow appropriate procedures regarding 
the information.  
  
Section 1003.25 and Section 1002.22, F.S. mandates that each principal maintain a permanent cumulative record for 
each student enrolled in a public school.  Such records are to be maintained according to a format prescribed by rules of 
the State Board of Education.  These State Board Rules also define the data which must be kept.  
  

WHAT INFORMATION IS IN A STUDENT’S RECORD?  
Education records of a student include but are not necessarily limited to: personally identifiable data (student and parent 
name, address, birth date, birthplace, sex, race), academic record, standardized test results, attendance records, health 
data, family background information, teacher or counselor ratings and observation, psychological reports, extracurricular 
activities, honors and awards, list of schools attended, and any other evidence, knowledge, or information recorded in 
any medium and maintained and used by an educational institution or by a person acting for such institution.  The 
principal may maintain a separate disciplinary file for students involved in misconduct to include, but not be limited to, 
description of misconduct, suspension notices, records of action taken, etc.  As amended by NCLB (No Child Left 
Behind), the district will transfer disciplinary records, with respect to a suspension or expulsion, as part of the student’s 
educational record to any private or public elementary school or secondary school for any student who is enrolled or 
seeks, intends, or is instructed to enroll, on a full-or part-time basis, in the school (Section 4155 of the Elementary and 
Secondary Education Act of 1965). Confidential records created by the Department of Juvenile Justice are not included 
in a Student’s Educational record. The destruction of student records is in accordance with a retention schedule 
approved by the Bureau of Archives.  
  

WHO HAS ACCESS TO STUDENT RECORDS?   
Those persons having access to student records are the School Board, the Superintendent, school personnel within a 
school or school district with a legitimate educational interest and others specified by Section 1002.22 F.S.  A Record of 
Request shall be maintained in the records.  These records are maintained under the direction of the principal.  
  

WHAT ARE THE RIGHTS OF A PARENT OR ADULT STUDENT?  
According to (34C.F.R. § 300.20), a parent means:  

 A natural or adoptive parent of a child;  
 A guardian;  

Page 356 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 57   

 A person acting in the place of a parent (such as a grandparent or stepparent with whom the child lives, or a 
person who is legally responsible for the child’s welfare); or  A surrogate parent; or  

 A foster parent if the natural parent’s authority to make educational decisions on the child’s behalf has been  
extinguished under State law and the foster parent has an “ongoing, long-term parental relationship with the  
child; is willing to make the educational decisions required of parents under the Act; and has no interest that 
would conflict with the interests of the child.”  

  
Parents, legal guardians, or adult students (age 18 and/or in post-secondary education) have the right of access, right of 
waiver of access, right to revoke waiver of access, right to challenge and hearing, and right of privacy of records 
maintained on their child, and a right of a copy of the record (at the cost of reproduction).  
  
Transfer, disclosure, or release of student records requires prior written consent of the parent of eligible student 
exceptions include:  

 disclosures made to school officials with legitimate educational interests;  
 disclosures made to another school at which the student intends to enroll;  
 disclosures made to state or local education authorities for auditing or evaluating federal-or state-supported 

education programs, or enforcing relevant federal laws; and  
 disclosures including information the school has designated as “directory information.”  

  
A parent who wishes to review his/her child’s record should make an appointment with the principal or school 
counselor.  School personnel are available to interpret student record information.  All such requests will be honored by 
school officials as soon as possible.  It is required that requests be honored within thirty (30) days.  A copy of the Clay 
County Student Records Policy is available in all schools, and at the School Board offices in Green Cove Springs.  
  
In case of divorce or legal separation, either parent may have access to a child’s educational record unless an appropriate 
court order to the contrary has been filed with the school.  
  
Whatever rights are vested in the parent shall pass to the student whenever the student has attained eighteen (18) years of 
age or is attending a postsecondary educational institution, unless the student continues to be carried as a dependent on 
the parent’s income tax return. [Ref. 1002.22(3)]  Students under age 18 may assume adult rights if they become married 
or are emancipated by court order.  [Ref. F.S. 743.01 and 743.015]   Note: Pregnant and parenting teens continue as 
minors unless they become married or emancipated by court order.  
  
Parents or eligible students have the right to file a complaint with the Department of Health and Human Services 
concerning the alleged failure by the educational agency to comply with Section 438 of the Act.  (200 Independence 
Avenue, S.W., Washington, D. C., 20207).  F.S. 1000.21(5) defines “Parent” as: either or both parents, any guardian, or 
any person who is in a parental relationship to a student, or who is exercising supervisory authority in place of a parent 
over a student of public school age. The school district specific guidelines regarding “in-loco parentis” situation are 
detailed in School Board Policy 4.08.  
  

ARE THERE ANY RECORDS WHICH THE SCHOOL CAN REFUSE TO SHOW A PARENT OR 
ELIGIBLE STUDENT?  
The right to access does not pertain to the following educational records: teacher’s/counselor’s /administrator’s personal 
notes and records that are not accessible to any other person except a substitute of any such person; law enforcement 
records which are maintained solely for their purposes; personnel records, physician, psychologist, psychiatrist records, 
or other recognized professional or paraprofessional records that are maintained solely in connection with treatment; 

Page 357 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 58   

letters of recommendation/evaluation which were considered confidential and entered into the record prior to July 1, 
1977. No public educational institution shall maintain any report or record relative to a pupil or student which includes a 
copy of the pupil’s or student’s fingerprints.   The name and address of the office that administers FERPA is: Family 
Policy Compliance Office, U.S. Department of Education, 400 Maryland Avenue, SW, Washington, D.C. 20202-5920; 
See additional details in F.S. 1002.22(2)(c)1-8.  
  
  
WHAT INFORMATION IS RELEASED WITHOUT PARENT PERMISSION?  
The School District of Clay County reserves the right for its agents to release “directory information” without prior 
permission of the parent or adult student.  Directory information is information that is generally not considered harmful 
or an invasion of privacy if released. Such information will be limited to name, address, telephone number (if listed), 
date and place of birth, field of study, age, participation in school sponsored activities, height and weight of athletic team 
members, dates of attendance, most recent school attended, and degrees and awards received.  
  
This information relating to the student body in general may not be released to any individual or agency unless it is 
normally published for the public in general or to a business rendering services under contract with the School Board.  
Examples: the local newspapers, television, school newspaper, school yearbook, or military services.  
  
Section 9528 of the No Child Left Behind (NCLB) Act requires local education agencies (LEAs) to provide military 
recruiters with the name, address, and telephone listing of secondary students. The District shall honor any request of a 
parent or eligible student to withhold any or all of the information relating to a particular student.  Photographs are 
designated as directory information and annual yearbooks and other publications may customarily include student 
photographs.  Parents or eligible students objecting to the use of specific directory information must notify the school 
principal of such objection in writing within the first month of the student’s enrollment.  
  
Personally identifiable information may be disclosed, transferred, or released without prior consent of the parent or 
eligible student in connection with enrollment in another school, in emergency situations, application for financial aid, 
research, a state statute, or an accrediting organization; a court of competent jurisdiction in compliance with an order of 
that court, or a lawfully issued subpoena upon the condition that the pupil or student and his parent are notified of the 
order or subpoena in advance of compliance therewith by the educational institution.  
  
In preparation of cases for prosecution under the Compulsory School Attendance and Child Welfare Law (F.S. 1003.21), 
the school system is authorized to release pertinent data in interpretative form to the State Attorney’s Office, to the 
Department of Juvenile Justice, and the appropriate court without parent consent.  
  

CHILD ABUSE REPORTING  
  
All employees and agents of the District School Board are authorized and mandated by Florida Statute 1006.061 to 
report all actual or suspected cases of child abuse, abandonment, or neglect to the Department of Children and Families, 
Central Abuse Hotline (1-800-962-2873), and to provide them with the necessary information to pursue such 
complaints.  Employees have immunity from liability if they report such cases in good faith.  
Student Surveys  
No Child Left Behind (NCLB) requires Local Education Agencies (LEA’s) to notify parents and/or obtain parental 
consent prior to the administration of a student survey that is:  

Page 358 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 59   

 part of an “applicable program” (funded in whole or in part by any program administered by the United States 
Department of Education (USDOE) require LEAs to obtain prior written consent of the parent.  

 surveys that are created by a third party (funded by sources other than USDOE programs) required LEAs to adopt 
specific policies. (These surveys do not require prior written parental consent but instead require districts to offer 
parents the opportunity to opt the student out of participation.)  

LEAs are required to make the survey instrument available for inspection by parents regardless of funding source. 
By request of the State of Florida, school districts administer the Florida Youth Survey (FYS) which is funded from 
sources other than the USDOE.  The district is required to offer parents the opportunity to opt their child out of the 
survey.  
  
  

NOTICE OF CHILD FIND ACTIVITIES  
  
The School District of Clay County will actively seek to locate exceptional students and maintain information on those 
students screened and identified as exceptional.  The term “exceptional student” includes the mentally handicapped, the 
speech and language impaired, the deaf and hard-of-hearing, the blind and partially sighted, the physically impaired, the 
other health impaired, the emotionally handicapped, the gifted, the homebound or hospitalized and those with specific 
learning disabilities.  
  
Information gathered may include the student’s social, emotional, physical, psychological, academic and communication 
behaviors and abilities.  Information is collected through screening programs, check lists, teacher observations, 
standardized tests, and from such individuals as parents, teachers, psychologists, and other professional personnel, and 
the child himself.  The information is used to assist in the development of appropriate educational programs for 
exceptional students and for reports to state and federal agencies.  
  
Students are screened periodically for vision, hearing, speech, and academic achievement as the initial step in the 
process of identifying those students with suspected exceptionalities.  If your child is considered for further testing, you 
will be invited to participate in the decision-making process in a Child Study Team meeting at your child’s school.  
Before you are asked to give your permission, you will be informed of the purpose of the evaluation and the procedural 
safeguards made available to you.  
  
Should you have any questions, please contact your child’s principal or school counselor.  
  

ESE Parent Notification   
Notice of Procedural Safeguards for Parents of Student with Disabilities  
As a parent you can access the electronic Procedural Safeguards on the district website at:   
www.oneclay.net/wpcontents/uploads/2014/05/procedural-safeguards7.PDF . This provides information about 
Exceptional Student Educational programs regarding:  notice, meetings, independent evaluations, records, mediation, 
hearings, administrative law judges, due process hearing rights, appeals of due process, placement during due process 
hearings and appeals, attorney’s fees, discipline including long term removals and interim alternative educational 
settings (IAES), consent and revocation, private school placements, local education agency complaints (LEA) and state 
education agency complaints (SEA).  
  

Page 359 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 60   

Parental Notification of McKay Scholarship  
Effective July 1, 2006, Florida Statute, Section 1002.39(5)(a)1, states that by April 1 of each year or within 10 days after 
an individual educational plan meeting out district must notify you of all available options.  This includes informing you 
of the availability of the DOE toll free information hotline (1-800-447-1636) and internet website,  
www.floridaschoolchoice.org and offering the parents an opportunity to enroll the student in another public school 
within the district during the required time limit if the school is not closed or otherwise at capacity.  This notice is one of 
several ways the district meets the Florida Statute requirements.  
  

Notice of Request for Individuals with Disabilities Education Act Input  
The Clay County Exceptional Student Education Department receives federal funding through the Individuals with 
Disabilities Education Act (IDEA). We solicit input from Parents, Administrators, Specialists, Teachers, Assistants, and 
ESE secretaries in developing our federal IDEA grants. Currently it is spent almost entirely for personnel.  This includes 
over 150 assistants, 30 teachers, nurses, mental health counselors, secretaries, private school services, particularly 
speech therapy, and specialists.  We also provide training for teachers and parents through the IDEA grants.  Our current 
district goals include augmenting the autistic (ASD) program and training, and expanding PreK, InD and E/BD 
programs to more sites closer to home.  Another goal is to increase specialized programs in the Oakleaf and Keystone 
areas and offering new VI/HI classes at additional grade levels.  
  
For questions or additional information please contact the ESE Department at (904) 336-6866.  
  

USE OF STUDENT WORK, VIDEO, AND PHOTOGRAPHS  
  
From time to time, students have the opportunity to be recorded, photographed, or display artwork. Some of these 
recordings, photographs, schoolwork or artwork may be archived,  included in the local news, on the school’s CCTV or 
web page, and may eventually air on the School District of Clay County educational channel or be used at local, state or 
national conferences.  
  
If you have an objection to your student’s work or name being used for any of the above purposes, or if you object to 
photographs or recordings of your student being used, you must notify the school of your objection, in writing, within 48 
hours of your receipt of this information.  
  
For your information, if your student is an exceptional education student, your explicit, written permission will be 
obtained prior to any media release which identifies your student by name, along with his exceptionality or exceptional 
placement designation.   
  

RIGHTS OF DIVORCED PARENTS  
Under current divorce laws, “shared parental responsibility” awards both parents full rights to the child, although 
“primary physical residence” is awarded to one parent.  Neither parent has priority over the other with regard to the 
child’s education, both parents have full and complete rights to pick up the child, to inquire about school work, and 
participate in school activities.   The parent(s) should provide the school with a copy of the final court judgment to 
determine new shared responsibility.  Additional court documents, such as injunctions or modifications to the final 
judgments, should be provided to the school immediately as these may put new limits on access rights of a parent.  In 
the event the parent who is not named as the primary residential custodian resides any place other than in Duval, Clay, 
St. Johns, Putnam, Alachua, Nassau, or Bradford counties in Florida, then that parent may not pick up or check out the 

Page 360 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 61   

child unless the parent who is the primary residential custodian informs the school in writing that such actions are 
acceptable.  
  
Custody papers issued by a court outside the state of Florida will not be accepted at face value. Out-of-state documents 
must be domesticated through the Florida Courts.   
  

PARENTAL CONCERNS REGARDING EMPLOYEES   
The Clay County School Board recommends that parents who have a complaint about an employee begin by registering 
their concern directly with the employee in question, if possible. The vast majority of parental concerns are solved at this 
level. If not, parents are urged to contact the principal, district office staff, the Deputy Superintendent or the 
Superintendent to express their concerns.  
  
Parents are often asked to put their concerns in writing. While this is not a requirement, it is often important, depending 
on the seriousness of the charge and the ultimate action proposed as the result of investigation.  
It is not the school system’s intent to discourage parental concerns by establishing complex procedures for registering 
them. It is our intent, however, to make certain that parents are heard, that their concerns are investigated, if appropriate, 
and that our employees’ due process rights are protected.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Page 361 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 62   

APPENDIX A:  

GLOSSARY: ACRONYMS & DEFINITIONS OF 
TERMS  

Commonly used acronyms and definitions of educational terms frequently used in Clay County District Schools  
 504 Plan  

Access Points  

Achieve 3000  

ACT  

ADD/ADHD  
AP  
ASD  

AYP  

CCEA  
CESPA  

CTE  
CVA  

ELA  

ELL  
EOC  
ESE  

ESL  

ESY  
FERPA  

FHSAA  
FLDOE 

Focus  

FSA  

GPA  

Disability Accommodation Plan 
under Section 504 Rehabilitation  
Act of 1973  
Expectations written for students with 
significant cognitive disabilities to 

access the general education curriculum 
Reading and writing intervention 
program using non-fiction text to 

differentiate instruction  
American College Test; college entrance 
exam  

Attention Deficit/Hyperactive Disorder  

Advanced Placement  
Autism Spectrum Disorder Adequate 

Yearly Progress  
Clay County Education Association  
Clay Educational Staff Professional 

Association  

Career and Technical Education  
Clay Virtual Academy  

English Language Arts  

English Language Learners  
End of Course Exam  

Exceptional Student Education  

English as Second Language  

Extended School Year  
Family Educational Rights and Privacy 

Act  

Florida High School Athletic Association  
Florida Department of Education  
The school district’s Student Information 

System  

Florida Standards Assessment  

Grade Point Average  

Guardian  

IDEA  

IEP IQ 
i-
Ready  

LLI  
PSAT  

RAIT  
SAC  

SAT  

SEDNET  

SEL  

SESIR  

SIPPS  

SIS  

SRO  

STEAM  

STEM  

School employee qualified and trained to 

carry a gun on a school campus  
Individuals with Disabilities Educational 
Act  

Individualized Education Plan  

Intelligence Quotient  
An interactive online learning 
environment for reading and math 

Leveled Literacy Intervention 
Preliminary SAT; practice college 

entrance exam  

Risk Assessment & Intervention Team  
School Advisory Council  

Scholastic Assessment Test; college 

entrance exam  
The Multi-agency Network for Students 

with Emotional/Behavioral Disabilities 

creates and facilitates a network of key 

stakeholders committed to assisting in 

the provision of a quality system of care 
for students with or at-risk of emotional 

or behavioral challenges  

Social-Emotional Learning  
School Environmental Safety Incident 
Reporting; FLDOE student behavior 

coding system  

Systemic Instruction in Phonological  
Awareness, Phonics, and Sight Words  
Student Information System  

School Resource Officer  
Science, Technology, Engineering, Arts, 
and Mathematics  

Science, Technology, Engineering, and  

Mathematics  

Page 362 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 63   

  

  

 YMHFA  Youth Mental Health First Aid  

     

APPENDIX B: BEHAVIOR INFRACTION CODES  
  

Level 0  
Level 0 codes are reserved for documentation purposes only for state reporting purposes and student behavior records.  
Any actions/intervention can be administered and recorded in the student information system at the principal’s 
discretion.  Suspension of any kind should not be used with these codes.  
  
(BIT): Behavior Incident Tracking - To be used for documentation of problematic student behaviors. Consequences can 
be issued using this code.  
  
(MUL): Multiple Level 2 Infractions - If a student commits 7 or more Level 2 infractions they may receive a “multiple 
level 2” infraction. This code can be used to initiate a Hearing Office Referral.   
 
(RCE) – Room Clearing Event – When a student is in a state that creates an unsafe learning environment and the other 
students in the room are forced to leave the learning environment.    
 
(SAO): Felony Charges –previously defined as State Attorney Charges.  
 
(VBC): Violation of Behavior Contract – If a student violates the school or district behavior contract.  
 
(UBL): Unsubstantiated Bullying – After a complete investigation and follow up of a reported bullying incident, the 
investigator determines that there is not enough evidence to substantiate that the incident meets the criteria of a 
prohibited act under definition of bullying as listed in the Jeffrey Johnston Stand Up for all Students Act (Florida Statute 
1006.147).  
  
(UHR): Unsubstantiated Harassment – After a complete investigation and follow up of a reported harassment incident, 
the investigator determines that there is not enough evidence to substantiate that the incident meets the criteria of a 
prohibited act under definition of harassment as listed in the Jeffrey Johnston Stand Up for all Students Act (Florida 
Statute 1006.147).  
  

Level 1  
Level 1 infractions is relatively minor misbehavior or general classroom disruption that interferes with the orderly 
educational process in the classroom or other areas.  
  
(DRS): Dress Code Violation - To dress in a manner that would constitute a disruption in the school, create a safety 
hazard or exhibit impropriety. Non-conformity to the general code of appearance as outlined in Board Policy.  
  
(PRO): Profanity Obscene Language or Gesture – Abusive, profane, obscene or vulgar language (verbal, written, or 
gestures) or conduct in the presence of another person.  
  

Page 363 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 64   

(FLS): Providing False Information Lying/Forgery - Giving false or misleading information, either oral or written, 
which may injure another person’s character or reputation or disrupt the orderly process of the school. Intentionally 
providing false or misleading information to, or withholding valid information from, a school staff member. This 
includes Forgery - to fashion or reproduce for fraudulent purposes, such as signing parents’ name to a note.  
  
(RTC): Response to a Confrontation/Student - Used when the investigation identifies a clear offender and the person 
responding was defending themselves either verbally or physically.  
  
(SKP): Skipping Class – If the student does not report to their assigned class but has been marked present throughout the 
school day or if the student reports 15 minutes or later to their assigned class.  
  
(TAR): Tardiness - Late to class or school; if the student arrives 15 minutes after the beginning of class w/o permission 
then the student is considered SKP/skipping class.  
  
(VCR): Violation of Classroom Rules - Violation of specific posted or written class rules that are not necessarily a 
disruptive behavior.  Breaking behavioral contract, thereby progressing to the next disciplinary level as specified in the 
school student handbook.  

  Cheating - Academic cheating is defined as representing someone else's work as your own. If the student 
cheated on their own with no other student or participant then the cheating will be a Violation of Classroom 
Rules. In the event the student was cheating with multiple participants or on a state assessment, the student 
will receive IAC: Inappropriate Conduct.  

 Example: having answers prior to an exam.  
  

Level 2  
Level 2 infractions are acts of misbehavior whose frequency and seriousness tends to disrupt the learning climate of the 
school. These infractions usually result from a continuation of Level 1 misbehavior and requires administrative 
personnel intervention. This misconduct must be reported to the appropriate school administrator for disciplinary action. 
The administrator will follow the procedure designated for minor violations (Level 1) when investigating the situation 
and deciding on disciplinary action.  
  
(ABS): Abuse of School Property vandalism under $1,000 - To use wrongly or improperly, or to maltreat any school 
equipment or property, including, but not limited to, the inappropriate use of a computer by breaking into restricted 
accounts or networks, modifying or destroying files without permission, illegally copying software and entering, 
distributing or printing unauthorized files.  
  
(DEF): Defiance/Disrespect Insubordination - Refusal or failure to obey, marked by resistance to authority.  The flagrant 
or hostile challenge of the authority of a school staff member, bus driver, or any other adult in authority. Examples see 
below:  

 Leaving Class Without Permission– Student did not have permission granted by the teacher or other school 
entity to leave the classroom environment; unauthorized leaving of assigned class.  

  
(DSP): Low Level Confrontation - Student who deliberately pushes, pulls, shoves, strikes, taunts, antagonizes, or mutual 
physical altercation with another student or students or by acts or words that does not result in any injuries.  
  

Page 364 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 65   

(IAC): Inappropriate Conduct - Violation of specific posted or written school rules that are not necessarily a disruptive 
behavior.  Breaking behavioral contract, thereby progressing to the next disciplinary level as specified in the school 
student handbook.  

 Cheating - Academic cheating is defined as representing someone else's work as your own. If the student 
cheated on their own with no other student or participant, the cheating will be a Violation of Classroom 
Rules. In the event the student was cheating with multiple participants or on a state assessments, the student 
will receive IAC: Inappropriate Conduct. Several examples of IAC include sharing work with someone else, 
purchasing an academic paper or test questions in advance, paying another student to do the work, and 
plagiarism.  

o Gambling - One who participants in games of chance or skill for money or profit.  
  
(LVS): Leaving School Without Permission– Unauthorized leaving of school grounds.  
  
(POS): Possession of an Inappropriate Object - Possession and/or use of items or contraband designated by the school as 
inappropriate materials such as portable paging devices, beepers, cellular telephones, portable cassette or CD players, 
electronic games, rollerblades, skateboards, lighters, hats, etc. and any other items that cause distraction and/or damage 
to persons or property or otherwise interferes with learning. An example is the possession of a pocket knife which may 
be potentially dangerous or harmful to others. These items will be confiscated.  
  
(SPE): Student uses Profanity directed at a School Board Employee - A student who intentionally engages in a verbal 
confrontation involving a school board employee with profanity/obscene gestures. If the verbal confrontation involves a 
threat, the behavior will be coded as TRE: Threat.  
  
(STP): Stealing/Petty Theft <$300 - taking of property while on school grounds or from a vehicle on school property 
worth under $300   
  

Level 3  
Level 3 infractions are major acts of misconduct. They include serious disruptions of school order and threats to the 
health, safety and property of others. The misconduct must be reported promptly to a school administrator, who may 
remove the student from the school or activity immediately.  
  
(IDT): Identity Theft - When a student represents themselves as another individual (including but not limited to students 
and district employees) with the intent of creating confusion or disruption to another’s well-being. The fraudulent 
acquisition and use of a person's private identifying information.  
  
(OMC): Other Major - Any serious, harmful incident resulting in the need for law enforcement intervention not 
previously classified. Students selling items on school grounds that have not been authorized by the school or for school 
sanctioned events.  
Examples:  

 Student produces or knowingly uses counterfeit money.  
 Student participates in gambling activities i.e., throwing quarters for money.  
 Student possesses pornographic materials depicting others under the age of 18.  
 Student possessing drug paraphernalia, vaping oils, device used to vape. 
 Student is selling goods, services or food that has not been authorized by the school for a sanctioned event 

Non-Examples  
 Student arrested for violating probation.  

Page 365 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 66   

 Student or other arrested for committing crimes off-campus.  
  
(SCE): Student Physical Confrontation/ School Board Employee - A student who intentionally engages in a physical 
confrontation involving a school board employee.  
  
(TEC): Inappropriate use of Technology/Wireless Communication Devices - When the possession of a wireless 
communication device disrupts the educational process. This includes the unauthorized use of a wireless communication 
device to capture images or recordings without permission during school hours, attaching power cords to school devices, 
and/or the unauthorized use on school buses in the absence of an emergency concerning safety-to-life issues (defined as 
a bus accident, mechanical breakdown which delays the normal route, and/or thirty (30) minutes or more in a route 
delay).  
  
(BRK): Breaking and Entering - The unlawful entry with force, or unauthorized presence in a building or other structure, 
or conveyance with evidence, or the intent to damage or remove property or harm a person(s).  
  
(BUL): Bullying/Cyberbullying - Bullying is unwanted, aggressive behavior among school aged children that involves a 
real or perceived power imbalance. The behavior is repeated, or has the potential to be repeated, over time. Both kids 
who are bullied and who bully others may have serious, lasting problems. Cyberbullying is bullying that takes place 
over digital devices like cell phones, computers, and tablets. Cyberbullying can occur through SMS, Text, and apps, or 
online in social media, forums, or gaming where people can view, participate in, or share content. Cyberbullying 
includes sending, posting, or sharing negative, harmful, false, or mean content about someone else. It can include 
sharing personal or private information about someone else causing embarrassment or humiliation. Some cyberbullying 
crosses the line into unlawful or criminal behavior. The most common places where cyberbullying occurs are:  

 Social Media, such as Facebook, Instagram, Snapchat, and Twitter  
 SMS (Short Message Service) also known as Text Message sent through devices  
 Instant Message (via devices, email provider services, apps, and social media messaging features)  
 Email  

  
(DOC): Disruption on Campus - Majorly Disorderly Conduct Disruptive behavior that poses a serious threat to the 
learning environment, health, safety or welfare of others.  
Examples:  

 Student or other making a bomb threat.  
 Student engaging in disruptive behavior that causes the bus driver to stop the bus to ensure the safety of the 

group.  
 Student or other causing an incident that results in closing the cafeteria.  
 Student or other inciting a riot.  
 Student or other pulling the fire alarm.  
 Student or other deliberately crashing the school computer system.  
 Student or other causing an incident that prevents others from proceeding to the next class or prevents egress. 

Non-Examples:  
 Disruption of a single classroom.  
 Student defying authority.  
 Student disobeying or showing disrespect to others.  
 Student or other using obscene or inappropriate language or gestures.  
 Student not sitting in seat and/or talking loudly while school bus is moving.  

Page 366 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 67   

  
(FIT): Fighting - When two or more persons mutually participate in use of force or physical violence that requires 
physical restraint or results in injury.  
Examples:  

 Student or other engaging in a fight/combat with another and physical restraint is necessary to stop it.  
 Student becoming engaged in a fight which results in the need for first aid or medical attention for one or both 

of the participants.  
Non-Examples:  

 Student verbally confronting another student/teacher.  
 Student or other engaging in pushing and shoving who is easily separated or stopped.  
 Student or other engaging in a fight which is resolved without injury or need for physical restraint.  

  
(HAR): Harassment - Any threatening, insulting, or dehumanizing gesture, use of data or computer software, or written, 
verbal, or physical conduct that:  

 places a student or school employee in reasonable fear of harm to his or her person or damage to his or her 
property  

 has the effect of substantially interfering with a student’s educational performance, opportunities, or benefits,  
or has the effect of substantially disrupting the orderly operation of a school including any course of conduct 
directed at a specific person that causes substantial emotional distress in such a person and serves no legitimate 
purpose.  

Example:  
 One student approaches another student and makes an insulting gesture. The targeted student runs off in tears 

and is visibly upset.   
 Non-Example:  
 Two students approach each other and one student makes an insulting gesture towards the other student. Both 

students are good friends no offense was taken by either student from the interaction.  
  
(HAZ): Hazing - Any action or situation that endangers the mental or physical health or safety of a student at a school 
with any of grades 6 through 12 for purposes of initiation or admission into or affiliation with any school-sanctioned 
organization.  “Hazing” includes but is not limited to: (1) pressuring, coercing, or forcing a student to participate in 
illegal or dangerous behavior, (2) any brutality of a physical nature, such as whipping, beading, branding, or exposure to 
the elements.  
Examples:  

 Pressuring, coercing or forcing a student into: 1) violating state or federal law; 2) consuming and food, liquid, 
drug, or other substance; or 3) participating in physical activity that could adversely affect the health or safety of 
the student.  

Non-Examples:  
 Requiring new team member to attend additional supervised practices.  

  
(PHA): Physical Attack - Refers to an actual and intentional striking of another person against his/her will, or the 
intentional causing of bodily harm to an individual.  
Example:  

 Throwing an object and hitting someone hard enough to cause injury.  
Non-Examples:  

Page 367 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 68   

 Student or other engaging in a fight/combat with another and physical restraint is necessary to stop it. o Student 
becoming engaged in a fight which results in the need for first aid or medical attention for one or both of the 
participants. (Refer to Fighting as a possible alternative code.)  

  
(SXO): Sexual Offenses - 1.Other sexual contact, including intercourse, without force or threat of force, subjecting an 
individual to lewd sexual gestures or comments or sexual activity, or 2 Exposing private body parts in a lewd manner.  
Examples:  

 Student or other participating in sexual activity in front of a student.  
 Two or more students engaging in sexual activity.  
 Student or other soliciting or encouraging a person to commit a sexual act.  

Non-Examples: 
 Students kissing consensually  
 A first grade student hugging another 
 Student inadvertently touching the breasts, buttocks or groin of another student. 

 
(TBC): Tobacco -The possession, use, distribution, or sale of tobacco products and vape/vaping related products on 
school grounds, at school-sponsored events, or on school transportation by any person under the age of 18.  
Examples: 

 Students using any device, or in possession of any part of a device, that allows for the inhalation of vapor.  
 Student sharing device with another student for the purpose of use or possession. 

Non-Examples: 
 Student in possession of any oils or products containing THC or CBD (refer to DRU) 
 Student in possession of aromatic essential oils 

(TRE): Threat/Intimidation - A threat to cause physical harm to another person with or without the use of a weapon that 
includes all of the following elements:  

 intent – that the threat is heard or seen by the person who is the object of the threat.  
fear – a reasonable fear or apprehension by the person who is the object of the threat that the threat could be 
carried out; and  

 capability – the ability of the offender to actually carry out the threat directly or by a weapon or other instrument 
that can easily be obtained. Examples:  

 Student or other willfully and repeatedly following another or stalking with intent to cause the person to fear for 
their safety.  

 Student or other who willfully and repeatedly uses email or text messages to cause another to fear for their 
safety or cause substantial emotional distress (cyber stalking).  

Non-Examples:  
 Student or other engaging in mutual combat with another.  
 Student or other actually using force or violence against another. (Refer to Battery or Fighting as possible 

alternative codes.)  
 Student waving to another student in the hallway, waiting after class to talk to him/her and calling to ask 

him/her out.  
  

Level 4  
Level 4 acts of misconduct are the most serious. All Level 4 infractions are grounds for expulsion, and will result in a 
mandatory 10-day suspension. These acts are clearly criminal and are serious enough to require administrative actions 

Page 368 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 69   

that result in immediate removal of the student from school, the intervention of law enforcement authorities, or action by 
the Superintendent and Clay County School Board.  
  
(ALC): Alcohol - Possession, sale, purchase, or use of alcoholic beverages.  Use should be reported only if the person is 
caught in the act of using or in the course of the investigation it is discovered that the person is impaired.  
  
(ARS): Arson - To damage or cause to be damaged, by fire or explosion, any dwelling, structure or conveyance, whether 
occupied or not, or its contents.  
  
(BAT): Battery - The physical use of force or violence by an individual against another.  
Examples:  

 Student hitting another with a heavy object over the head.  
 Student jabbing a pen into another’s arm.  
 Student or other engaging in a mutual physical altercation with another and continuing to hit/beat that person 

even after that person stops fighting, or is no longer able to fight back.  
Non-Examples:  

 Student or other delivering a single poke to the chest.  
 Student or other delivers a single, non-injuring strike to the arm of another.  
 Students or others actively engaging in a fight with each other.  
 Student or other striking back when hit by an aggressor and becoming engaged in a fight with the aggressor.  

  
(DRD) Drug Sale/Distribution Excluding Alcohol - The manufacture cultivation, sale or distribution of any drug, 
narcotic, controlled substance or substance represented to be a drug.  
Examples:  

 Student passing a marijuana cigarette around in the school bathroom.  
 Student giving prescription drugs prescribed for someone else to another.  
 Student selling cocaine to another.  
 Student or other misrepresenting substances as illegal drugs.  

Non-Examples:  
Student taking medication prescribed for themselves.  

 Student giving an aspirin or other over-the-counter medication to another in dosage prescribed.  
 Student smoking a marijuana cigarette alone.  (Refer to DRU: Drug Use/Possession)  
 Student found with a single marijuana cigarette in backpack.  (Refer to DRU: Drug Use/ Possession)  

  
(DRU) Drug Use Possession Excluding Alcohol - The use, or possession of any drug, narcotic, controlled substance or 
any substance when used for hallucinogenic purposes. Examples:  

 Student or other possessing or being under the influence of illegal drugs at school, at school-sponsored events, 
or on school transportation.  

 Student possessing or observed swallowing prescription drugs that are not prescribed for him/her.  
 Student found inhaling or ingesting intoxicants, glue, solvents, or aerosols for hallucinogenic purposes.  

Non-Examples:  
 Student possessing or using over-the-counter medications in dosage prescribed.  
 Student using inhalers for asthmatic condition.  
 Student possessing drug paraphernalia (refer to Other Major, OMC).  

  

Page 369 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 70   

(HOM): Homicide - The unjustified killing of one human being by another.  
  
(KID): Kidnapping - Forcibly, or by threat confining, abducting, or imprisoning another person against his/her will and 
without lawful authority.  
Examples:  

 Student or other holding another person for ransom or reward, as a shield, or as a hostage.  
 Non-custodial caregiver, with a restraining order, picking up a student.  

Non-Example:  
 Student running away with her boyfriend after being picked up from school by him.  

 
(RCE) – should a student create an unsafe environment and the student population of the classroom needs to be removed 
for their safety.  
  Examples:  

 Student is throwing objects and turning over chairs 
 Student is running around the classroom and refuses to stop while pushing into other students. 

Non-Example:  
 Student refuses to do work and yells when asked to begin. 
 Student throws an object not directed towards another student  

(ROB): Robbery/Extortion - The taking or attempted taking of anything of value that is owned by another person or 
organization, under the confrontational circumstances of force or threat of force or violence and/or by putting the victim 
in fear.  
Examples:  

 Student or other snatching a gold chain off someone’s neck  
 Student or other extorting lunch money  
 Student or other engaging in “Carjacking”  Non-Examples:  
 Student or other taking money from an unattended purse.  (Refer to STL: Larceny/Theft as a possible alternative 

code.)  
  
(STL): Larceny/Theft > $300, including motor vehicle theft - The unauthorized taking, carrying, riding away or 
concealing the property of another person, including motor vehicles, without threat, violence or bodily harm.  
Examples:  

 Student or other embezzling public funds.  
 Student or other stealing an item worth $300 or more.  
 Student finding a checkbook, signing owner’s name and making a purchase.  
 Student or other stealing a car or motorcycle.  

Non-Examples:  
 Student or other borrowing an item without permission.  
 Student or other committing robbery (code as Robbery instead)  

Student or other stealing an item less than $300.  
 Student steals a credit card but no charges are made to the card.  

  
(SXA) Sexual Assault - An incident that includes a threat of rape, fondling, indecent liberties, child molestation, or 
sodomy.  The threat must include all of the following elements:  1) intent; 2) fear; and 3) capability.  
Example:  

 Student or other threatening to rape another.  

Page 370 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 71   

Non-Example:  
 Kindergarten student threatening another with a sexual act.   

  
(SXB) Sexual Battery - Forced or attempted oral, anal or vaginal penetration by using a sexual organ or an 
object simulating a sexual organ, or the anal or vaginal penetration of another by any body part or object. 
Examples:  

 Student or other raping someone.  
 Student or other attempting to rape someone. Non-Examples:  
 Students engaging in consensual sex acts.  (Consensual sex is not Sexual Battery.  Refer to SXO: Sexual 

Offenses (Other) as a possible alternative code.)  
  
(SXH): Sexual Harassment - Unwanted verbal or physical behavior with sexual connotations by an adult or student that 
is severe or pervasive enough to create an intimidating, hostile or offensive educational environment, cause discomfort 
or humiliation or unreasonably interfere with the individual’s school performance or participation. {6A-19.008(1)SBE 
Rule}  An incident when one person demands a sexual favor from another under the threat of physical harm or adverse 
consequence.  
Examples:  

 Student or other causing unwanted and ongoing episodes of leering, pinching, grabbing.  
 Student or other making repeated suggestive comments or jokes or actions of a sexual nature.  
 Student or other pressuring one to engage in sexual activity.  
 Teacher threatening to lower a student’s grade if sexual favors are not given.  
 Student or other repeatedly showing a photograph, poster or other images of nudity, lewd or sexual activity.  
 Student or other pressuring another student for sexual favors by threatening to prevent him/her from 

participating in a school activity.  
Non-Examples:  

 Student engaging in consensual sex.  (Refer to Sexual Offenses (other) code as a possible SESIR code.  
 Student unintentionally brushing up against another in the hallway.  
 A single incident of a kiss that may be unwanted.   

  
(TRS): Trespassing - To enter or remain on a school grounds/campus, school transportation, or at a school-sponsored 
function/off campus without authorization or invitation and with no lawful purpose for entry.  
Examples:  

 Any unauthorized person entering the campus.  
 Any unauthorized person remaining on property after being directed to leave by the chief administrator or 

designee. Non-Examples  
 Parent entering the building to pick up his/her child without first getting clearance through the office.  
 Person searching for a phone at a school facility after his/her car has broken down.  

(VAN): Vandalism > $1,000 - The intentional destruction, damage, or defacement of public or private property without 
consent of the owner or the person having custody or control of it.  
Examples:  

 Student or other defacing school with graffiti.  
 Student or other keying or scratching a car in a campus parking lot.  
 Student or other trashing a classroom resulting in damages of $1,000 or more.  
 Student(s) damaging a hotel room ($1,000 or more) on a school-sponsored trip.  

Non-Examples:  

Page 371 of 372

DRAFT



 
 

August 2019    Page | 72   

 Student or other accidentally damaging chemistry lab equipment.  
 Student or other causing damages under $1,000.  

  
(WPO): Weapons Possession - Possession of any instrument or object (as defined by Section 790.001 (13), Florida 
Statutes, or district code of student conduct) that can inflict serious harm on another person or that can place a person in 
reasonable fear of serious harm.  
Examples:  

 Student or other possessing a firearm or knife.  
 Student or other using a knife, pocket knife, or other sharp or pointed implement to threaten or harm another.  

Non-Examples:  
 Student, after investigation, found to possess a common pocket knife, or eating utensil with no intent to harm.  
 Student possessing items not covered under law or district policy such as pointed instruments, pens, or pencils. 
 Student possessing a cutting tool that is being used in art shop or other class.    

  
  

A reminder from the Office of Climate and Culture:  
If you See Something, Say Something.  Together we make a difference!  

We are in this together and together we make a difference! 

Page 372 of 372

DRAFT


